# Evaluating the effects of systemic mTOR inhibition on fear memory processes in rodents with relevance to ameliorating PTSD-like symptoms

© Phillip MacCallum

A Thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

**Department of Psychology** 

Memorial University of Newfoundland

### May 2025

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador

#### Abstract

In this dissertation, I use physical and psychogenic contextual fear conditioning procedures to study the role of the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) in memory processes and investigate its potential as a target for treating post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)-like symptoms in rodents. I determined that inhibiting both mTOR complex 1 and 2 with AZD2014 impairs the consolidation of a foot-shock induced contextual fear memory in mice similar to the mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin, while inhibition of the mTORC1 downstream effector S6K1 with PF-4708671 does not. Using the same conditioning procedure, I found that rapamycin treatment three-hours, but not 12-hours, post-conditioning impairs the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory in mice. In support of earlier published work showing rapamycin impairs the consolidation of long-lasting contextual fear, hyperarousal, and anxiety-like behaviour in rats following a brief unprotected exposure to a cat, I show here, using immunohistochemistry, increased mTORC1 activation in the hippocampus and periaqueductal grey of rats shortly after this type of exposure. I also investigated the effects of psychogenic-only predator stress at inducing long-lasting behavioural changes via a model of mouse defensive behaviour previously unexplored for this purpose. Following a fully protected exposure to a rat, mice exhibited associative contextual fear and other non-associative fear and anxiety-like behaviours, with many of these behaviours weakened from post-exposure rapamycin treatment. In a different set of experiments using foot-shock conditioning, I reveal that rapamycin injected three- or 12-hours post-reactivation impairs the persistence of contextual fear memory, while the same treatment appears to induce a gradient effect against reconsolidation of the memory. Additionally, I demonstrate that two consecutive days of reactivation and rapamycin treatment maximizes abatement to recall foot-shock associated contextual memory through impaired

ii

reconsolidation in mice. Lastly, I show that the effects of rapamycin to consolidation and reconsolidation on contextual fear memory in mice does not interfere with the ability to subsequently learn and recall new auditory fear associations but protects against fear generalization. Collectively, these findings advance our neurobiological understanding of mTOR in memory processes and provide preclinical evidence on how to pharmacologically treat PTSDlike symptoms.

#### **General Summary**

The goals of my PhD are to better our understanding of the neurobiology of memory and to help combat PTSD symptoms. My research focused on a molecule called mTOR and a drug named rapamycin, which blocks its activity. To model the abnormal and maladaptive fear memories found in PTSD, I used rodent contextual fear conditioning procedures, which although not maladaptive, taps into the same underlying memory processes precipitated by a fearful event. Following fear learning or fear memory reactivation, rodents received a placebo or rapamycin treatment. The placebo did not affect fear memory towards the training context. Yet, rapamycin decreased the strength of this contextual fear memory. By adding an extra day of memory reactivation and rapamycin, I was able to maximize the effects of the drug, whereas a third day of pairing reactivation and rapamycin did not have any additive value. When I delayed drug treatment hours after training or reactivation, rapamycin still hindered memory, but these effects appeared to show a diminishing return as treatment moved away training or memory retrieval. The effects of rapamycin on the memory it interfered with, importantly, did not encroach on the ability to learn and remember new information and allowed the rodents to be less frightened when entering new contexts and situations. Overall, my research adds to our biological understanding of memory processes and provides insights on how to potentially treat some PTSD symptoms.

iv

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to thank the following, for which this dissertation would not have been possible.

Foremost, I want to express my utmost gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Jacqueline Blundell. Throughout my academic journey you have shown me infinite patience and unparalleled support, providing countless opportunities to learn, grow, and become a better and more independent researcher – it has been an honour to be supervised by you.

Dr. Charles Malsbury, thank you for your impeccable feedback, insights, and mentorship as an examiner on my comprehensive and as one of my teaching assistant supervisors. I also want to express my gratitude to Dr. Gerard Martin for his thoughtful advice and guidance as a committee member for both my comprehensive exam and thesis. Rounding out my committees and another former teaching assistant supervisor of mine is Dr. Susan Walling. Sue, I have greatly appreciated your continuous instruction, expertise, especially with my histology and densitometry work on deer mice brains, and for always making time to chat and give me advice.

A huge thank you to all the dedicated and enthusiastic people, past and present, in the Blundell Lab, all the PIs and students in the other Behavioural Neuroscience labs, Steve Milway, and the other Behavioural Neuroscience lab instructors. Without their efforts, respect, coordination, and collegiality, my experiments would not have run so smoothly. I would be remiss if I did not also acknowledge the Psychology Head, Dr. Christina Thrope, the Department of Psychology Office staff, and the Psychology Graduate Officers, for all their hard work in getting people like me to finish and submit their theses – thank you for keeping the pressure on me to complete this.

Financial and in-kind support towards my dissertation research (e.g., purchase of materials, animals, and equipment; access to research software, computing resources, and technical services; care and veterinary services for my research animals; and covering article processing charges) were generously made by Memorial University and the Natural Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada. Routledge, Springer Nature, and Elsevier published my dissertation work and agreed to their republication herein, for which I greatly appreciate.

My friends, coworkers, and extended family have all been instrumental in keeping my morale high throughout this process. From kitchen parties, beer festivals, trekking along the East Coast Trail, potluck brunches and dinners, trivia nights at The Ship, concerts, late night poker games, trips to Miquelon and Fogo Islands to run in races, playing intramural sports with the BGSA, to having afternoon 'tea', I am truly grateful for these incredible moments and distractions outside of my thesis work. Throughout the course of my program, I have also had the privilege of having a menagerie of foster and rescue cats and dogs, backyard chickens, and even a hermit crab come into my home life. Taking care of these creatures and having their companionship has been incredibly rewarding and important to my physical and mental wellbeing, especially with completing this thesis. To my friends and family that have passed on during this time, I wish you were able to celebrate this achievement with me; I love and miss you.

Not to be forgotten are my parents, Jean and Roger, and my sister, Lisa, who have been with me through it all. Thank you for your unconditional love, encouragement, support, and belief in me as I have pursued my academic dreams. Lastly, to my incredible partner, Emilie, I want to let

you know how proud I am of what you have accomplished in your studies, your unwavering support of my work, and for the life we have built together in Newfoundland – I couldn't imagine being on this journey with anyone else.

#### **Co-authorship Statement**

The contents of Chapters 2, 3, and 4 of this *manuscript-style dissertation* are from three different coauthored publications of original research. Each chapter corresponds to a separate publication, respectively. I, **Phillip MacCallum**, the sole author of this dissertation, am the first and primary author for each coauthored publication presented herein.

The publications are reproduced verbatim in each chapter except for alternations where warranted. Minor revisions include typographical error corrections, insertion of omitted words, and adaption of headings and figures to correspond to each chapter. Significant updates to figures and figure captions were required for Chapter 3. The original publication of this work contains multiple figure caption errors and several incorrect figures but with correct figure captions for which I have revised or replaced accordingly for this dissertation. For Chapter 4, I changed the original in-text citations used in publication to align with all other chapters of the dissertation (from a numeric style, where citations are numbered in square brackets in the order of appearance (i.e., Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers style), to the author, date in parentheses American Psychological Association (APA) Publication Manual style used in the other two publications and throughout this dissertation). Lastly, I have omitted the individual reference sections from each publication in favor of using a single unified Reference Chapter (in APA style).

Contributor Roles Taxonomy (CRediT) is a high-level classification system, which includes 14 roles to describe accurately and transparently individual contributions to multi-authored works. Many publishers (e.g., Elsevier, Wiley, and Sage) are adopting CRediT and requiring author contribution statements using CRediT, for which my coauthors and I did for the work presented in Chapter 4. As such, the CRediT author statement for the publication corresponding to Chapter 4 is included below. Since there are no author contribution statements for the other two publications used in this dissertation, I have created them here using CRediT to provide a consistent, accurate, and transparent description of contributions made by me and my coauthors. The below statements are to the best of my knowledge, accurate, and have been corroborated by my supervisor and the corresponding author of each of these works, Dr. Jacqueline Blundell.

Chapter 2 (publication type: peer-reviewed article; publisher: Springer Nature):

MacCallum, P. E., & Blundell, J. (2020). The mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin and the mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 impair the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory. *Psychopharmacology*, 237(9), 2795–2808. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-020-05573-1

CRediT authorship contribution statement: Phillip MacCallum: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Visualization, Resources, Writing - original draft, Writing – review & editing, Project administration; Jaqueline Blundell: Conceptualization, Methodology, Visualization, Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources.

**Chapter 3** (publication type: edited book chapter; publisher: Routledge, an imprint of Taylor & Francis Group):

MacCallum, P., Whiteman, J., Kenny, T., Fallon, K., Bhattacharya, S., Drover, J., & Blundell, J. (2021). Developing a reliable animal model of PTSD in order to test potential pharmacological treatments: Predator stress and the mechanistic Target of Rapamycin. In R. Ricciardelli., S. Bornstein, A. Hall, & R. N. Carleton (eds), *Handbook of Posttraumatic Stress: Psychosocial, Cultural, and Biological Perspectives* (1st ed.) (pp. 369–399). New York: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351134637

CRediT authorship contribution statement: Phillip MacCallum: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Visualization, Supervision, Resources, Writing - original draft, Writing – review & editing, Project administration; Jesse Whiteman: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing - original draft; Katelyn Fallon: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing – review & editing; Therese Kenny: Investigation, Writing – review & editing; Sriya Bhattacharya: Investigation, Writing – review & editing; James Drover: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing; Jacqueline Blundell: Conceptualization, Methodology, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources.

Chapter 4 (publication type: peer-reviewed article; publisher: Elsevier):

MacCallum, P. E., Cooze, J. B., Ward, J, Moore, K.A.M., & Blundell, J. (2024). Evaluating the effects of single, multiple, and delayed systemic rapamycin injections to contextual fear reconsolidation: Implications for the neurobiology of memory and the treatment of

PTSD-like re-experiencing. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 461, 114855. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2024.114855

CRediT authorship contribution statement: Phillip MacCallum: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Visualization, Supervision, Resources, Writing - original draft, Writing – review & editing; Jane Cooze: Investigation, Formal analysis; Joshua Ward: Investigation, Formal analysis; Kelsey Moore: Investigation, Formal analysis; Jaqueline Blundell: Conceptualization, Methodology, Visualization, Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources.

Abstractii
General Summary iv
Acknowledgments v
Co-authorship Statement viii
Table of Contents xii
List of Figuresxvii
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 Background1
1.2 Dissertation Research Aims, Sub-objectives, and Questions
1.2.1 Chapter 2 sub-objectives and questions
1.2.2 Chapter 3 sub-objectives and questions
1.2.3 Chapter 4 sub-objectives and questions
1.3 Dissertation Structure and Description of Chapters
Chapter 2: The mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin and the mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014
impair the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory11
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction 12
2.3 Methods
2.3.1 Animals

## **Table of Contents**

2.3.2 Pharmacological treatments	19
2.3.3 Contextual fear conditioning and associative memory testing	21
2.3.4 Experiments	22
2.3.5 Statistics	24
2.4 Results	25
2.4.1 The consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory is susceptible to	
mTORC1 blockade immediately after learning	
2.4.2 Systemic RAPA 3 h after learning, but not 12 h, impairs contextual fear memo	ry
consolidation and persistence	
2.4.3 The dual mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 impairs contextual fear memory	
2.5 Discussion	
Chapter 3: Developing a reliable animal model of PTSD in order to test potential	
pharmacological treatments: Predator stress and the mechanistic Target of Rapamy	ycin 43
3.1 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)	43
3.2 The Dynamic Nature of Memory	44
3.3 Consolidation	46
3.4 From Molecule to Memory	47
3.5 mTOR and Rapamycin	50
3.6 Animal Models of PTSD: From Pavlov to Predation	51
3.7 Pavlovian Fear Conditioning	51

3.7.1 mTOR and Pavlovian Fear Conditioning
3.7.2 Limitations of Pavlovian Fear Conditioning as a PTSD Model
3.8 Predator Stress
3.8.1 Cat Exposure as a Paradigmatic Predator Stress Model
3.8.2 Predator Stress, Consolidation, and Protein Synthesis
3.8.3 Experimental Approaches to Predator Stress Models: Molecules, Drugs, and
Behaviour
3.8.3.1 Experiment 1: What is the Neuroanatomical Distribution of mTOR Activation
Underlying Predator Stress-Induced Fear Memories?
3.8.3.2 Experiment 2A: The Rat-Exposure Test and Fear Memory
3.8.3.3 Experiment 2B: Etho-Pharmacological Exploration of a Candidate PTSD
Therapeutic—Rat-Exposure Test and Rapamycin
3.9 Summary
3.10 Methods
3.10.1 Drug Administration7.
3.10.2 Behavioural Testing7.
3.10.2.1 Elevated Plus Maze7
3.10.2.2 Open Field
3.10.2.3 Light/Dark Box
3.10.2.4 Acoustic Startle Testing

Chapter 4: Evaluating the effects of single, multiple, and delayed systemic rapamycin
injections to contextual fear reconsolidation: Implications for the neurobiology of memory
and the treatment of PTSD-like re-experiencing76
4.1 Abstract
4.2 Introduction
4.3 Methods
4.3.1 Subjects
4.3.2 Predator Stimuli
4.3.3 Drug Preparation and Delivery
4.3.4 Behavioural Procedures
4.3.4.1 Electric Foot Shock Induced Contextual Fear Conditioning and Associative
Memory Testing
4.3.4.2 Electric Foot Shock Induced Auditory Fear Conditioning and Associative Memory
Testing
4.3.4.3 Psychogenic Predator Exposure and Associative Contextual Memory Testing 87
4.3.5 Experiments
4.3.6 Statistics
4.4 Results
4.4.1 Systemic rapamycin 3-h or 12-h post-retrieval impairs the reconsolidation and
persistence of contextual fear memory

4.4.2 Two consecutive days of post-retrieval rapamycin treatment maximizes memory	
impairment through disrupted reconsolidation	95
4.4.3 Post-reactivation and post-conditioning rapamycin treatment attenuates subsequent	
recall but does not impair the ability to learn a new Pavlovian association and protects	
against generalized fear1	00
4.5 Discussion	06
Chapter 5: Thesis Conclusions1	13
5.1 Overview of Findings	13
5.2 Consolidation, Reconsolidation, (and) Persistence, and Time-Dependent Effects of	
Rapamycin1	15
5.3 Effects of Rat-Induced Psychogenic Predator Stress in Mice1	18
5.4 Foot-Shock and Predator Exposure Stress Fear Models of PTSD 12	20
References1	28
Appendix1	86
Springer Agreement (Chapter 2)1	86
Taylor & Francis Group Agreement (Chapter 3)1	93
Elsevier Agreement (Chapter 4)1	95

# **List of Figures**

Figure 2.1 Systemic RAPA immediately after learning impairs the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory
Figure 2.2 Delayed RAPA treatment 3 h after learning enduring impairs contextual fear memory formation and persistence
Figure 2.3 The effects of the dual mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 on contextual fear memory formation and persistence
Figure 3.1 mTOR activation in control and stressed groups across subregions of the hippocampus in the left hemisphere
Figure 3.2 mTOR activation in control and stressed groups across subregions of the hippocampus in the right hemisphere
Figure 3.3 mTOR activation by subregion of the periaqueductal grey
Figure 3.4 Exposure freezing for control and stressed animals during the rat-exposure test 66
Figure 3.5 Re-exposure freezing for control and stressed animals following the rat-exposure test
Figure 3.6 Time spent on open arms of elevated plus maze for control and stressed animals following the rat-exposure test
Figure 3.7 Number of entries into light side of light–dark box for control and stressed animals following the rat-exposure test
Figure 3.8 Freezing for the four Experiment 2B groups during re-exposure to the rat-exposure test context
Figure 3.9 Ratio time (time in open arms/time in all arms) in the elevated plus maze for the four groups in Experiment 2B

Figure 4.1 RAPA administered three hours after reactivation attenuates the reconsolidation and persistence of shock-induced contextual fear memory
Figure 4.2 Systemic RAPA treatment 12 hours post-reactivation disrupts memory persistence . 94
Figure 4.3 Additional RAPA-paired reactivation sessions further diminishes the associative strength of a shock-induced contextual fear memory
Figure 4.4 Effects of multiple RAPA-paired reactivation sessions to contextual fear memory are due to impaired reconsolidation
Figure 4.5 RAPA-impaired reconsolidation does not affect the ability to subsequently learn and recall a new fear association but does confer protection against fear generalization to new contexts
Figure 4.6 Post-conditioning RAPA treatment does not interfere with the capacity to subsequently learn and recall a new fear association and protects against fear generalization to new contexts

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Background

In Pavlovian (respondent/classical) fear conditioning paradigms, animals, typically mice or rats, are trained to fear an initially neutral stimulus such as a tone or a particular context through association after pairing the neutral stimulus with a noxious, aversive stimulus, typically a footshock. When encountering the formerly neutral stimulus again, it now elicits a conditioned defensive response in anticipation of a perceived or real aversive threat. Learning in these procedures is passive, occurs quickly (usually in just one trial or session), and the memory is enduring. Furthermore, the stimuli used to condition and test fear memory are controlled by the experimenter, while the conditioned response produced by the conditioned stimuli, for example freezing, is a clearly defined species-specific and easily quantifiable behaviour, serving as an indicative measure of memory strength (Curzon et al., 2009; Rodrigues et al., 2004; Sanders et al., 2003). These characteristics make Pavlovian fear conditioning methods and techniques incredibly valuable and well suited for studying the neuroanatomical, synaptic, cellular, and molecular mechanisms underlying learning and memory. Moreover, since learned fear and maladaptive, aberrant, fear memories are at the core of a variety of stress, trauma, and anxiety disorders such as post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), Pavlovian fear conditioning procedures, albeit likely to induce adaptive memories and behaviours important for the survival of a model organism, also provides us with the opportunity to model the experience and symptoms of PTSD, while also investigating potential treatment advances in controlled laboratory settings (Beckers et al., 2023; Fanselow & Sterlace, 2014; Izquierdo et al., 2016).

The mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) is a serine/threonine kinase that forms the core of two distinct molecular units, mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) and 2 (mTORC2). Rapamycin (RAPA) and other RAPA-related drugs called rapalogues inhibit mTORC1 activity, whereas mTORC2 is largely insensitive to these drugs and lacks, at this time, any specific inhibitors (although, there are dual mTORC1/2 ATP competitive inhibitors available such as AZD2014 and nanomedicine in development to inhibit mTORC2) (Benavides-Serrato et al. 2017; Murray & Cameron 2017; Pike et al., 2013; Sabatini, 2017; Saxton & Sabatini 2017; Werfel et al., 2018). Consequently, very little is known about the role of mTORC2 in memory processes (except through genetic deletion studies; for examples, see Angliker & Ruegg 2013; Huang et al. 2013; Sun et al. 2019; Zhu et al. 2018), while fear conditioning experiments using RAPA have considerably increased our understanding of the protein translational regulator, mTORC1, in memory processes. Specifically, these studies have given further credence to the requirement of de novo protein synthesis in memory consolidation and reconsolidation, provided evidence for one of the specific molecular mechanisms underlying these processes, and posited RAPA as a potential treatment option for addressing PTSD symptoms (Blundell et al., 2008; Fifield et al., 2013; Gafford et al., 2011; Glover et al., 2010; Huynh et al., 2014; Jobim et al., 2012a; Lana et al. 2017; Mac Callum et al., 2014; Parsons et al., 2006b; Pedroso et al., 2013; Slipczuk et al. 2009).

Despite these findings, there are still gaps in fully characterizing the contribution of mTORC1 signaling to memory processes and further establishing the preclinical efficacy of RAPA and other rapalogues for treating PTSD-like symptoms. For instance, findings indicate other general and more specific molecular mechanisms are involved in late phase consolidation- and

reconsolidation-like events, which contribute to the persistence of memory; however, the contribution of mTORC1 to these protracted cellular events remains scant, especially for contextual fear memory (Bekinschtein et al. 2007a; Bekinschtein et al. 2010; Bourtchouladze et al., 1998; Freeman et al., 1995; Grechsch & Matthies 1980; Igaz, et al., 2002; Krawczyk et al., 2016; Mac Callum et al., 2014; Martinez-Moreno et al. 2011; Nakayama et al., 2013; Nakayama et al., 2016; Ou et al., 2009; Pena et al., 2014; Pereira et al., 2019; Quevedo et al. 1999; Rossato et al. 2007; Trifilieff, et al., 2006; Wanisch et al. 2008). Moreover, while preclinical findings of impaired reconsolidation to associative electric foot-shock memories from RAPA provide a compelling rationale for the drug as a PTSD treatment, these findings are only from single treatments. To offer more thorough preclinical strategies, it is important to investigate if additional treatments of combining RAPA and reactivation maximizes the decrease in the negative emotional valance of the fear memory or if the single treatment is sufficient. Another valuable aspect for RAPA for it to be considered an optimal treatment option is to determine if the effects to consolidation and reconsolidation create any permanent changes in the ability to learn and remember anew, as such treatments should be specific and not interfere with other processes (Gamache et al., 2012). Additionally, most of what we know about the contribution of mTORC1 to fear memory processes (and for many other mechanisms) draws from studies that used a physical stressor (i.e., electrical foot-shock) and to a lesser extent, a combination of physical and psychogenic stress (i.e., an unprotected predator exposure). It has yet to be determined whether the effects of RAPA to associative fear memories will hold true if the unconditioned stressor stimulus was wholly psychogenic, such as through a fully protected predator exposure. Conditioning rodents with an ecologically relevant psychogenic predator stimulus also provides the opportunity to explore the effects of RAPA on non-associative

memory changes that closely mimic other PTSD symptoms (e.g., hyperarousal). Interestingly, such non-associative fear memories often emerge in predator stress paradigms but are seldom tested for in foot-shock models or when they are, typically require high amperage during conditioning to achieve such behavioural changes in these non-associative memory domains (Bali & Jaggi, 2015; Flandreau & Toth, 2018; Török et al., 2019; Verbitsky et al., 2020).

#### 1.2 Dissertation Research Aims, Sub-objectives, and Questions

Motivated by these knowledge gaps, the primary aims of my dissertation research are to i) advance our biopsychological understanding of mTORC1 in memory processes, ii) glean insights into the possible underlying mechanisms of PTSD-like fear memories, and iii) test if pharmacological mTOR inhibition has translational relevance for treating PTSD-like symptoms. With Pavlovian fear learning (via physical and psychogenic stressors) and memory procedures at the fulcrum, my primary goals interweave around this methodology to shape the specific subobjectives and corresponding research questions for each research chapter delineated below.

#### 1.2.1 Chapter 2 sub-objectives and questions

**Sub-objective a:** Investigate whether the disruptive effects of pharmacological mTORC1 inhibition immediately after contextual fear conditioning to consolidation are long lasting and not likely due to circulating levels of drug or its metabolites interfering with the ability to retrieve the fear memory.

**Research question a:** Does rapamycin (RAPA, mTORC1 inhibitor) injected immediately after contextual fear conditioning (via electric foot-shock) significantly diminish context-dependent fear recall in mice one hour, two days, seven days, and 21 days post-conditioning?

**Sub-objective b:** Determine any deleterious latent time-dependent windows of susceptibility to pharmacological mTORC1 inhibition post-conditioning on contextual fear memory consolidation and persistence.

**Research question b:** Will a single injection of RAPA administered three- or 12-hours after contextual fear conditioning (via electric foot-shock) impair the consolidation and persistence of the associative context memory in mice?

**Sub-objective c:** Explore the effects of systemic S6K1 (downstream effector of mTORC1) and dual mTORC1/2 inhibition to contextual fear memory consolidation and persistence.

**Research question c:** Will systemically administering PF-470867, an inhibitor of S6K1, or concomitantly inhibiting both mTORC1/2 activity with AZD2014 immediately after contextual fear conditioning (via electric foot-shock) impair the consolidation and persistence of the associative context fear memory in mice similar to RAPA?

#### 1.2.2 Chapter 3 sub-objectives and questions

**Sub-objective d:** Characterize the immunohistochemical distribution of mTORC1 activation in specific brain areas of prey animals both shortly and long after an unprotected, non-lethal

predator-stress exposure using a paradigm that results in both associative and non-associative predator-stress memories.

**Research question d:** What is the pattern of phosphorylated-mTORC1 immunostaining in the rat periaqueductal grey and hippocampus one-hour and seven-days after rats experience a 10-minute unprotected inescapable cat (rat-cat dyad) exposure?

**Sub-objective e:** Pilot a modified mouse-rat dyadic non-lethal, non-physical, predator-prey exposure paradigm, the Rat Exposure Test, otherwise used to assay mouse defensive behaviours to instead study long-term conditioned associative and non-associative fear in mice.

**Research question e:** What are the conditioned associative and non-associative consequences to mouse behaviour after a five-minute protected exposure to a rat?

**Objective f:** To test, whether the learned behavioural outcomes in mice, if any, following a brief rat exposure are susceptible to changes due to mTORC1 inhibition.

**Research question f:** Does RAPA administered systemically to mice immediately following a five-minute rat exposure disrupt subsequent conditioned mouse behaviour?

#### 1.2.3 Chapter 4 sub-objectives and questions

**Sub-objective g:** Examine whether mTORC1 inhibition at various timepoints hours after contextual fear memory retrieval affect the reconsolidation and persistence of said memory.

**Research question g:** If rapamycin is administered to mice three- or 12-hours after context fear memory (conditioned via electric foot-shock) reactivation, what will the effect be to recall at two- and seven-days post-retrieval?

**Sub-objective h:** Assess for any additive effects from consecutive pairings of memory retrieval with mTOR inhibition immediately post-reactivation to disrupting subsequent recall, and if so, determine the behavioural process underlying it (i.e., enhanced extinction vs. impaired reconsolidation).

**Research question h:** When a contextual fear memory (conditioned via electric foot-shock) is reactivated and paired with a systemic injection of RAPA, and this process is repeated for two more consecutive days, for a total of three treatments, what will be the result to contextual fear recall in mice and what will occur if a subthreshold 'reminder' shock is administered prior to recall testing?

**Sub-objective i:** Investigate whether impaired consolidation and reconsolidation from mTOR inhibition interferes with the ability to later learn and recall new memories.

**Research question i:** How will the administration of RAPA immediately after context fear conditioning (either via electric foot-shock or rat predator-stress exposure) or context fear retrieval (via an electric foot-shock) influence the ability of mice to subsequently learn and recall a new fear association (via electric foot-shock auditory fear conditioning and recall procedures)?

#### **1.3 Dissertation Structure and Description of Chapters**

Together with this introductory chapter, this *manuscript-style* dissertation consists of three research chapters and a concluding chapter. Each research chapter is represented by a standalone publication of original research, of which I am the first and primary author of each piece, with the contributions made by me and my coauthors towards these publications described in the Co-authorship Statement for this dissertation. Chapters 2 and 4 are peer-reviewed journal articles and Chapter 3 comes from a chapter in an edited handbook on PTSD. Given that each of these publications can be read independent of one another but are conceptually related, it should be noted that there is unavoidably some methodological and background overlap between research chapters. The respective publishers of these works have permitted republication herein, with copies of the permission agreements found in the Appendix.

Although the sequence of research chapters follows the same chronological order of publication for these literary works, this is not the reason why I arranged the content in this order. Rather, to me the chapter order of these publications provides the most coherent flow and cohesive narrative for my dissertation's research and aims. One could also certainly make the case that despite containing original experimental research, Chapter 3 is from an edited volume with much more background exposition than the two peer-reviewed research articles that constitute Chapters 2 and 4, respectively, and as such would be better positioned in front of the peerreviewed pieces instead of in the middle. However, I argue Chapter 3 best anchors and bridges the other research chapters together, starting with the basic experimental work on consolidation in Chapter 2, then moving on to exploring consolidation and the nature of PTSD in Chapter 3, and finally investigating reconsolidation and the treatment of PTSD in Chapter 4. In Chapter 2, "The mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin and the mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 impair the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory", I demonstrate that a single injection of AZD2014 to mice immediately after electric foot-shock induced contextual fear conditioning weakens the associative strength for this context memory similar to RAPA treatment, whereas the S6K1 inhibitor PF-4708671 does not. Additionally, I show that RAPA systemically injected into mice immediately or three-hours, but not 12-hours after fear conditioning, enduringly diminishes the long-term strength of this contextual fear memory.

In Chapter 3, "Developing a Reliable Animal Model of PTSD in Order to Test Potential Pharmacological Treatments: Predator Stress and the Mechanistic Target of Rapamycin", I characterize the pattern of mTORC1-phosphorylation in the hippocampus and periaqueductal grey of rats one-hour and seven-days after they experienced a brief unprotected encounter with a cat; a behavioural paradigm which has previously been shown to induce RAPA-sensitive longlasting associative and non-associative fear memory-related behavioural changes (Fifield et al., 2013). Using a modified version of the Rat Exposure Test, I also show that mice in this psychogenic predator stress paradigm exhibit a PTSD-like sequalae of associative and nonassociative fear memory-related behaviours, of which I found a subset of these behaviours to be weakened when RAPA is delivered immediately after the five-minute non-injurious physicallyprotected predator encounter.

In Chapter 4, "Evaluating the effects of single, multiple, and delayed systemic rapamycin injections to contextual fear reconsolidation: Implications for the neurobiology of memory and the treatment of PTSD-like re-experiencing", I report that RAPA administered to mice three- or 12-hours post-retrieval of a context fear memory (learned via an electric foot-shock) impairs the persistence of the memory. Moreover, I reveal that two consecutive days of memory reactivation paired with RAPA is sufficient to maximize the attenuation of context fear-memory recall, with this effect displaying resistance to reinstatement from a subthreshold 'reminder' shock. Additionally, I show that post-learning (via rat exposure or foot-shock) and post-retrieval (via foot-shock) RAPA treatment to mice does not impinge on the ability to learn and recall a new electric foot-shock induced auditory-cued fear memory while also protecting against fear generalization.

Lastly, Chapter 5, "Thesis Conclusions", summarizes and discusses the significance of the results from the preceding research chapters through the lens of my overall dissertation objectives. In this final chapter, I also remark on the limitations of my findings, discuss methodological issues and potential solutions, and comment on future directions of basic rodent memory and preclinical PTSD research.

# Chapter 2: The mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin and the mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 impair the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory<sup>1</sup>

#### 2.1 Abstract

**Rationale** The mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) kinase mediates various long-lasting forms of synaptic and behavioural plasticity. However, there is little information concerning the temporal pattern of mTOR activation and susceptibility to pharmacological intervention during consolidation of contextual fear memory. Moreover, the contribution of both mTOR complex 1 and 2 together or the mTOR complex 1 downstream effector p70S6K (S6K1) to consolidation of contextual fear memory.

**Objective** Here, we tested whether different timepoints of vulnerability to rapamycin, a first generation mTOR complex 1 inhibitor, exist for contextual fear memory consolidation and persistence. We also sought to characterize the effects of dually inhibiting mTORC1/2 as well as S6K1 on fear memory formation and persistence.

**Methods** Rapamycin was injected systemically to mice immediately, 3 h, or 12 h after contextual fear conditioning, and retention was measured at different timepoints thereafter. To determine the effects of a single injection of the dual mTROC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 after learning on memory consolidation and persistence, a dose-response experiment was carried out.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Republished with permission from Springer Nature. Co-author: Blundell, J.

Memory formation and persistence was also assessed in response to the S6K1 inhibitor PF-4708671.

**Results** A single systemic injection of rapamycin immediately or 3 h, but not 12 h, after learning impaired the formation and persistence of contextual fear memory. AZD2014 was found, with limitations, to dose-dependently attenuate memory consolidation and persistence at the highest dose tested (50 mg/kg). In contrast, PF-4708671 had no effect on consolidation or persistence.

**Conclusion** Our results indicate the need to further understand the role of mTORC1/2 kinase activity in the molecular mechanisms underlying memory processing and also demonstrate that the effects of mTORC1 inhibition at different timepoints well after learning on memory consolidation and persistence.

#### **2.2 Introduction**

Newly learned information is at first susceptible to disruption but gradually matures and consolidates over time into a more sound, stable, and relatively impervious long-lasting representation. This enduring quality of consolidated memory is a defining characteristic of long-term memory (LTM), which can last many hours, days, weeks, years, or even a lifetime compared with short-term instantiations that decay quickly and only last from seconds to several hours. However, whether short-term memory (STM) and LTM traces are processed in serial (continuous) or parallel is still a matter of debate (Abel & Lattal 2001; Babayan et al. 2012; McGaugh, 2000; Rodriguez-Ortiz & Bermudez-Rattoni 2007; Sossin, 2008).

Molecularly, there are two key differences between STM and LTM. Whereas LTM formation requires de novo mRNA and protein synthesis (although there are exceptions to this, please see Lay et al., 2018; Ryan et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2019 for recent examples), short term representation of memory is considered mRNA and protein synthesis independent (McGaugh, 2000). Louis and Josefa Flexner's seminal work in the 1960s first elucidated this conclusion by showing that global protein synthesis inhibitors disrupt LTM but not STM when given around the time of, or shortly after training (Flexner et al. 1967; Izquierdo & McGaugh 2000; Hernandez & Abel 2008). Importantly, these findings have been supported in many subsequent studies using an assortment of learning paradigms across a variety of taxa (Davis & Squire, 1984, Desgranges, Lévy, & Ferreira, 2008; McGaugh, 2000; Meiri & Rosenblum, 1998; Milekic et al., 2007).

As a result of these findings, memory updating (i.e., reconsolidation) notwithstanding, it was largely assumed that as time elapses, a memory became consolidated and invulnerable to insult from protein synthesis inhibitors at least 1–2 h post-learning. However, recent evidence suggests that there is at least a second wave of protein synthesis that is required for the formation and persistence of memory under certain learning experiences (Bekinschtein et al. 2007a; Bekinschtein et al. 2010; Bourtchouladze et al., 1998; Freeman et al., 1995; Grechsch & Matthies, 1980; Martinez-Moreno et al. 2011; Pena et al. 2014; Quevedo et al. 1999; Rossato et al., 2007; Wanisch et al., 2008). In these studies at least two timepoints of sensitivity to the amnestic effects of the global protein synthesis inhibitor anisomycin were confirmed, first around the time of training, and the second 3–7 h (Bourtchouladze et al., 1998; Freeman et al., 2014; Quevedo et al., 1995; Grechsch & Matthies, 1980; Martinez-Moreno et al. 2017; Pena et al., 2011; Pena et al., 2014; Quevedo et al., 1998; Freeman et al., 1995; Grechsch & Matthies, 1980; Martinez-Moreno et al., 2017; Wanisch et al., 2008). In these studies at least two timepoints of sensitivity to the amnestic effects of the global protein synthesis inhibitor anisomycin were confirmed, first around the time of training, and the second 3–7 h (Bourtchouladze et al., 1998; Freeman et al., 2014; Quevedo et a

al., 1999; Rossato et al., 2007) or 9–15 h (Bekinschtein et al., 2007a; Bekinschtein et al., 2010; Wanischa et al., 2008) post-acquisition.

In the process of synthesizing de novo proteins required for memory formation, translational control (regulation of mRNA translated into proteins) has often been held as a secondary passive factor due, in part, to studies that mainly focused on transcriptional control (regulation of DNA copied into mRNA; Banko & Klann, 2008; Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Kelleher et al., 2004). However, research now posits a much more salient role for translational regulation in consolidation, especially for the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) complex 1 (mTORC1). In addition to regulating cellular metabolism and protein turnover, mTORC1 acts as the central regulator of translation for a subset of transcripts (5' cap-dependent) through phosphorylation of two downstream substrates, p70S6 kinase (S6K1) and eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding protein (4EBP1). Although the catalytic subunit of mTORC1 is the same serine/threonine protein kinase that nucleates mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2), unlike mTORC2, substrate selectivity for mTORC1 is conferred by its constituent component regulatoryassociated protein of mTOR (raptor). Sequestering of substrates to active mTOR sites by raptor, however, is narrowed and partially blocked by the mTORC1 allosteric inhibitor rapamycin (RAPA; Sabatini, 2017; Saxton & Sabatini 2017; Sengupta et al., 2010).

Acute inhibition of mTORC1 activity using RAPA shortly before or after learning has highlighted the significance of translational regulation in memory consolidation. For instance, RAPA administered systemically or intracerebrally to brain areas important to certain types of associative memories prevents learning-induced mTORC1 phosphorylation of S6K1 in these brain areas (Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Glover et al., 2010; Lana et al., 2017; Parsons et al., 2006b; Slipczuk et al., 2009). In concert with these physiological effects, several studies have shown that RAPA disrupts LTM formation of the newly learned information (Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Blundell et al., 2008; Gafford et al., 2011; Glover et al., 2010; Jobim et al., 2012a, b; Parsons et al., 2006b; Slipczuk et al., 2009). Furthermore, mTOR heterozygous (mTOR+/–) mice show greater sensitivity to RAPA impairment of associative memory consolidation compared with heterozygous wildtype mice (Stoica et al., 2011). Oppositely, mice genetically engineered to be insensitive to RAPA have greater basal mTOR-raptor interactions and display enhanced contextual fear memory compared with their wildtype counterparts (Hoeffer et al., 2008).

As the life of a memory eclipses the turnover rate of the synaptic proteins that underwrites its consolidation, there needs to be a mechanism to confer persistence against gradual decay (Aslam et al., 2009; Bekinschtein et al., 2008). Although it appears that a second de novo protein synthesis window is required for memory persistence, the precise role of mTORC1 in delayed consolidation-like molecular events are still being deciphered. For instance, RAPA administered systemically immediately or 12 h after training, but not at several other timepoints, has negative effects on amygdala-dependent auditory fear memory when tested 48 h after training (Mac Callum et al., 2014). In contrast, intrahippocampal RAPA infusion 15 min before or 3 h after learning, but not at other timepoints, including 12 h, diminishes hippocampal-dependent fear memory formation and persistence for inhibitory avoidance (Bekinschtein et al., 2008; Slipczuk et al., 2009). This is noteworthy since Bekinschtein et al. (2010) found that ansiomycin injected into the hippocampus 12 h after learning decayed the strength of inhibitory avoidance memory

gradually over a week and abolished the expression of delayed learning-evoked increases in several immediate early genes. These differences are likely due to RAPA only inhibiting the translation of a subset of transcripts, anisomycin inhibiting almost all protein synthesis, and different mnemonic processes underlying each type of fear learning used (Lattal & Abel 2004; Parsons et al., 2006b). It is unknown, however, whether abatement of memory from timedependent post-training mTOR blockade would be consistent for contextual fear conditioning, which is procedurally like amygdala-dependent cued-fear conditioning, but requires the hippocampus, like inhibitory avoidance.

Unlike mTORC1, mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2) lacks raptor and instead has the analogous protein RAPA insensitive companion of mTOR (rictor) as a constituent component. As a result, mTORC2 is not susceptible to acute RAPA treatment, but if given chronically, RAPA indirectly blocks the assembly of mTORC2 (Sarbassov et al., 2006). At the cellular level, mTORC2 primarily controls survival, proliferation, ion transport, glucose metabolism, and cytoskeletal rearrangement through regulation of downstream serine/threonine protein kinase 1, protein kinase B, and C (Lamming, 2016; Sabatini, 2017; Saxton & Sabatini, 2017). The study of mTORC2 function in the neurobiology of behaviour and biomedical research in general, however, has been limited by the lack of specific mTORC2 inhibitors, although some inhibitors are currently in development (Benavides-Serrato et al., 2017; Murray & Cameron 2017; Werfel et al., 2018). Nonetheless, conditional knockout studies have shown that drosophila lacking rictor have impaired spatial memory, while mice lacking rictor were likewise found to have impaired consolidation of long-term fear and non-fear associative memories due to deficient actin polymerization (Angliker & Ruegg, 2013; Huang et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2018).

Interestingly, pharmacologically restoring actin polymerization in the hippocampus of conditional knockout rictor mice rescued contextual fear memory deficits, but not hippocampusindependent auditory fear memory, while enhancing contextual fear memory after weak training in wildtypes (Huang et al., 2013).

Although there are no specific mTORC2 inhibitors, there are now second-generation mTOR inhibitors that dually inhibit mTORC1 and mTORC2 kinase activity by competing for the ATP catalytic site on mTOR (Sabatini, 2017; Saxton & Sabatini, 2017). Interestingly, there is no published research to date that examines the effects of these dual inhibitors on the neurobiology of behaviour. This is surprising, however, since research now indicates RAPA only blocks the phosphorylation of some downstream mTORC1 targets. Specifically, phosphorylation of 4EBP1 is RAPA-insensitive in mammalian lines, while dual mTORC1/2 inhibitors robustly inhibit phosphorylation of all mTORC1 substrates (Choo et al., 2008; Feldman et al., 2009; Sabatini, 2017; Thoreen et al., 2009; Yu et al., 2009).

The phosphorylation of S6K1 is the hallmark readout of mTORC1 kinase activity, while the opposite is an indication of mTORC1 inhibition by RAPA. Indeed, soon after fear or non-fear conditioning, S6K1 activity is increased in regions of the brain germane to memory consolidation, while RAPA treatment prevents this effect and impairs the memory associated with the learning event (Dash et al., 2006; Glover et al., 2010; James et al., 2016; Jobim et al., 2012a, b; Lana et al., 2017; Neasta et al., 2014; Parsons et al., 2006b; Slipczuk et al., 2009). Genetic studies of S6K1 knockout mice have shown deficient spatial and taste learning and impaired consolidation of object recognition and contextual fear memory (Antion et al., 2008;

Bhattacharya et al., 2012). Surprisingly, however, these knockout mice show normal acquisition and consolidation of cued auditory fear memory and are resistant to cued fear extinction (Antion et al., 2008; Huynh et al., 2018). Auditory fear memory extinction is also blocked by pharmacological inhibition of S6K1 when mice are injected 1 h before extinction training with the first reported S6K1 specific inhibitor PF-4708671 (Huynh et al., 2018; Pearce et al., 2010). Interestingly, when PF- 4708671 is administered immediately after auditory fear memory retrieval, the persistence of reconsolidated memory becomes compromised, but not the initial reconsolidation (Huynh et al., 2014). In contrast to the effects on reconsolidation and extinction, there is no published data reporting the effects of pharmacological inhibition of S6K1 to consolidation of a conditioned associative memory.

As such, one aim of this project is to evaluate the effects of S6K1 inhibition to contextual fear memory consolidation and persistence. Likewise, we also assess whether there are any additive effects to disturbing contextual fear memory formation and persistence by simultaneously blocking mTORC1/2 activity. Further, established time-dependent windows of susceptibility to RAPA for cued fear and inhibitory avoidance memory consolidation are tested against associative contextual fear memory using a single systemic injection of RAPA.

#### 2.3 Methods

Memorial University of Newfoundland's (MUN's) Animal Care Committee approved all animal procedures and experimental protocols with husbandry and regulatory oversight of animal care
and use provided by MUN's Animal Care Services pursuant to the standards and guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

#### 2.3.1 Animals

Male C57BL/6NCrl mice (Charles River Laboratories, St. Constant, QC, CA) were used as subjects for all experiments described herein. Mice, 3–4 weeks old upon arrival, were group housed with 2–3 conspecifics per cage and given ad libitum access to food and water in standard laboratory conditions (i.e., temperature and humidity) on a 12 h light-dark cycle (lights on at 7:00 AM). Behavioural procedures began at 5–6 weeks of age. All husbandry duties, recording of body weight, tail marking using non-toxic markers for identification purposes, and experimental procedures occurred during the light phase of the light-dark cycle unless stated otherwise.

## 2.3.2 Pharmacological treatments

The mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin (RAPA, 40 mg/kg of body weight, LC Laboratories, Woburn, MA, US), the S6K1 inhibitor PF-4708671 (50 mg/kg, Toronto Research Chemicals, Toronto, ON, CA), and the dual mTOR complex 1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 (1, 10, and 50 mg/kg, Toronto Research Chemicals) were each prepared using the same procedure. Close to the time of injections, the specific drug was first dissolved in ethanol (5% of total vehicle solution), then in a vehicle (VEH) solution of 5% Tween 80 and 5% PEG 400 in distilled water through sonication and vortex mixing. Drug was administered to mice systemically through single intraperitoneal

(i.p.) injections at a volume of 10 ml/kg of body weight. Control mice received a single i.p. injection of the VEH solution (5% ethanol, 5% Tween 80, and 5% PEG 400 in distilled water) at the same volume as drug treated animals (10 ml/kg). In experiments with a delayed drug injection following fear conditioning (see below for specific timetable of events for each experiment), injections were performed in the animal housing room rather than the behavioural training and testing room. Further, for mice that received drug treatment in the dark phase of the light-dark cycle, injections were administered under overhead red-lights to minimize circadian rhythm disruption.

The RAPA dosage of 40 mg/kg of body weight was selected based on evidence that it effectively disrupts memory without changing locomotor, anxiety, or nociceptive behaviour (Blundell et al. 2008), while the PF-4708671 dosage of 50 mg/kg significantly reduces brain S6K1 phosphorylation without varying motor behaviour (Huynh et al., 2014). Preclinical and phase I and II clinical trials have focused on the efficacy of AZD2014 at treating certain forms of cancers, with fatigue, nausea, and mucositis found to be the most common side effects from intermittent or continuous dosing (Basu et al., 2015; Guichard et al., 2015; Jones et al., 2019; Kahn et al., 2014; Powles et al., 2016; Teh et al., 2018; Zhong et al., 2014). Moreover, although a 50 mg/kg oral dose of AZD2014 crosses the blood-brain barrier and inhibits mTOR kinase activity in intracerebral tumour xenografts (Kahn et al., 2014), to our knowledge, there is no published research to date examining the cognitive effects of AZD2014. As such, a dose-response relationship was used to examine the effects of a single systemic injection of AZD2014 (1, 10, and 50 mg/kg) on memory consolidation and persistence.

## 2.3.3 Contextual fear conditioning and associative memory testing

Before training and testing sessions, mice were carted in their home cages from the animal housing room to a room adjacent to the training and testing room for a minimum of 1 h. Mice from the same cage were trained and tested simultaneously in separate conditioning chambers, with all equipment cleaned using 40% ethanol and air-dried between each animal's usage. At the conclusion of any procedure mice were promptly placed back into their home cage and returned to the animal housing room.

Each conditioning chamber contained a shockable floor consisting of 26 stainless steel parallel rods, a drop pan placed underneath the floor, transparent Plexiglas rear and front walls, stainless steel ceiling and side walls, a speaker, and a house light for illumination, situated within a sound attenuating isolation cubicle (Habitest, Coulbourn Instruments, Holliston, MA, US). To condition mice to fear the training context, mice were given a single 338 s training session in the conditioning chambers. Ninety seconds after being placed into the conditioning chambers, mice received four, 2 s, 0.7 mA foot shocks (physical unconditioned stimuli), with an average 50 s variable interval between shocks (Precision Animal Shocker, Coulbourn Instruments). Following the last foot shock, mice remained in the conditioning chambers for an additional 90 s before being removed.

The strength of contextual fear memory associability from pairing foot shock with the conditioning chamber was tested at various frequencies and after varying intervals of time (see below for specific timetable of events for each experiment) by returning mice to the original

training environment (the conditioned stimulus) for 240 s and measuring freezing behaviour. Importantly, no foot shocks were administered during any recall session and all retention tests of contextual fear memory were identical in procedure. Freezing behaviour — a species specific behaviour to a threat is defined as the absence of movement, except for those movements associated with respiration — was measured throughout recall tests and during the first and last 90 s of training using automated software (FreezeFrame, Coulbourn Instruments) and expressed as a percentage of total time (s) per recall session or training interval. Conditioning and testing protocols were adapted from Blundell et al. (2008), Cai et al. (2006), Curzon et al. (2009) and tested through a preliminary study (data not shown).

# 2.3.4 Experiments

Experiment 1. Immediately following contextual fear conditioning, mice received a single i.p. injection of either VEH (control group, n = 12) or RAPA (40 mg/kg of body weight, n = 12). Mice were then tested for contextual fear memory recall, as described above, 1 h and 48 h after training.

Experiment 2. Mice were fear-conditioned to the training context, treated with either VEH (n = 15) or RAPA (40 mg/kg, n = 15) immediately following training, then tested for contextual fear memory recall 7 days later.

Experiment 3. Like experiment 1 and 2, mice were conditioned to fear the context and then treated with either VEH (n = 11) or RAPA (40 mg/kg, n = 12) immediately following training. Twenty-one days later, contextual fear memory was tested.

Experiment 4. Mice received either an i.p. injection of VEH (n = 12) or RAPA (40 mg/kg, n = 12) 3 h after context fear conditioning. Contextual fear memory was then measured 48 h and 21 days after training.

Experiment 5. Like experiment 4, mice were injected with either VEH (n = 15) or RAPA (40 mg/kg, n = 15) 3 h after contextual fear conditioning. Contextual fear memory was then tested 7 days after training.

Experiment 6. Vehicle (n = 12) or RAPA (40 mg/kg, n = 12) was administered systemically to mice 12 h after contextual fear conditioning during the dark phase of the light-dark cycle. Recall for contextual fear memory was then measured 48 h after training.

Experiment 7. Like experiment 6, VEH (n = 15) or RAPA (40 mg/kg, n = 16) was administered systemically to mice 12 h after contextual fear conditioning during the dark phase of the light-dark cycle. Recall for contextual fear memory was then measured 7 days after training.

Experiment 8. Immediately following contextual fear training, mice received a single i.p. injected of either VEH (n = 12), RAPA (40 mg/kg, n = 12), PF-4708671 (50 mg/kg, n = 12), or

AZD2014 at a dose of 1 mg/kg (n = 10), 10 mg/kg (n = 11), or 50 mg/kg (n = 11). Recall for contextual fear memory was then measured 48 h, 7 days, and 21 days after training.

# 2.3.5 Statistics

Independent samples t tests were used for two group comparisons of freezing behaviour for single recall events (retention tests). For experiments with two or more recall events mixed analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests were used to examine the between-subjects factor of treatment condition and the within-subjects factor of time on freezing behaviour. In addition to using a mixed ANOVA, linear mixed model procedures (restricted maximum likelihood method, Sattherwaite approximation for degrees of freedom) were also used to fit to our data from the dose-response experiment with three recall events to change and compare the variancecovariance structure of freezing over time and to accommodate missing data, both not adequately compensated for by classical repeated measures analyses. Where appropriate, significant main effects or interactions were followed up with planned contrasts or multiple comparisons using Bonferroni's post hoc tests. A mixed ANOVA was also employed to evaluate learning acquisition by comparing pre-learning (90 s before first foot shock) and post-learning (90 s following last foot shock) freezing between and within groups for all experiments. Data organization and statistical analyses were made using SPSS (Version 26, IMB, Armonk, NY, US) and Excel (Microsoft, Redmond, WA, US), while figures were made using Prism (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, US). Group data for freezing percentage is reported as mean  $\pm$ standard error, with significance taken at p < 0.05. Please note that because of mortality in home

cages (health related or from fighting) or recording issues during testing some experiments have unequal sample sizes between groups.

## 2.4 Results

For all experiments, as expected, naïve mice froze significantly more in the 90 s period following the last foot shock compared with the 90 s preceding the first foot shock, indicating acquisition of contextual fear learning had taken place (data not shown for mixed ANOVA tests, but all experiments found a significant main effect of time, ps < .05). Moreover, since all mice were naïve to the conditioning chambers and had not yet received pharmacological treatment, as anticipated, there were no between subjects differences found in freezing behaviour during either of these periods (first 90 s and last 90 s) of the contextual fear conditioning procedure for any experiment (data not shown, all ps > .05 for main effect of treatment).

2.4.1 The consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory is susceptible to mTORC1 blockade immediately after learning

We and others have previously shown that RAPA blockade of mTORC1 around the time of learning impairs the strength of long-term memory but spares short-term memory recall for cues, contextual contingencies, and familiar objects (Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Jobim et al., 2012a, b; Lana et al., 2017; Mac Callum et al., 2014; Stoica et al. 2011; Sui et al., 2008). To replicate these findings, we gave mice a single i.p. injection of RAPA or VEH immediately after fear conditioning and tested for context memory retention 1 h and 48 h after training. Results of a mixed ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of time (F(1, 22) = 24.511, p < .001) and an interaction effect of time X treatment (F(1, 22) = 10.399, p = .004), but no main effect of treatment (F(1, 22) = 1.246, p = .276). Indeed, follow-up comparisons of each recall event were found to be consistent with previous reports, as mice treated systemically with RAPA froze equally as much as their VEH counterparts 1 h after training (Fig. 2.1a; t(22) = -.452, p = .655), but showed significantly less freezing towards the conditioning context when tested again 48 h after training compared with VEH-treated controls (Fig. 2.1a; t(22) = 2.135, p = .044).



**Figure 2.1** Systemic RAPA immediately after learning impairs the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory. **a** Mice treated with RAPA immediately after learning show normal recall 1 h thereafter (t(22) = -.452, p = .655) but have poor memory retention when tested 2 days later (t(22) = 2.135, p = .044). **b**, **c** Injection of RAPA immediately after training diminished conditioned freezing to the context when tested (**b**) 7 days (t(28) = 2.348, p = .026); n (VEH) = 15, (RAPA) = 15) or (**c**) 21 days later (t(21) = 2.166, p = .042). n = 12 (VEH), 12 (RAPA) for Fig. 2.1a; n = 15 (VEH), 15 (RAPA) for Fig. 2.1b; and n = 11 (VEH), 12 (RAPA) for Fig. 2.1c

The results from the above experiment has several limitations in delineating the function of mTOR in memory consolidation. First, there is the potential interference from retrieval of the

learned behaviour 1 h after training on memory processing and drug action. Second, since RAPA is reported to have a long terminal half-life (Arriola Apelo & Lamming, 2016; Bottiger et al., 2001; Drion et al., 2016; Honcharik et al., 1992; Supko & Malspeis, 1994), there is the probability, albeit low, that the drug is impinging on the ability to retrieve the information about the context during testing 48 h after training. To control for these confounds, we conditioned mice, treated them with RAPA or VEH immediately afterwards, then tested for contextual fear memory retention 7 days after training. This protocol allowed for a long drug washout period, while also limiting any interference from retrieval on drug action to memory consolidation. Freezing data from the recall session was analysed using an independent samples *t* test. Here we found that mice treated with RAPA immediately after conditioning froze significantly less to the fear conditioning context than VEH-treated mice when tested 7 days after training (Fig. 2.1b; *t* (28) = 2.348, *p* = .026). Importantly, this result was consistent with our results on long-term memory from the first experiment.

Anisomysin, the global protein synthesis inhibitor, when administered immediately after learning results in long-lasting consolidation deficits for at least 21 days for either cued or contextual fear memories (Lattal & Abel, 2004; Mac Callum et al., 2014). Conversely, while RAPA disrupts the consolidation of cued-fear memory (Mac Callum et al., 2014; Parsons et al., 2006b), this effect appears to be ephemeral as retention is comparable with controls when tested 21 days after training (Mac Callum et al., 2014). As a result, we tested whether the contextual fear memory retention deficit observed 7 days after RAPA treatment immediately post-acquisition in the prior experiment would persist if tested at 21 days instead or whether the effects on consolidation would diminish over time like cued-fear memory. An independent samples t test found a

significant decrease in freezing behaviour of mice injected systemically with RAPA after training relative to VEH-treated controls when tested 21 days later (Fig. 2.1c; t (21) = 2.166, p = .042). Collectively, these results indicate RAPA treatment immediately after conditioning interferes with consolidation of contextual fear memory and that these effects are long-lasting.

2.4.2 Systemic RAPA 3 h after learning, but not 12 h, impairs contextual fear memory consolidation and persistence

As previously mentioned, the consolidation and persistence of inhibitory avoidance memory is RAPA-sensitive 15 min before and 3 h after learning, whereas cued fear memory consolidation is susceptible to RAPA immediately after and 12 h post-training, but not at different time points for either type of learning (Mac Callum et al., 2014; Slipczuk et al., 2009). Consequently, we investigated whether Pavlovian contextual fear memory consolidation and persistence demonstrated either of these time-dependent susceptibilities to systemic RAPA treatment at 3 h or 12 h post-training through several experiments.

To first test for time-dependent susceptibility of mTOR blockade to contextual fear consolidation, mice were given a single systemic injection of RAPA or VEH 3 h following conditioning, then tested for contextual fear memory retention 48 h and 21 days after training. A mixed ANOVA of the freezing data from recall tests indicated a significant main effect of time (F (1, 22) = 14.19, p < .001), main effect of treatment (F 1, 22) = 14.867, p < .001), but no interaction effect of time X treatment (F (1, 22) = .997, p = .334). Planned a priori contrasts of each retention test showed that fear memory was significantly attenuated in RAPA-treated animals compared with VEH-treated controls at both 48 h (Fig. 2.2a; t (22) = 2.674, p = .014) and 21 days (Fig. 2.2a; t (22) = 4.253, p < .001) after training.

To control for interference from multiple recall tests and any residual effects of circulating levels of RAPA at the time of the first recall test, 48 h after training, and 45 h after drug treatment, we conducted a follow-up experiment. Here, like the previous experiment, mice received a single systemic injection of RAPA or VEH 3 h after contextual fear conditioning. But unlike the previous experiment, mice were only tested for contextual fear memory retention once, 7 days after training instead of twice, first 48 h, and second 21 days after training. Consistent with the findings from the previous experiment, an independent *t* test showed that mice treated with RAPA 3 h after conditioning stymied the persistence of fear memory as these animals froze significantly less to the shock-paired context than their VEH-treated counterparts 7 days after training (Fig. 2.2b; *t* (28) = 4.543, *p* < .001).

Next, we sought to examine the effects of systemic RAPA 12 h after training on memory consolidation and persistence. In two separate but similar experiments, mice received a single i.p. injection of RAPA or VEH 12 h after contextual fear conditioning and were tested either 48 h (experiment # 6) or 7 days (experiment # 7) after the learning event. Statistically for both experiments, there were no significant differences as systemic blockade of mTOR through RAPA at 12 h after conditioning failed to change the strength of contextual fear memory relative to VEH-treated controls either 48 h or 7 days post-training (Fig. 2.2 c and d; data not shown, all p > .05). Taken together, these results indicate that contextual fear memory consolidation is

susceptible to mTOR blockade from systemic RAPA treatment 3 h after, but not 12 h after learning.



**Figure 2.2** Delayed RAPA treatment 3 h after learning impairs contextual fear memory formation and persistence. **a** Injection of RAPA 3 h following acquisition significantly hinders contextual fear memory when tested 2 days (t (22) = 2.674, p = .014) and 21 days after training (*t* (22) = 4.253, p < .001). **b** Mice that receive a single systemic injection of RAPA 3 h after conditioning display reduced freezing when tested 7 days after training (*t* (28) = 4.543, p < .001). **c**, **d** RAPA injected 12 h after learning does not alter contextual fear memory retention when tested either (**c**) 2 days or (**d**) 7 days post-training (data not shown, all p > .05). n = 12 (VEH), 12 (RAPA) for Fig. 2.2a; n = 15 (VEH), 15 (RAPA) for Fig. 2.2b; n = 12 (VEH), 12 (RAPA) for Fig. 2.2c, and n = 15 (VEH), 16 (RAPA) for Fig. 2.2d

#### 2.4.3 The dual mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 impairs contextual fear memory

There is evidence that the inhibitor of mTORC1 downstream target S6K1, PF-470867, when administered immediately after fear memory retrieval has no effect on reconsolidated memory 24 h after reactivation but impairs the persistence of reconsolidated memory when tested a second time, 10 days after reactivation (Huynh et al., 2014). Here, we wanted to test whether S6K1 inhibition using PF-470867 would confer similar effects against the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory. Further, we also wanted to evaluate the effects of the dual mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 on memory consolidation and persistence using a dose-response relationship as there is no evidence to date about the cognitive effects of this compound. A RAPA treatment group was used as a positive control.

Following contextual fear conditioning, mice received a single i.p. injection of either 50 mg/kg of PF-470867, 1 mg/kg of AZD2014, 10 mg/kg of AZD2014, 50 mg/kg of AZD2014, 40 mg/kg of RAPA, or VEH. Contextual fear memory was then evaluated 48 h, 7 days, and 21 days after training (Fig. 2.3a). A mixed ANOVA of the freezing data from recall events only found a significant main effect of time (F(2, 124) = 47.124, p < .001). The main effect of treatment approached but was not statistically significant (F(5, 62) = 2.913, p = .066), while neither was the interaction effect of time X treatment (F(10, 124) = .916, p = .521). Follow-up polynomial contrasts for the effect of time revealed significant linear (F(1, 62) = 69.174, p < .001) and quadratic (F(1, 62) = 14.922, p < .001) trends in freezing behaviour from the mice over the three recall events, but no significant linear or quadratic time X treatment trends (data not shown, all p > .05). Moreover, in regard to the linear and quadratic trends for time, post hoc pairwise

comparisons showed that time spent freezing diminished significantly following the first recall event 48 h after training when compared with the second, 7 days after training, and third, 21 days after training (Fig. 2.3b; Bonferroni analysis for both comparisons p < .001), whereas there was no significant difference between the second and third recall events (p = .357).

Although the sphericity assumption was not violated here (Mauchly's test, p = .335), given the significant trends in freezing over time we also tested our data using linear mixed model procedures to compare two different covariance structures for the repeated measures. The first structure used is a stricter but closely related characteristic of the sphericity assumption called compound symmetry, which forces equal covariances across all trials. The second structure employed, heterogenous autoregressive covariance, assumes that adjacent ordered measurements are more highly correlated than measurements further apart akin to the actual covariances for time in our data (48 h and 7 days post learning recall were moderately correlated, r (69) = 0.549, p < .001; 48 h and 21 days post learning recall were strongly correlated, r (66) = 0.685, p < .001; and 7 days and 21 days post learning recall were strongly correlated, r (66) = 0.685, p < .001). The versatility of the linear mixed model approach allowed us to test model quality, evaluate whether significance levels would be sustained, and treat time as a continuous rather than a categorical variable. Moreover, this model allowed us to include subjects otherwise excluded in an ANOVA because of at least one missing data point.

Predictably, when the model was fitted with a compound symmetry structure to balanced data, results for the main and interaction effects were identical to that of the mixed ANOVA. A Schwarz's Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) value of 1586.585 was also calculated for this

model, which would later be used to compare model quality (where smaller-is-better). When the covariance was changed to a heterogenous autocorrelated structure, the results were very similar to those found in the compound symmetry model. Time was still the only significant effect (F(2,86.67) = 43.455, p < .001), while treatment again approached but was not statistically significant (F(5, 63.547) = 2.261, p = .059), and nor was the interaction effect of time X treatment (F (10, 86.67 = .994, p = .455). Nevertheless, the lower BIC estimation for this model (BIC = 1582.813) indicates that this model better contributes to the balance between model sensitivity (complexity) and specificity (goodness of fit) compared with the compound symmetry model (difference = 3.772). We next ran the same linear mixed model procedures as above but with unbalanced data to include three subjects with missing data for the final recall event due to recording issues or mortality before the third recall test (one subject each from each of the AZD2014 groups). Consistent with our previous models, the time X treatment interaction effect was not found to be significant under either covariance structure (data not shown, all p > .05). However, with the additional data included both the main effects of time and treatment were found to be significant under both covariance structures (compound symmetry: time, F(2,127.809 = 50.155, p < .001; treatment, F(5, 65.217) = 2.46, p = .042; heterogenous autoregressive: time, F(2, 89.021) = 46.993, p > 001; treatment, F(5, 67.068) = 2.52, p = .038). BIC comparisons of the two models again indicated that the heterogenous autoregressive covariance structure (BIC = 1631.462) was the better quality model (recall smaller-is-better) than the compound symmetry structure (BIC = 1634.947, difference = 3.485).

To further examine the significant main effect of treatment from the unbalanced dataset, post-hoc Bonferroni comparisons were made from the estimated marginal means of the heterogenous autoregressive covariance model with the VEH-treated control group (Mean =  $80.078 (\pm 3.977)$ ) used as the reference group against each of the five treatment conditions (Fig. 2.3c). Consistent with our earlier experiments, RAPA-treated mice (Mean =  $62.931 (\pm 3.977)$ ) froze significantly less to the training context compared with VEH-treated controls (Mean difference = 17.147; p =.016). In contrast, animals treated with PF-470867 (Mean =  $69.403 (\pm 3.977)$ ) were not statistically different from VEH-treated mice (Mean difference = 10.675; p = .31). Likewise, neither groups of mice treated with either of the lower doses of AZD2014 were significantly different from their VEH counterparts (Mean =  $68.42 (\pm 4.181)$  and  $68.765 (\pm 4.001)$ , Mean difference = 11.657 and 11.313, p = .237 and .245 for 1 and 10 mg/kg AZD2014, respectively). However, unlike the lower doses of AZD2014, mice treated with 50 mg/kg of AZD2014 (Mean = 62.666 ( $\pm$  4.001)), like RAPA, froze significantly less overall than VEH-treated controls (Mean difference = 17.412, p = .015). As such, our results for the highest dose of AZD2014 posits the possibility that other mTOR inhibitors might have the capacity to interfere with memory processing like RAPA. However, we must stress that this inference needs to be approached with an abundance of caution as the main effect of treatment from the mixed ANOVA was not statistically significant but became significant when data discounted from the repeated measures ANOVA was included in a linear mixed model. Moreover, a lack of an interaction effect or any a priori predictions limited our examination of any simple main effects. Regarding the main effect of time, follow-up comparisons of time were slightly different from the mixed ANOVA but followed the same pattern of significance for all contrasts and pairwise comparisons as shown in Fig. 2.3b (data not shown).



Figure 2.3 The effects of the dual mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 on contextual fear memory formation and persistence. a Mice received a single systemic injection of either VEH, 40 mg/kg of RAPA, 50 mg/kg of PF-470867, 1 mg/kg of AZD2014, 10 mg/kg of AZD2014, or 50 mg/kg of AZD2014 immediately after learning and were tested for contextual fear memory recall 2, 7, and 21 days after training in the absence of any foot shocks. **b** Overall, freezing behaviour significantly diminished when tested at 7 and 21 days after training compared with the first recall test that occurred 2 days after contextual fear

conditioning (Bonferroni post hoc tests for the main effect of time: 2 days v. 7 days, p < .001; 2 days v. 21 days, p < .001; 7 days v. 21 days, p = .357). c Estimated marginal means for each group was compared against VEH using Bonferroni post hoc tests. Freezing behaviour for RAPA-treated mice was significantly decreased compared with VEH controls (p = .016). Likewise, freezing from animals given the highest dosage of AZD2014 at 50 mg/kg was found to be significantly less than their VEH counterparts (p = .015). Conversely, mice given either of the smaller doses of AZD2014 (1 or 10 mg/kg) or the S6K1 inhibitor, PF-4708671 at 50 mg/kg were all found to be not statistically different from VEH-treated mice (all p > .05). n = 12 (VEH), n = 12 (RAPA at 40 mg/kg)), n = 12 (PF-4708671 50 mg/kg), n = 11 (AZD2014 at 1 mg/kg), n = 12 (AZD2014 at 10 mg/kg), n = 12 (AZD2014 at 50 mg/kg)

# **2.5 Discussion**

Our results confirm and expand upon earlier work by showing that a single, 40 mg/kg, systemic injection of RAPA immediately after associative learning significantly weakens the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear LTM without encroaching upon STM. Further, we demonstrate that fear memory formation and persistence is still susceptible to systemic mTORC1 blockade 3 h, but not 12 h, after learning. As a result, the present findings indicate mTORC1 activation immediately after and in the hours shortly after learning strongly contribute to the molecular mechanisms required for contextual fear memory formation and persistence. We also show, with limitations, that a single systemic application of the ATP-competitive mTOR kinase inhibitor AZD2014 immediately after learning dose-dependently impairs contextual fear memory consolidation and persistence. Although it is tempting to suggest a fundamental role for both mTORC1/2 kinase activity in the molecular mechanisms underlying memory processing from these findings, it does underscore the need to better understand the function of mTORC2 in memory processing. Further, we found that systemically inhibiting the mTORC1 downstream effector S6K1 with PF-4708671 immediately after learning does not significantly alter contextual fear memory formation or persistence, perhaps due to other mTORC1 downstream targets not being simultaneously inhibited.

The results from our experiments on consolidation are aligned with previous studies using systemic or intracerebral RAPA treatment shortly before or after learning and testing for fear memory recall strength 24–48 h later (Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Blundell et al., 2008; Lana et al., 2017; Mac Callum et al., 2014; Parsons et al., 2006b). Nonetheless, our findings further differentiate the function of mTORC1 in memory processing through systemic blockade using RAPA. Indeed, past studies have shown that infusion of RAPA directly into the brain or systemically impairs consolidation of hippocampal-dependent recognition and inhibitory avoidance LTM without affecting STM (Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Jobim et al., 2012a, b; Lana et al., 2017; Myskiw et al., 2008; Stoica et al., 2011). However, in many of these studies, STM and LTM were tested in separate experiments with separate animals. Importantly here, like our previous research with auditory fear memory, systemic RAPA likewise did not affect the expression of contextual fear shortly after the learning event occurred, but attenuated LTM when tested 48 h after training and drug treatment, 47 h after STM testing. An unfortunate drawback of this type of testing, however, is that the conclusions drawn from LTM testing are susceptible to interference from STM recall but at the same time illustrates the juxtaposition of mTORC1 function in memory processes through a single experiment.

We also show that RAPA administered immediately after learning diminishes contextual fear memory retention when tested 1 week later. As such, these results help strengthen our earlier conclusions and allays doubt from our first experiment by removing the influence of STM retrieval while isolating the effects of systemic drug action on LTM formation processes evoked by learning. Moreover, our data confirm and extend earlier findings that concluded systemic RAPA administered around the time of learning disrupts contextual fear memory consolidation (Blundell et al., 2008). Although this earlier work revealed decreased freezing 24 h after training and treatment, RAPA has a relatively long half-life in mammalian systems and could have potentially been interrupting retrieval at this testing timepoint, disguising the actual effects of RAPA on consolidation. Indeed, RAPA has blood levels detectable up to 3 days after i.p. injections in mice capable of inhibiting mTORC1 signalling in cell cultures (Arriola Apelo et al., 2016; Sarbassov et al., 2006). By waiting 1 week, we allowed for a much larger washout period for RAPA to be metabolized and removed before testing memory retention, thus, lifting any uncertainty that residual levels of the drug are altering retrieval but instead strongly implicating impaired consolidation. Another study similarly found that systemic RAPA administered immediately after paired odour-shock fear learning diminishes fear-potentiated startle to the training context, but interestingly not to the odour cue in a new context when both were tested 1 week later (Glover et al., 2010). Additionally, several other studies have shown that intrahippocampal infusion of RAPA impairs hippocampal-dependent fear memory for at least a week (Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Slipczuk et al., 2009).

The memory deficits reported here at 48 h and 7 days from systemically inhibiting mTORC1 activity immediately after learning were also found to persist much longer, up to 21 days later. These findings are in contrast with our past work, which showed the effects of RAPA on auditory fear memory consolidation decayed over time and absent at 21 days post-training (Mac Callum et al., 2014). Instead, our current findings are congruent, as previously mentioned, with the deleterious effects of the global protein synthesis inhibitor anisomycin to both contextual and cued fear memory consolidation and persistence (Lattal & Abel, 2004; Mac Callum et al., 2014). Furthermore, we established that contextual fear memory consolidation and persistence is

vulnerable to RAPA at least at a second timepoint 3 h, but not 12 h after learning, paralleling prior work examining the effects of dorsal intrahippocampal RAPA treatment to one-trial inhibitory avoidance LTM (Bekinschtein et al., 2008; Slipczuk et al., 2009). In contrast, we have previously shown that the consolidation of cued fear memory is negatively affected by RAPA immediately or 12 h, but not 3 h, after training using a learning task that is procedurally akin to contextual fear learning (Mac Callum et al., 2014). Note that we assessed the effects of RAPA at these time points (immediate, 3 h, 12 h) on cued fear memory in different experiments so a direct comparison across time points cannot be made.

The above discrepancies between types of memories likely reflect the different molecular cascades evoked by each unique training event in brain loci subserving each type of learning (Izquierdo et al., 2006). Indeed, inhibitory avoidance and contextual fear memory depend on the hippocampus for spatial processing, while cued fear memory does not require the hippocampus but rather the amygdala to form associations with learned cues (Curzon et al., 2009). For mTOR, RAPA infused into the hippocampus immediately after learning has no effect on cued fear memory but impairs the formation of contextual fear memory, while RAPA infused into the amygdala impairs both contextual and cued fear formation (Gafford et al., 2011; Parsons et al., 2006b). Further, although the effects of immediate post-learning RAPA treatment to cued fear memory observed 24 h or 48 h thereafter are absent when tested 7 days or 21 days after learning (Glover et al., 2010; MacCallum et al., 2014; Parsons et al., 2006b), the effects of RAPA 12 h post-learning to cued memory persistence have not been evaluated. It is possible that delayed RAPA treatment 12 h after learning hinders the persistence of newly learned cued fear memory,

unlike that observed for contextual fear or inhibitory avoidance memory (Bekinschtein et al., 2008; Slipczuk et al., 2009).

Regardless of memory type, our current findings illustrate two timepoints of RAPA sensitivity and provide some credence to the idea that consolidation is not necessarily a continuous process, but that it might require multiple, recurrent consolidation-like events to help support the permanence of the memory trace. Nonetheless, it is worth acknowledging that our timepoints chosen for pharmacological intervention were far from exhaustive and limit this interpretation. Rather, the timepoints used for pharmacological interference around the time of learning, then again at 3 h and 12 h post-learning were chosen based on established time-dependent RAPAsensitivities for the consolidation of inhibitory avoidance and cued fear memories (Mac Callum et al., 2014; Slipczuk et al., 2009). Slipczuk et al. (2009) established that inhibitory avoidance LTM was sensitive to RAPA around the time of learning and at 3 h thereafter, but also tested the effects on consolidation from RAPA treatment at other timepoints post-learning, including 1 h, a point relatively in between the two time periods of RAPA sensitivity. As a result, an important caveat is that our findings do not discount the possibility that sensitivity to RAPA is unitary between the two timepoints of susceptibility for contextual fear memory formation and persistence since we did not test any intermediary timepoints. This possibility cannot be overlooked and will need to be addressed further.

Second-generation mTOR inhibitors, such as AZD2014, curb all mTOR kinase activity regardless of the protein complex by binding to the ATP-catalytic site of mTOR (Sabatini, 2017). Using a dose-response experiment, we also found that AZD2014 dose-dependently impaired the

consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory when administered immediately after learning, albeit with strict caveats to this statement as our statistical analyses appears to be more exploratory than confirmatory in nature as the results from the mixed ANOVA motivated further examination using linear mixed model procedures. Likewise, the experimental design we used was perhaps too cumbersome for the questions we attempted to answer, and we would have perhaps been better served by separating certain components of this study into different experiments (e.g., testing AZD2014 and PF-4708671 separately). Nonetheless, to the best of our knowledge, we are the first to illustrate the behavioural effects of acutely inhibiting both mTORC1/2 kinase activity per se, with our highest dose tested of 50 mg/kg most effectively disrupting LTM. Although these effects were in concert with our data for the 40 mg/kg dosage of RAPA in that experiment, we did not test for any non-specific changes to behaviour from AZD2014, which could potentially confound our results and will need to be addressed in the future, while also using a more succinct study design to better evaluate if any, simple main effects. Nevertheless, with the realization that mTORC1 phosphorylation of mammalian 4EBP1 is insensitive to RAPA and the absence of any mTORC2 specific inhibitors, the ability to temporally and acutely inhibit both complexes will be advantageous in uncovering the neurobiology of learning and memory (Choo et al., 2008; Saxton & Sabatini, 2017). Certainly, behavioural pharmacogenetic studies would benefit from this approach since, for example, torin1, a different ATP-competitive mTOR inhibitor, prevents mTORC1 cellular functioning to a much greater degree than RAPA in cells lacking rictor (Thoreen et al., 2009). Employing such a strategy behaviourally could thus better tease apart specific mTOR complex function (Stoica et al., 2011). Additionally, for our data, although not directly compared, we did not observe any additive effect from using the dual mTORC1/2 inhibitor over RAPA. It is possible that the

inhibition of mTORC2 has limited effect on memory consolidation; however, research from knockout studies of rictor suggest otherwise (Huang et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2018). It is far more likely that we observed a floor effect for each at the dosages used, especially since pharmacological interference seldom if ever completely excises or prevents a new memory from marginally taking root.

In contrast to RAPA or AZD2014, the S6K1 inhibitor PF-4708671 only slightly diminished memory over multiple recall events compared with controls. Perhaps a higher dose of PF-4708671 would have had a greater impact on the consolidation of memory. However, the selected dosage of the S6K1 inhibitor was chosen based on research that showed the persistence of reconsolidated auditory fear memory or extinction consolidation was susceptible to the 50 mg/kg (Huynh et al., 2014; Huynh et al., 2018). Nevertheless, it is more likely that the lack of effect underscores the concomitant need to inhibit other downstream mTORC1 targets to achieve a desired level of change in memory, but this remains unconfirmed.

Overall, our findings are the first to show, although with some reservations, the effects of acute, systemic dual pharmacological inhibition of mTORC1/2 to contextual fear memory consolidation and persistence. Moreover, we also revealed that mTORC1 likely confers a greater contribution compared with its downstream target S6K1 to consolidation, as S6K1 inhibition alone was insufficient to significantly disrupt LTM. Lastly, we demonstrated that contextual fear memory is at least RAPA-sensitive at two timepoints, first immediately and second 3 h thereafter contextual fear learning, indicating that the molecular events underwriting a memory trace extend much longer after the learning event has finished.

Chapter 3: Developing a reliable animal model of PTSD in order to test potential pharmacological treatments: Predator stress and the mechanistic Target of Rapamycin<sup>2</sup>

#### **3.1 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)**

Several current models in psychology and neuroscience describe post- traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) as a condition of disturbed emotional learning and memory processes in which the consolidation of traumatic fear memories is enhanced, fear cues are generalized, and the extinction of fear memories is impaired (Mahan & Ressler, 2012; Murray et al., 2014). Bailey and Balsam (2013) describe PTSD as a syndrome where "old memories evoke responses illsuited to current circumstances" (p. 245). Bailey and Balsam's description of PTSD reflects the plight of a traumatized combat veteran induced to panic, terror, or rage by the gunshot-like sounds of holiday firecrackers or an otherwise innocuous car backfire. Such vividness ensures that understanding trauma is not just another research goal in behavioural science, but that the quality of life and well-being of these individuals drives our interest in understanding the mechanisms that contribute to the development and maintenance of PTSD. The considerable suffering experienced by people with PTSD and the relatively high prevalence of PTSD (i.e., lifetime prevalence is estimated to be 6.1% and 9.2% among the general population in the United States and Canada, respectively; Goldstein et al., 2016; Kessler & Wang, 2008; Van Ameringen et al., 2008) contribute to the urgency for research on the brain mechanisms underlying the disorder. Clarification of brain mechanisms will help clinicians and other scientists understand

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Republished with permission from Taylor & Francis Group. Co-authors: Whiteman, J., Kenny, T., Fallon, K., Bhattacharya, S., Drover, J., & Blundell, J.

the aetiology of PTSD, which may ultimately help identify candidate drug treatments (Hauger et al., 2012; Reul & Nutt, 2008; Steckler & Risbrough, 2012).

## **3.2 The Dynamic Nature of Memory**

Research linking basic neuroscience to behavioural models of learning and memory has primarily focused on "simple system" learning models using invertebrates and rodents (for comprehensive reviews, see Kandel et al., 2014; Mayford et al., 2012; Sweatt, 2010; Squire & Kandel, 2008). The simple system approach distinguishes between associative and nonassociative learning. Associative learning is typified by Pavlovian fear conditioning, a laboratory paradigm in which the pairing of a neutral stimulus (the Conditioned Stimulus) with an aversive stimulus (the Unconditioned Stimulus) allows the animal to learn to respond to the previously neutral stimulus with fear on subsequent encounters. In the Pavlovian model, fear is usually defined as the visible performance of species-typical defence behaviours, such as freezing or fleeing, which have evolved to allow evasion of environmental dangers like predators (Bolles, 1975; Ledoux, 1995, Panksepp, 1998). Associative processes allow an animal to learn about relations between environmental events and how to respond appropriately to such events (Gallistel, 2003; Rescorla, 1988; Timberlake, 1994). For example, the prey animal that learns to freeze in the presence of a predator is more likely to survive and transmit its genes to the next generation. Non-associative learning includes the contrasting phenomena of habituation and sensitization. Habituation and sensitization typically occur with reflexive behaviours (e.g., when you jump in response to a loud noise), the intensity of which can be attenuated (habituation) or increased (sensitization) by repeated exposure to the triggering stimulus. Habituation is a decreased response to a stimulus, whereas sensitization is an increased response to a stimulus.

While much of our knowledge of the physiology of non-associative learning comes from studies of invertebrates (e.g., Aplysia (a sea slug); Byrne, 2012; Carew & Kandel, 1973; Kandel, 2001; Lau et al., 2013); habituation and sensitization are conserved across phyla and studied in rodents and humans as well (Davis, 1970, 1972; Davis et al., 2008; Leaton & Supple, 1986; Lissek & van Meurs, 2015; Orr et al., 2002; Piltz & Schnitzler, 1996).

Distinguishing associative and non-associative learning is useful in the context of PTSD because symptoms can be split into those shaped by associative learning (i.e., re-experiencing and avoidance symptoms) and those shaped by non-associative learning (i.e., hyperarousal symptoms and negative alterations in cognitions and mood). Thus, clarification of the respective neural substrates for associative and non-associative learning processes is crucial to understanding how these symptoms emerge and are maintained in PTSD. Any animal model designed to study the neural mechanisms of PTSD should produce as many symptom clusters analogues of the human disorder as possible by eliciting species-specific responses to species- relevant threats in the animal of choice (Adamec, 1997; Goswami et al., 2013; Skolnick & Paul, 1983). Associative and non-associative fear memories both follow the standard stages of processing for any memory trace; specifically, fear memories are subject to acquisition and consolidation, and can be altered by intrinsic updating processes like reconsolidation and extinction. Consolidation is the critical inflection point in the survival of new fear memories and the molecular biological processes underlying consolidation is mostly well understood; as such, consolidation is the aspect of a potentially psychologically traumatic event (PPTE) memory perhaps most amenable to development of therapeutic drugs.

# **3.3** Consolidation

Neuroscientists define *learning* two ways: either as a relatively permanent change in behaviour as a result of experience (Bouton, 2007; Pearce & Bouton, 2001; Smock, 1999) or as the acquisition of information as a result of experience (Squire, 1987; Tulving, 2000). Accordingly, a *memory* is an experience-dependent internal representation (Dudai, 2004) formed by the capacity of the brain to retain learned information (Alberini, 2009). Researchers describing one particular memory are typically referring to a neural pattern carrying information about an aspect of the experienced world; however, such a memory is not a static entity within the brain. Five decades of research on the pharmacological manipulation of learning and memory in animals have led to the broadly accepted proposal that there are two stages of memory formation: acquisition and consolidation (Alberini & LeDoux, 2013; McGaugh & Izquierdo, 2000; Nader & Hardt, 2009; Squire, 1987). The learning experience is the crux of memory acquisition. In simplest terms, acquisition can be considered as the generation of a memory trace. Once information is learned and a memory is acquired (i.e., a *memory trace* is generated in the brain), the memory trace remains in a labile state where its strength (and perhaps existence) is acutely sensitive to pharmacological manipulations. The lability of memory is evidenced by several drug interventions, but most comprehensively with protein synthesis inhibitors (e.g., Anisomycin; Davis & Squire, 1984; Klann & Sweatt, 2008; McGaugh, 1966, 2000; McGaugh & Herz, 1972).

Protein synthesis inhibitors given after memory acquisition have been shown to block the formation of certain types of memories, but not others. For example, a "long-term memory" (i.e., memories evident when tested hours to years following training) can be blocked with protein synthesis inhibitors; however, a "short-term memory" (i.e., memories evident minutes to hours

following training) cannot be blocked with protein synthesis inhibitors.<sup>3</sup> The difference indicates a time-limited neural process where the initial memory trace must be "laid down" in the brain in order to be transferred to a long-term/permanent storage format. The process of "laying down" the memory is referred to as **consolidation** (Dudai, 1996; 2004; Kandel et al., 2014; McGaugh, 2000; Müller & Pilzecker, 1900; Squire & Bayley, 2007) and occurs on a timescale of minutes to hours.

Consolidation requires new protein synthesis that provides a physical basis for changes in synaptic efficacy. These physical changes are thought to represent the instantiation of the new memory or the engram (Dudai, 2004; Kandel, 2001; Nader, 2003;). Synaptic changes embed the memory within patterns of neuronal connections over broad timescales, which allows consolidation to be formally defined as a "time-dependent stabilization process leading eventually to permanent storage of a new memory" (Nader & Hardt, 2009, p. 224). In other words, consolidation is the process that transfers the new trace from a nebulous entity in short-term memory to a stable component of long-term memory.

#### **3.4 From Molecule to Memory**

Much of what we presently know about how brains create, maintain, and modify memory traces comes from invertebrate models of non-associative learning and rodent models of associative learning (particularly Pavlovian fear conditioning). Beginning with the insights of McGill's Donald O. Hebb (1949), behavioural neuroscientists have searched for a physiological process in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Note these neuroscientific definitions of long- and short-term memory differ from how the terms are used in cognitive psychology; cf. Atkinson & Schiffrin, 1968.

neural connections that parallels the nature of the behavioural associative learning process (i.e., a process where a **synapse** linking two neurons is strengthened when both of these neurons are active at the same time; Bliss & Collingridge, 1993). Bliss and Lømo (1973) discovered such a process, which they termed long-term potentiation. Briefly, long-term potentiation refers to the enhancement of neural transmission at a given synapse (i.e., a communicative juncture between brain cells or neurons) by repeated, high-frequency stimulation of presynaptic neural inputs. For example, when both a weak and a strong input arrive at a synapse *at the same time* and are intended for the same postsynaptic cell, the weak input becomes potentiated through association, and the weak pathway consequently responds to the tetanic electrical stimulation with greater depolarization than would have previously occurred (Dudek & Bear, 1992; Nicoll & Roche, 2013). The phenomena of long-term potentiation was anticipated in 1949 by Hebb's groundbreaking theorem, which is commonly paraphrased as "neurons that fire together, wire together". Hebb's rule can be illustrated in a population of neurons (typically CA1 neurons) with stimulating electrodes, recording electrodes, and an oscilloscope. In this setup, a weak pulse of electrical stimulation will only produce a weak electrophysiological response (weak depolarization). But if a weak pulse is followed up in short succession with a pulse of strong stimulation, then subsequent responses to weak stimulation on the oscilloscope are shown to be enhanced or potentiated, demonstrating the "fire together, wire together" logic across a neural population (Rudy, 2014; Sweatt, 2010).

Researchers have resolved in detail the molecular mechanisms underlying long-term potentiation (see Frankland & Josslyn, 2016; Malenka & Bear, 2004). Consistent with the hypothesis of long-term potentiation as a mechanism for memory consolidation, long-lasting long-term

potentiation—like behavioural consolidation—requires protein synthesis. At the synaptic level, researchers have shown the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate receptor to have the properties needed to underlie a synaptic potentiation process. Despite many of the identified synaptic elements (e.g., NMDA receptors) that participate in long-term potentiation (Mayford et al., 2012; Panja & Branham, 2014), how action at the synapse contributes to protein synthesis, and ultimately memory consolidation, remains relatively unresolved. Thus, researchers have recently focused on the cellular signalling cascades (second-messenger pathways) that mediate synaptic changes by driving protein synthesis in neurons. Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF) has emerged as a key molecule in synaptic plasticity and long-term potentiation as related to learning and memory (Panja & Branham, 2014). The BDNF molecule provides a mechanistic link between learning and consolidation of a fear memory (Monfils et al., 2007). Research suggests the sub-cortical **amygdala** is a key neural hub for plasticity in fear learningrelated processes (Blair et al., 2001; Rogan et al., 1997); therefore, researchers have focused on the role of amygdalar BDNF activity in fear memory consolidation. Many such studies report BDNF transcription (synthesis of RNA from DNA) during fear memory consolidation (Reviewed in Rudy, 2014). Based on these and other results, there is now a large and growing body of literature on the role of the mechanistic (formerly mammalian) Target of Rapamycin (*mTOR*) kinase pathway in memory processes. The literature specifically addresses how upstream signals from the synapse (e.g., the BDNF receptor tyrosine receptor kinase B (TrkB)) activate mTOR, and how mTOR, in turn, drives translation (synthesis of protein from RNA) of molecular products needed for the ongoing plasticity underlying fear memory acquisition and consolidation. The molecular and pharmacological aspects of mTOR can further inform Pavlovian and predator stress models of fear learning.

# 3.5 mTOR and Rapamycin

mTOR is a kinase (i.e., enzyme) at the centre of a signalling pathway that is strongly conserved from bacteria to humans (Hay & Sonenberg, 2004; Li et al., 2014). In the brain, mTOR contributes to synaptic plasticity by controlling a subset of protein synthesis (translation) through downstream target effector proteins (e.g., p70s6k and 4E-BP1). The mTOR kinase also responds to signals initiated by receptors (e.g., NMDA, TrkB) that are crucial to synaptic plasticity required in long-term potentiation (Graber et al., 2013; Hoeffer & Klann, 2010). The mTOR molecule is found in cells as a component of two distinct molecular complexes, complex 1 (mTORC1) and complex 2 (mTORC2; Hay & Sonenberg, 2004; Hoeffer & Klann, 2010). The mTORC1 structure and function is well characterized with much of what we understand about the biochemistry of mTORC1 coming from research using the bacterium-derived mTORC1 allosteric inhibitor drug **rapamycin**. The drug specifically inhibits the complex by first binding with FK506-binding protein 12 (FKBP12), which then binds to the FKB12 rapamycin-binding (FRB) domain of mTORC1 forming a ternary complex preventing mTORC1 from carrying out its kinase activities to its substrates (Yang et al., 2013). mTORC2 is considered rapamycininsensitive and is only mildly responsive to rapamycin treatment following chronic administration (Hay & Sonenberg, 2004; Sarbassov et al., 2006). Lacking any specific inhibitor, much less is known about the characteristics of mTORC2 biochemically, with even less know about its function in the biology of behaviour (Bockaert & Martin, 2015; Hoeffer & Klann, 2010; Huang et al., 2013). In the current chapter, we focus exclusively on mTORC1, referred to as mTOR hereafter.

## **3.6 Animal Models of PTSD: From Pavlov to Predation**

Human psychobiology research on PTSD is large and includes neuroendocrine, psychophysiological, and neuroimaging approaches (e.g., Acheson et al., 2014; Bryant et al., 2005; Etkin & Wager, 2007; Pole, 2007; Rasmusson et al., 2003; Yehuda, 2009). The approaches are largely non-invasive for practical and ethical reasons, limiting the bases of most results to correlational data. Direct manipulation of the brain to identify causal mechanisms requires the use of animal models. Substantial research efforts have gone into modelling PTSD symptoms in rodents to investigate underlying cellular and molecular mechanisms of PTSD (especially the mechanisms that underlie consolidation, extinction, and reconsolidation of traumatic memories). An understanding of these mechanisms offers opportunities to identify potential pharmacological treatment targets. However, no particular animal model of PTSD ideally recapitulates all symptoms of the disorder, with Pavlovian fear conditioning paradigms and predator stress paradigms being the major approaches used by researchers to date. Pavlovian fear conditioning effectively models the re-experiencing and cue-related symptoms of PTSD. Predator stress models capture re-experiencing and cue-related symptoms as well, but also produce hyperarousal and anxiety-like behaviour, making predator stress models arguably more comprehensive animal models of PTSD (Deslauriers et al., 2017).

### 3.7 Pavlovian Fear Conditioning

The fear memories produced by Pavlovian paradigms involve an organism learning that a previously innocuous or neutral cue (the conditioned stimulus; e.g., a light or buzzer) predicts the

onset of a naturally fear-producing stimulus (the unconditional stimulus; e.g., a mildly painful foot shock). The unconditioned stimulus is a stimulus to which the animal has an innate and reflexive behavioural fear response (i.e., the unconditioned response). Unconditioned responses usually manifest as freezing or *tonic immobility* in both rodents and humans (Ledoux, 2003; Maren, 2001). Little experience is required for animals to associate the conditioned and unconditioned stimuli in memory, and the conditioned stimulus quickly comes to elicit the fear response. When the conditioned stimulus elicits the fear response without the presence of the unconditioned stimulus, the fear response is then referred to as the conditioned response (Pearce & Bouton, 2001). Pavlovian conditioning involves the animal learning relations between events in the world and fear has been powerfully shaped as a threat-avoidance mechanism over evolutionary time (Cosmides & Tooby, 2000; Ledoux, 2012; Öhman & Mineka, 2001). For example, a rat that freezes or hides in response to a hawk's cry is demonstrating an adaptive behaviour. Little experience is needed for objects and contexts predictive of danger or pain to prime the animal to respond with fear when these cues are encountered again. Pavlovian paradigms have been successful in modelling one set of PTSD symptoms, namely associative fear memories. The fear learning mechanisms activated in these protocols appear dramatically recalibrated in people with PTSD, where fear memories seem "over- consolidated". The process of extinction learning that allows an animal to update predictive relationships also appears compromised in PTSD (Mahan & Ressler, 2012; Morgan et al., 1993; Wessa & Flor, 2007), so cues and contexts reminiscent of the original PPTE exposure continue to generate powerful fear responses long after the predictive value has disappeared (Bailey & Balsam, 2013).

# 3.7.1 mTOR and Pavlovian Fear Conditioning

The role of mTOR in the formation and maintenance of associative fear memories as tested in Pavlovian fear conditioning models is well established. As described above consolidation and other aspects of memory can be disrupted via global protein synthesis inhibitors. Unlike other inhibitors that arrest all cellular machinery related to protein synthesis, rapamycin only selectively inhibits mTOR, which allows for the precise investigation of the mTOR pathway contribution to memory consolidation. There is a discrete period of increased activation of p70S6K (a downstream target of mTOR) in two brain areas underlying fear memory after fear memory acquisition: specifically, the hippocampus (Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Gafford et al., 2011) and the amygdala (Parsons et al., 2006b). The increase in p70S6K activation is thought to drive consolidation of the fear memory. Concordantly, inhibition of mTOR in the hippocampus by rapamycin blocks both consolidation of a shock-induced Pavlovian fear memory and the associated increase in p70S6K activation (Bekinschtein et al., 2007b). Similar inhibitory effects follow direct rapamycin administration into the amygdala (Parsons et al., 2006b), with systemic rapamycin following Pavlovian training inhibiting consolidation of associative fear memories (Mac Callum et al., 2014; Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Blundell, et al., 2008; Tishmeyer et al., 2003). Together, the available results suggest that consolidation of a Pavlovian fear memory depends on mTOR, which highlights a role for mTOR in the development of persistent fear memories in PTSD. The data point to the importance of mTOR in context or stimulus-specific fear memories, but do not address hyperarousal or generalized anxiety symptoms.

### 3.7.2 Limitations of Pavlovian Fear Conditioning as a PTSD Model

Fear conditioning defensibly captures the associative aspects of PTSD symptoms by generating strong fear memories for contexts and cues. Notable disadvantages of Pavlovian fear conditioning include not exposing the organism to a truly life-threatening event and the inability to robustly mimic other PTSD symptoms (e.g., persistent hyperarousal; increased anxiety-like behaviour; Pitman, 1997; Pitman et al., 1993). Experiments in our lab have shown that while animals display normal freezing behaviour to the training context following contextual fear conditioning, other behaviours germane to PTSD remain relatively unbridled. Conditioned animals showed no difference from their untrained counterparts in arousal state or in levels of anxiety (as measured in the elevated plus maze and dark/light box). Fear conditioning has allowed us to learn a great deal about the neural basis of associative fear and stress, from critical structures (i.e., hippocampus, amygdala) to molecular components (i.e., mTOR, BDNF); but to truly model and understand the neurobiology of PTSD, an animal model is needed that recapitulates a more comprehensive set of symptoms of the disorder. A prominent candidate for such a model is the predator stress paradigm.

# **3.8 Predator Stress**

## 3.8.1 Cat Exposure as a Paradigmatic Predator Stress Model

Predator stress typically involves acute exposure of a prey species (e.g., mouse, rat) to a predator (e.g., cat, rat, ferret). The classic predator stress paradigm developed by Adamec and Shallow (1993) involves a single, unprotected exposure of a rodent to an adult male domestic cat. Cat
exposures last for 10 minutes and are videotaped to capture the activities of both the rodent and the cat. When the 10-minute test is completed, the rodent is gently removed from the cat exposure room and returned to its home cage. Video recordings can later be examined to determine locomotor activity of the rodent and cat, approaches to and flights from the cat by the rodent, the number of cat/rodent interactions, and the number of vocal calls made by the cat. Control groups for studies using the predator stress model are handled by experimenters rather than exposed to a predator (hereafter referred to as "handled control"). Cat exposures consistently generate high levels of associative fear, non-associative fear, and anxiety-like behaviour (Adamec & Shallow, 1993; Adamec, Shallow, & Budgell, 1997; Adamec, 1998; Adamec et al., 1999; Adamec, 2001; Adamec, Bartoszyk, & Burton, 2004; Adamec, Walling, & Burton, 2004; Adamec, Blundell, & Burton, 2005; Blundell, Adamec, & Burton, 2005; Adamec et al., 2008; Fifield et al., 2013; Fifield et al., 2015; Lau, Whiteman, & Blundell, 2015) therefore, unprotected domestic cat exposure may be an ecologically valid and comprehensive rodent model of PTSD. The ethological vividness of the feline predator stress model is attractive, but the effects can be highly variable (Adamec, Walling, & Burton, 2004; Fifield et al., 2013; 2015).

## 3.8.2 Predator Stress, Consolidation, and Protein Synthesis

Ample evidence demonstrates that protein synthesis is necessary for consolidation of predator stress-induced non-associative fear memories, such as hyperarousal and anxiety-like behaviour, paralleling associative fear memories from the fear conditioning literature (Adamec et al., 2006; Blundell et al., 2005; Cohen et al., 2006; Kozlovsky et al., 2008). Systemic injection of anisomycin (i.e., a global protein synthesis inhibitor) following predator exposure can block the increase in anxiety-like behaviour and exaggerated response to acoustic startle (a measure of hyperarousal) when measured one week later (Adamec et al., 2006). Similarly, infusion of anisomycin either before or after predator scent stress (i.e., exposure to predator odour stimulus, such as urine or fur) reduced anxiety and startle responses (Cohen et al., 2006). Collectively this work from the Adamec and Cohen labs has supported the hypothesis that the synthesis of novel proteins is necessary for consolidation of non-associative fear memories in predator stress paradigms as evidenced through the effects of protein synthesis inhibitors on non-associative memories. It follows that these memories likely require translation regulation in order to be consolidated.

Anisomycin is a global protein synthesis inhibitor as it inhibits ribosomal activity, which reduces protein synthesis by as much as 60–80%. In contrast, rapamycin selectively inhibits only mTOR activity and reduces protein synthesis by a mere 10% (Parsons et al., 2006b). The selectivity of rapamycin makes it ideal for investigating the role of mTOR in predator stress. Work from the Blundell lab has demonstrated that the mTOR pathway plays a role in predator stress-induced associative and non- associative fear memories. Rats exposed to a cat and then injected with systemic rapamycin showed decreased freezing when re-exposed to the cat room context, suggesting reduced associative fear memories. Moreover, predator stressed rats given rapamycin showed lower anxiety-like behaviour in the elevated plus maze and decreased hyperarousal in the acoustic startle test compared with controls injected with a physiologically inert vehicle solution, suggesting reduced non-associative fear memories. In all cases, animals exposed to predator stress and treated with rapamycin exhibited similar behaviour to that of handled control animals (Fifield et al., 2013), suggesting that rapamycin blocks consolidation of the predator stress- induced associative *and* non-associative fear memories. As the results indicate a potential

56

role for mTOR in both types of fear memory induced by predator stress, we were interested in examining the distribution of mTOR activity in the brain during consolidation of such memories.

3.8.3 Experimental Approaches to Predator Stress Models: Molecules, Drugs, and Behaviour

3.8.3.1 Experiment 1: What is the Neuroanatomical Distribution of mTOR Activation Underlying Predator Stress-Induced Fear Memories?

Data from the Blundell lab suggested that like shock-induced Pavlovian fear memories, predator stress-induced fear memories are regulated by mTOR activity. Unlike shock-induced fear memory, the localization of mTOR activation in the brain following predator stress is unknown. Thus, we intended to identify brain areas that could mediate consolidation of mTOR-dependent predator stress-induced fear memories. Rats were randomly assigned to predator stress or handled control conditions and were euthanized 1 h or one week following cat exposure or control handling. Brains were extracted from rats of both groups and frozen for tissue analysis by immunohistochemistry. Immunohistochemistry was done using an antibody designed to detect "phospho-mTOR" (noted as p-mTOR) as a proxy of mTOR activity. p-mTOR expression was analysed using densitometry with respect to two brain areas commonly implicated in memory, stress, and anxiety: the hippocampus and the midbrain periaqueductal grey.

Decades of research results implicate the hippocampal complex as a critical brain structure in the formation of fear memories (Foster & Burman, 2010; Kim & Fansewlow, 1992; Phillips & LeDoux, 1992; Saxe et al., 2006). The role of the hippocampus as a critical structure in the

formation of many types of memories in general is supported by a very diverse body of evidence (For a review, see Andersen et al., 2006).

The hippocampus has a highly complex internal structure containing the CA1 and CA3 regions, hilus, and associated dentate gyrus amongst other subregions (Amaral & Lavenex, 2006). The CA1 pyramidal cell layer of the dorsal hippocampus is of particular relevance to the consolidation of fear memory. Optogenetic work has demonstrated that selective inhibition of excitatory CA1 neurons during fear conditioning sufficiently abolishes the acquisition and recall of contextual fear memory (Goshen et al., 2011). Moreover, a study using immunohistochemistry identified increased neuronal activation (e.g., c-Fos staining) in the CA1 region of the hippocampus in chronically stressed and fear conditioned rats (Hoffman et al., 2014). In addition to the CA1 pyramidal cell layer, the dentate gyrus is a subregion of the dorsal hippocampus that has been implicated in the encoding of contextual fear memories (Hernandez-Rabaza et al., 2008; Khierbek et al., 2013). An analysis by Kheirbek et al. (2013) demonstrated that inhibition of the dorsal dentate gyrus during fear conditioning significantly reduced freezing behaviour to the learning context. Experimental lesions of the dentate gyrus also appear to impair fear conditioning in rats when compared to "sham-lesion" animals (Hernandez-Rabaza et al., 2008).

The periaqueductal grey, a prominent feature of the midbrain, is an evolutionarily older structure than the hippocampus. Anatomists have divided the periaqueductal grey into three longitudinal columns that are termed dorsal, lateral, and ventral subregions (Bandler et al., 1991). The periaqueductal grey has been strongly implicated in cardiovascular functioning, nociception (pain), and vocalization (Jürgens, 1991; Kim et al., 2013). Evidence also indicates that the periaqueductal grey modulates fear memories and defensive behaviours through its connections with the structures of the limbic system (the emotional brain; e.g., hippocampus, amygdala; Adamec et al., 2001). Experimental evidence demonstrates increased activity in the periaqueductal grey in response to several different types of stress (Adamec et al., 2012; Blundell & Adamec, 2006; Canteras & Goto, 1999). For example, Adamec and colleagues (2012) showed that c-Fos (a ubiquitous marker of neuron activity) was elevated in the dorsolateral periaqueductal grey after predator stress and the *ventrolateral* periaqueductal grey after water submersion stress. Phosphorylated cAMP response element binding protein (pCREB), the activated form of a transcription factor (DNA binding protein that controls the rate of transcription) involved in memory formation, was also elevated in the lateral periaqueductal grey after predator stress (Blundell & Adamec, 2006). Further, electrical stimulation of the periaqueductal grey elicits fear in rodents (Di Scala et al., 1987; Kim et al., 2013). Specifically, in fear conditioning experiments, stimulation of the periaqueductal grey acts as an aversive stimulus, which elicits a fear state that is paired with a conditioned stimulus resulting in robust conditioned emotional responding to the conditioned stimulus in the absence of periaqueductal grey stimulation (Di Scala et al., 1987; Fanselow, 1991). Periaqueductal grey stimulation also provokes defensive behaviours, including bursts of activity, vocalizations, and robust freezing (Kim et al., 2013). The freezing behaviour is blocked by ventral periaqueductal grey lesions, which also attenuate the learned fear conditioned response (Amorapanth et al., 1999).

Little is known about the long-term effects of mTOR activation. Therefore, we were interested in mTOR activation differences between the two brain areas at different time points. Our research has shown that anxiety-like behaviours in rodents can last up to seven days following exposure

to a predator (Adamec & Shallow, 1993; Blundell & Ademec, 2006; Adamec et al., 2006). Accordingly, we wanted to determine whether changes in mTOR activation also persist at this approximate time point. If such changes persist, they could be a candidate for the expression of sustained associative and non-associative fear memories. We compared levels of p-mTOR expression in rats sacrificed one-hour following predator stress to those sacrificed one-week following predator stress. To our knowledge, the current study is the first study to examine mTOR activation patterns in the brain following predator stress. Based on behaviouralpharmacological data (Fifield et al., 2013) and previous molecular work using Pavlovian models (Parsons et al., 2006b; Gafford et al., 2011), we hypothesized that p- mTOR levels would be elevated one hour following predator stress relative to handled control animals in both the hippocampus and periaqueductal grey. The current study was also designed to investigate whether altered levels of mTOR expression remained one week following predator stress.





As predicted, p-mTOR expression was significantly higher in the hippocampus of predator stress rats in comparison to handled control rats one-hour post-predator stress. This was the case bilaterally (i.e., in both right and left hemispheres) and across the major anatomical subregions of the hippocampus. p-mTOR expression was higher in predator stress rats in the CA1, CA3, dentate gyrus, and Hilus subregions in both left and right hemispheres (Figures 3.1 and 3.2). These results are consistent with previous Pavlovian research showing that the mTOR pathway is activated in the dorsal hippocampus in response to contextual fear conditioning (e.g., Gafford et al., 2011). The results also support the hypothesis that mTOR activation in the dorsal hippocampus is essential for the consolidation of predator stress-induced fear memories as well. Upon separating the periaqueductal grey into the three columnar regions (i.e., dorsal, ventral, and lateral periaqueductal grey), differences were identified across regions. Specifically, p-mTOR expression was significantly higher in the dorsal periaqueductal grey in predator stress rats compared to handled controls, with a *trend* towards an increase in p-mTOR expression in the lateral periaqueductal grey of predator stress animals (Figure 3.3).



**Figure 3.2** mTOR activation in control and stressed groups across subregions of the hippocampus in the right hemisphere.

There were no significant differences in p-mTOR expression between predator stress and handled control groups in the ventral periaqueductal grey (Figure 3.3). The increase of p-mTOR expression in the dorsal and lateral regions of the periaqueductal grey is consistent with our hypothesis and previous literature implicating the periaqueductal grey in stress and fear processes. Following predator stress, pCREB expression increases in both the dorsal and lateral periaqueductal grey columns (Adamec et al., 2011), suggesting that increases in activity in these regions are important in the formation of fear memories. The results dovetail with our observed increases in mTOR activation. The parallel increase of p-mTOR and pCREB indicated activation of dorsal and lateral regions of the periaqueductal grey following predator stress provide compelling evidence for (and a clean picture of) dorsolateral periaqueductal grey activity during fear memory consolidation. The current results are also consistent with evidence demonstrating that the stimulation of the dorsal periaqueductal grey elicits anxiety-like and natural defensive behaviours in rodents (i.e., panic-like behaviour), implying that activity in the dorsal periaqueductal grey is a crucial substrate for expression of fear and anxiety (Borelli et al., 2013; Panksepp, 1998; Pinto de Almeida et al., 2006). No significant differences were found between predator stress and handled control groups in p-mTOR levels in either the hippocampus or periaqueductal grey at one week following exposure.



Figure 3.3 mTOR activation by subregion of the periaqueductal grey.

Research has shown that activity in the ventral region of the periaqueductal grey is increased in response to stress, as c-Fos was shown to be elevated in the ventrolateral periaqueductal grey

following submersion stress (Adamec et al., 2012) and in all areas of the periaqueductal grey following predator stress (Cantera & Gota, 1999). Therefore, we expected alterations in mTOR activation in the ventral periaqueductal grey following predator stress. In reference to our negative results, there may have been insufficient statistical power to detect changes in mTOR activity in the periaqueductal grey region. Alternatively, changes in mTOR activation may occur on a different timescale in the ventral periaqueductal grey in comparison with other regions and molecular cascades with changes not detectable at the one-hour time point. Another consideration is that the ventral periaqueductal grey may not be involved in the processes of fear learning and memory *per se*, but may instead be an output nucleus responsible for mediating defensive behaviours and conditioned emotional fear responses since lesions to this area inhibit these behaviours typically evoked by electrical stimulation of the dorsal periaqueductal grey (Amorapanth et al., 1999). If this is the case, it would explain why increases in p-mTOR expression were not seen in the ventral region following predator stress. Perhaps the ventral area is involved in the production of a conditioned response but would not be activated simply upon the *formation* or consolidation of a fearful memory. Our experiment described here only examines the molecular basis of the consolidation of a putative fear memory; the roles of mTOR in behavioural expression of a predator stress-induced fear memory remain indirectly shown by rapamycin injection studies (Fifield et al., 2013).

We did not observe any differences between predator stress and handled control groups in pmTOR levels in either the hippocampus or periaqueductal grey at one week following exposure. Accordingly, mTOR activation may be limited to the initial consolidation phase of memory formation and other changes (perhaps downstream of mTOR) may maintain the memory over the long term. In any event, the results suggest mTOR activation in the dorsal hippocampus and dorsal and lateral periaqueductal grey are important in mediating consolidation of predator stress-induced fear memories. We also demonstrated that changes in mTOR activation do not persist at one-week post-exposure, suggesting transient mTOR activation underlies changes in synaptic efficacy via protein synthesis in order to lay down the nascent memory.

# 3.8.3.2 Experiment 2A: The Rat-Exposure Test and Fear Memory

Despite research success, the feline predator stress model is associated with high economic costs (i.e., maintaining experimental felines), reliability issues (i.e., variability across studies) and threats to its validity (i.e., occasional docile cat behaviour). These important caveats coupled with benefits of mouse-rat models (i.e., lower cost, clear external validity, increased reliability) led us to examine another mammalian exposure model; The Rat-Exposure Test (Yang et al., 2004). The Blanchard group, based at the University of Hawaii, first developed the rat-exposure test to evaluate mouse defensive behaviours. Defensive behaviours are innate, unconditioned responses that are elicited in response to a perceived threatening situation (Blanchard & Blanchard, 1988). Defensive behaviours are the outputs of brain systems evolved to increase chances of escape and survival when an animal is exposed to a predator. Examples of defensive behaviours include freezing, defensive burying, and avoidance (Yang et al, 2004). The defensive behaviours are indicators that the animal perceives a situation as potentially life-threatening and therefore contributes to the construct validity of a predator stress model. For the initial study, Yang et al. (2004) used amphetamine-injected Long-Evans rats (to ensure mobility across trials) for predators and BALB/C or C57BL/6 strain mice as prey. On the exposure day, a mouse was placed in the exposure cage and either a live rat or a stuffed toy rat control (instead of the

64

handled control condition) was immediately introduced behind the wire mesh screen. The mouse could investigate the rat in the exposure cage or return to its home cage through a tunnel connecting the two boxes. In response to a live rat, mice subsequently demonstrated high levels of defensive behaviours, including freezing and avoidance. The results from Yang et al. (2004) have been successfully replicated (Amaral et al., 2010; Campos et al., 2013; Furuya-da-Cunha et al., 2016), supporting the rat-exposure test as an effective way to induce predator stress in mice.

We modified the rat-exposure test to a simplified exposure model with the mouse on one side of a perforated Plexiglas wall-divided cage and the rat (or stuffed control rat) on the other side. Instead of amphetamine, the live rats were calorie-restricted to increase activity and motivation during exposures, but importantly were never able to physically interact with mice during interactions.

During initial exposure, C57BL/6 mice exposed to a live rat froze significantly more than mice exposed to a stuffed control (Figure 3.4), suggesting that mice in the predator stress condition did indeed perceive the stimulus of the live rat to be stressful.

Upon re-exposure to the predator stress context, mice previously exposed to a live rat also froze significantly more than those who had been exposed to a stuffed control rat (Figure 3.5), suggesting that a five-minute protected exposure of a mouse to a rat is sufficient to produce associative (contextual) fear memories upon re-exposure to the stressful context.



Figure 3.4 Exposure freezing for control and stressed animals during the rat-exposure test.



Figure 3.5 Re-exposure freezing for control and stressed animals following the rat-exposure test.

Non-associative memory testing was conducted over successive days with a different test carried out each day. Both groups of mice were first run through a battery of tests for anxiety-like behaviours using the elevated plus maze (EPM) on the first day, open field on the second day, and light-dark box on the third day, with acoustic startle testing on the final day to examine for hyperarousal (for a full description of these tests see 3.10 Appendix: Methods). The results indicated control mice spent proportionately more time in the open arms of the EPM than did predator stress mice (Figure 3.6). Predator stress mice made fewer entries into the light side of the light–dark box (Figures 3.7). No differences were observed between groups in the time spent in the centre of the open field or acoustic startle response (data not shown).

Excluding the last results, the overall data suggest that a five-minute protected exposure of a mouse to a rat produces both associative and non-associative fear memories in the mouse. Subsequent experiments in the Blundell lab have demonstrated increased startle behaviour following mouse exposure to a live rat. The overall results align with research indicating predator stress models produce both associative and non-associative fear memories in a prey animal following an acute non-lethal exposure to a predator (Adamec et al., 1998; Fifield et al., 2013).



Figure 3.6 Time spent on open arms of elevated plus maze for control and stressed animals following the rat-exposure test.



Figure 3.7 Number of entries into light side of light–dark box for control and stressed animals following the rat-exposure test.

3.8.3.3 Experiment 2B: Etho-Pharmacological Exploration of a Candidate PTSD Therapeutic— Rat-Exposure Test and Rapamycin

Initial results supporting the rat-exposure test as a reasonably robust model of PTSD-like fear memories led us to question whether the associative and non-associative fear memories elicited by the rat-exposure test were mTOR dependent. Mice were randomly assigned to predator or stuffed rat control groups and injected with either rapamycin (40 mg/kg) or an inert vehicle (VEH) immediately following exposure to the live or stuffed rat. The results were somewhat consistent with the previous experiment, with no differences in the open field or startle across the drug and stress conditions (data not shown).



Figure 3.8 Freezing for the four Experiment 2B groups during re-exposure to the rat-exposure test context.

A strong context effect was demonstrated, and memory consolidation was shown to be at least partially mTOR dependent. Predator stress+VEH mice froze more on re-exposure compared to controls (Stuffed Control+VEH, Stuffed Control + rapamycin), while freezing in predator stress+rapamycin mice was comparable to control group levels (Figure 3.8). In the EPM, a similar pattern was seen for ratio time, with rapamycin increasing the proportion of time predator stress animals spent on the open arms as compared to VEH-treated mice. Unlike freezing, predator stress+rapamycin mice ratio times in the EPM were not as closely aligned with control levels (Figure 3.9). The "core" of a predator stress animal model of PTSD is sometimes reduced to contextual/cued fear, anxiety-like behaviour, and hyperarousal, as measured in predator context re-exposure, EPM, and startle, respectively (e.g., Cohen et al., 2006). Our results captured the first two components of the predator stress model, but without evidence of a startle effect as the curves over the course of the 30 trials did not differ (data not shown).



**Figure 3.9** Ratio time (time in open arms/time in all arms) in the elevated plus maze for the four groups in Experiment 2B.

The results suggest that further research is needed to examine the involvement of mTOR in hyperarousal memory. Hyperarousal induced by the rat-exposure test may be impervious to rapamycin or might simply be more variable than the context or EPM effects. Given that consolidation of hyperarousal memory appears to be under mTOR control in the cat exposure test (Fifield et al., 2013), and that effects in other non-associative tests (light-dark box, open field) are somewhat variable, the latter is more likely the case. The contributions of mTOR to consolidation of hyperarousal may also be more nuanced than currently understood. Research using cat exposure indicated time-dependent effects of rapamycin on hyperarousal (Fifield et al., 2015). The ubiquity of mTOR in neurons (and all other cells) introduces complexity. Research on ingestive behaviour has come to the consensus that the effects of the mTOR pathway on eating and body weight are highly dependent on several factors (i.e., signalling stimulus, cell population, behavioural context; Haissaguerre et al., 2014). Therefore, the effects of mTOR on learning and memory may be similarly complex. For example, amygdalar and hippocampal mTOR pathway activity promotes fear memory acquisition and consolidation, while prefrontal mTOR pathway activity promotes extinction or other forms of modulation to such memories

(Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Gafford et al., 2011; Glover al., 2010; Jobim et al., 2012a; Levin et al., 2017; Mac Callum et al., 2014). Such a scenario would explain the variable nature of results following systemic rapamycin reported here and, in some experiments reported in Fifield et al. (2013, 2015). It will be critical for future research using the rat-exposure test to cannulate rapamycin into specific brain regions (e.g., hippocampus, periaqueductal grey) to measure its effects on contextual and non-associative fear memories. Doing so will allow the dissociation of effects of the mTOR pathway in different regions in parallel to work showing site-specific effects of mTOR in fear conditioning (Helmstetter et al., 2008).

The slightly more modest results from experiment 2B suggest that the rat-exposure test generates contextual fear and speak to a role for mTOR in consolidation of fear memory. In contrast, the EPM results suggest that the non-associative fear memory/anxiety-like behaviour is also at least partially mTOR-dependent. The current results align with results using cat exposure (Fifield et al., 2013), but unlike cat exposure results, the rat-exposure test from Experiments 2A and B did not produce a startle effect or show that startle effect was subject to modification by mTOR blockade with rapamycin. Given that the unprotected cat exposure induces unwanted variability and can be complicated to execute, the rat-exposure test provides a more controlled alternative producing similar associative and non-associative fear behaviours. Thus, despite limitations and opportunities for refinement, the rat-exposure test represents a novel predator stress paradigm that holds much promise for elucidating the mechanisms underlying fear memories. As a final point, the still varying nature of the effects seen in these models reflect two important facts about real PPTE: (1) not every PPTE will produce the same constellation of behavioural and brain changes; and (2) the nature of symptoms appearing in humans with PTSD is itself highly

71

variable, suggesting that models capturing such variability may be more accurate than appears intuitively.

# 3.9 Summary

The experimental results discussed above provide information relevant to PTSD. First, immunohistochemistry work using traditional cat exposure models provided the first evidence of region-specific mTOR activation underlying predator stress-induced memory formation, advancing our understanding of fear memory and potential treatments. Second, the rat-exposure test is a useful model for studying the modulation of predator stress-induced fear memories and a helpful tool in translational research aimed at modelling and developing treatments for PTSD symptoms. Indeed, the results of experiment 2B add to evidence that the blockade of mTOR with rapamycin may be a useful pharmacological treatment, given rapamycin lead to an attenuation of contextual fear memory and some anxiety-like behaviour. Finally, inconsistent results with respect to hyperarousal symptoms mean that future research will help to fully tease apart the complex contribution of mTOR to fear memory formation and modulation and clarify the best uses of rapamycin as a PTSD treatment.

72

## 3.10 Methods

### 3.10.1 Drug Administration

For experiment 2B, mice received an intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of rapamycin (40 mg/kg dose, injection volumes of 10 ml/kg, volume dependent on mouse weight) or vehicle (5% ethanol, 4% PEG400, and 4% Tween 80 in sterile water, volume dependent on mouse weight).

3.10.2 Behavioural Testing

# 3.10.2.1 Elevated Plus Maze

The elevated plus maze consisted of four arms arranged in the shape of a plus sign, with two opposite arms uncovered and two covered. For the rat-sized apparatus, each arm was 10 cm wide, 50 cm long and elevated 50 cm above the ground. The four arms were joined at the centre by a 10-cm square platform. Two of the arms opposite each other had no sides while the other two arms had walls 40 cm high and were open at the top. For the mouse-sized elevated plus maze, each arm was 5.1 cm wide, 29.2 cm long and the maze was elevated 45.7 cm above the ground. The four arms were joined at the centre by a 6.4-cm square platform. The animal was placed in the centre of the elevated plus maze and behaviour was recorded for five minutes. Rodents were then returned to their home cages. Behavioural measures included time spent in the open arms, time spent in the closed arms, frequency in the open, frequency in the closed arms, and ratio measurements of these variables. Ratio time is defined as time in open arms/(time in open)+(time in closed). Ratio frequency follows the same formula.

## 3.10.2.2 Open Field

The open field is a square Plexiglas box (rat-sized apparatus: 60 cm long x 60 cm wide x 35 cm high; mouse-sized apparatus: 48 cm x 48 cm x 48 cm) painted with grey enamel. Rodents were placed in the centre of the floor at the beginning of each trial. The rodents were then videotaped for five-minute trials. Behaviours measured included time in the centre of the box and number of rears. Rears were defined as any instance where the mouse or rat raised itself up on its hind legs, with its forepaws leaving the ground (with the exception of obvious grooming behaviour). Rodents were considered in the centre when the full body was within the centre area defined by white masking tape, and near the wall when all four feet were between the masking tape and the wall.

#### 3.10.2.3 Light/Dark Box

The light/dark box was a single alley apparatus constructed of Plexiglas, divided into two chambers of equal size. For the rat light–dark box, each chamber was 31.75 cm long, 10.48 cm wide and 14.6 cm high. Both chambers were covered by a transparent Plexiglas top, hinged so it could not be opened. Both tops had centre pieces cut out to provide ventilation. One chamber had a solid wooden floor and was painted white. The other chamber had a metal mesh floor and its walls were painted black. The chamber painted black had its Plexiglas top rendered opaque with a black plastic covering. In addition, a 100-Watt LED light was positioned 66 cm above the white chamber. Testing took place in a darkened room illuminated only by the lamp over the white chamber. This produced a light intensity at the centre of the floor of the white chamber of 55 foot candles (fc), and an intensity of two fc at the centre of the floor of the dark chamber.

The mouse light dark box was a 50 cm long, 15 cm high structure with two square-shaped boxes (20 x 20 cm) connected by a short (10cm) tunnel. The dark side was covered by a removable lid, while the light side had a hinged Plexiglas lid with air holes to provide proper ventilation. Illumination and light intensity were the same as for the rat apparatus. Behaviour in the testing apparatus was videotaped for later analysis with a video camera mounted directly over the apparatus. Rodents were placed in the light chamber at the start of the test and their activity was videotaped for five minutes. Rodents were then returned to their home cages. Behavioural measures included time spent in each chamber, number of entries into each chamber (defined as having all four paws in the chamber) and number of faecal boli in each chamber.

# 3.10.2.4 Acoustic Startle Testing

Startle testing took place in a San Diego Instruments standard startle chamber. During testing, rodents were placed in the chamber in a cylindrical small animal enclosure. The animal enclosure sat atop a piezo-electric transducer that produced an electrical signal sampled by a computer, providing a measure of rodent movement. Startle testing was done in a dark chamber. This involved acclimating rodents to the startle apparatus with a background of 60dB white noise for 5 minutes. Then the rodents were exposed to 30 pulses of 50 msec bursts of white noise of 120dB amplitude rising out of a background of 60dB of white noise with a 30 second inter-trial interval. Startle response was measured over a 250 msec recording window.

Chapter 4: Evaluating the effects of single, multiple, and delayed systemic rapamycin injections to contextual fear reconsolidation: Implications for the neurobiology of memory and the treatment of PTSD-like re-experiencing<sup>4</sup>

#### 4.1 Abstract

The mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) kinase is known to mediate the formation and persistence of aversive memories. Rapamycin, an mTOR inhibitor, administered around the time of reactivation blocks retrieval-induced mTOR activity and de novo protein synthesis in the brains of rodents, while correspondingly diminishing subsequent fear memory. The goal of the current experiments was to further explore rapamycin's effects on fear memory persistence. First, we examined whether mTOR blockade at different time-points after reactivation attenuates subsequent contextual fear memory. We show that rapamycin treatment 3 or 12 hours postreactivation disrupts memory persistence. Second, we examined whether consecutive days of reactivation paired with rapamycin had additive effects over a single pairing at disrupting a contextual fear memory. We show that additional reactivation-rapamycin pairings exacerbates the reconsolidation impairment. Finally, we examined if impaired reconsolidation of a contextual fear memory from rapamycin treatment had any after- effects on learning and recalling a new fear association. We show that rapamycin- impaired reconsolidation does not affect new learning or recall and protects against fear generalization. Our findings improve our understanding of mTOR-dependent fear memory processes, as well as provide insight into potentially novel treatment options for stress-related psychopathologies such as posttraumatic stress disorder.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Republished with permission from Elsevier. Co-authors: Cooze, J. B., Ward, J., Moore, K.A.M., & Blundell, J.

#### 4.2 Introduction

In the aftermath of a highly traumatic experience, a survivor can develop post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Symptoms can include re-experiencing the trauma, avoidance of cues related to the trauma, alterations in arousal/reactivity, and negative changes in mood/cognition. For a PTSD diagnosis, symptoms must be present for at least a month, not be present before the trauma, and lead to significant distress or functional impairment (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Trauma-focused psychotherapies and several selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs, i.e., sertraline and paroxetine) are recommended first-line treatment options for PTSD (Martin et al., 2021; Veterans Health Administration and Department of Defense, 2018; Watkins et al., 2018).

A strong body of evidence supports the efficacy of these interventions at meaningfully reducing PTSD symptoms, but these treatment options are not without limitations (Belsher et al., 2019; Cusack et al., 2016; Watts et al., 2013). Several systematic reviews and meta-analyses have shown that treatment response rates for trauma-focused psychotherapies vary significantly, with the proportion of non-responders often exceeding half (Bradley et al., 2005; Green, 2013; Kar, 2011; Schottenbauer et al., 2008; Steenkamp et al., 2015). Treatment response rates for SSRI pharmacotherapies on the other hand are relatively higher and more consistent (~60-80% response rate), but also appear to require long-term use of these drugs as discontinuation of SSRIs is correlated with PTSD symptom relapse regardless of the length of the drug trial (Asnis, et al., 2004; Berger et al., 2009; Green, 2013; Lancaster et al., 2016). For those that do respond to these treatment types, however, many are still thought to be subsyndromal or only partially

recovered (Berger et al., 2009; Bradley et al., 2005). Moreover, nearly all PTSD clinical trials for SSRIs and trauma-focused therapies suffer from high rates of participant dropout (Lurie & Levine, 2010; Steenkamp et al., 2015; Stein et al., 2006; Sullivan & Neria, 2009; Zhou et al., 2020). Consequently, studying new, augmented, and varied approaches that may potentially afford enhanced treatment effects remains a focus for therapy and research.

One treatment method that has gained interest over the last decade is pharmaceutically augmented or assisted trauma-focused psychotherapy. Under this plan, patients take medication shortly before or after therapy to ostensibly exploit or make more amenable the underlying neurobiology of therapy evoked psychological processes (Dunlop et al., 2012; Hoskins et al., 2021; Marchetta et al., 2023; Meister et al., 2023). Since aberrant emotional learning and pathological fear memories are considered to be at the core of PTSD, a key component of most PTSD trauma-focused therapies, especially pharmaceutically augmented ones, is repeated exposure to stimuli associated with the fearful experience but with no actual risk of harm (Dunlop et al., 2012; Hoskins et al., 2021; Marchetta et al., 2023; Meister et al., 2023). Conceptually and procedurally, the traumatic event that leads to PTSD and therapeutic exposure to trauma-relevant stimuli parallel rodent models of Pavlovian fear memory extinction and reconsolidation (Careaga et al., 2016; Dunlop et al., 2012; Siegmund & Wotjak, 2006; VanElzakker et al., 2013). Fear conditioning and re-exposure to associated cues and contexts elicit responses that mimic the trauma and re-experiencing of fear found in PTSD. Through extinction, which is the underlying framework for exposure therapy, a conditioned fear response is gradually *inhibited* by a competitive, *newly formed*, associative memory after repeated exposure to non-reinforced stimuli. Alternatively, conditioned fear can be *diminished* following

78

memory retrieval, as reactivation can, under certain parameters (e.g., memory age, memory strength, and length of retrieval), bring the established (consolidated), *original*, long-term fear memory into a temporarily labile state susceptible to attenuating influences before being stabilized once again (reconsolidated), albeit, in a weaker form (de Oliveria Alvares & Do-Monte, 2021; Jardine et al., 2022; Kida, 2020). Unlike extinction alone, however, impaired reconsolidation does not result in a return of fear (e.g., reinstatement, renewal, spontaneous recovery) (Duvarci & Nader, 2004; Ferrara et al., 2023; Nader & Hardt, 2009). Other than analogous behaviour, rodent models of Pavlovian fear also hold considerable translational importance for pharmaceutically augmented exposure therapy. In general, fear paradigms are powerful procedures for investigating the neurobiology of learning and memory, but when leveraged for translational work, findings gleaned from these procedures have had exceptional utility in identifying new candidate drugs and establishing the neurobiological rationale for exposure augmentation targeting extinction or reconsolidation (Baker et al., 2015; Hoskins et al., 2021; Meister et al., 2023; Singewald et al., 2015; Stojek et al., 2018).

Most drugs of interest identified through preclinical rodent studies for PTSD exposure therapy augmentation have two or less published clinical trials except for SSRIs and D-cycloserine (a partial NMDA receptor agonist). Studies for these drugs have focused on enhancing extinction but results have been mixed (Astill Wright et al., 2021; Baker et al., 2015; Hoskins et al., 2021; Meister et al., 2023). Another putative drug treatment, rapamycin (RAPA) – a specific inhibitor of the mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1), which controls 5' cap-dependent translation of mRNAs into proteins, has shown some promise in a single trial. Suris et al. (2013) demonstrated that a single dose of RAPA paired with traumatic memory reactivation reduced

79

PTSD symptomology at follow-up in war veterans with more recent combat trauma. This effect was consistent with, and likely due to, impaired reconsolidation by RAPA obstructing de novo protein synthesis in the brain *necessary (under most scenarios)* for reconsolidation after reactivation. Indeed, rodent studies using more toxic global protein synthesis inhibitors, such as anisomycin and cycloheximide, were the first to demonstrate this requirement of *de novo* protein synthesis in reconsolidation (Debiec et al., 2002; Duvarci et al., 2005; Nader et al., 2000), but an abundance of work with RAPA – an FDA approved drug – has identified mTORC1 translational regulation of protein synthesis as an essential component of reconsolidation. Specifically, these studies have illustrated that RAPA administered around the time of reactivation decreases retrieval-induced mTORC1 activity and de novo protein synthesis in the brains of rodents, while correspondingly diminishing subsequent behaviour associated with the reactivated memory (Blundell et al., 2008; Gafford et al., 2011; Glover et al., 2010; Huynh et al., 2014; Jobim et al., 2012a, b; Mac Callum, Hebert, Adamec, & Blundell, 2014; Parsons et al., 2006b; Pedroso et al., 2013). Moreover, these effects are absent with non-reactivation and are resistant to reinstatement (Blundell et al., 2008; Jobim et al., 2012a, b; Mac Callum et al., 2014).

Although the evidence for the role of mTORC1 in reconsolidation is strong, to better inform our understanding of this mRNA translational regulator in normal, and possibly abnormal, fear learning and memory, several details still need to be addressed. For instance, several recent reports have shown that anisomycin administered ~12 h after memory retrieval impairs subsequent recall 7 days but not 2 days after retrieval (Nakayama et al., 2013; Nakayama et al., 2016). This suggests that additional, delayed, protein synthesis-dependent events after initial reconsolidation contribute to the persistence of memory; however, the temporal properties of

mTORC1 towards such persistence have not fully been explored. Targeting molecular cascades such as mTORC1 at delayed time points after reactivation also represents an opportunity to engender long-lasting impairments to fear memories while also providing a buffer between fearrelated cue and context re-exposure and drug administration when it is not feasible or desirable immediately around the time thereof (e.g., self-administration of a medication might not be feasible during an assigned in vivo session such as driving by the location of a trauma reminder). Thus, one aim of this project was to examine whether systemic mTORC1 blockade with RAPA at different time points after reactivation alters the reconsolidation and persistence of a footshock-induced contextual fear memory. Our second aim was to assess whether consecutive days of reactivation paired with RAPA had additive effects over a single pairing at disrupting a context (foot-shock-induced) memory, and to confirm that such effects were blocking reconsolidation and not enhancing extinction. RAPA-induced impairments of reconsolidated memory should not affect the capacity to later learn and form new memories. Therefore, our third aim was to examine if impaired reconsolidation of a contextual fear memory from RAPA treatment immediately after reactivation had any after-effects to learning and recalling a new fear association. Related to this aim, we also explored whether the impairing effects to consolidation from RAPA treatment immediately after contextual fear conditioning (via foot-shock or predator exposure) resulted in any carryover effects to learning and recalling a new subsequent fear association (shock-tone). Ultimately, our findings from investigating these aims will improve our basic understanding of mTOR-dependent fear memory processes, as well as provide insight into potentially novel treatment options for stress-related psychopathologies such as PTSD.

## 4.3 Methods

All procedures related to the care and use of animals for this research were approved by Memorial University's Animal Care Committee and adhered to the guidelines and regulations of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Animals for this research were housed, cared for, and used only within the Memorial University's Biotechnology Building once they were received from the supplier (Charles River Laboratories, St. Constant, QC, CA).

#### 4.3.1 Subjects

Two hundred sixty-three naïve male C57BL/6NCrl mice were used for all nine experiments. Mice, 4 weeks of age upon arrival, were group housed with 2-3 conspecifics per individually ventilated cage (Tecniplast, Buguggiate, VA, IT) in a housing room under standard laboratory conditions (i.e., temperature and humidity) and a 12-h light-dark cycle (lights on at 7:00 AM) with *ad libitum* access to food and water. Tails were coloured with non-toxic markers every second day for identification purposes. All procedures related to the care and use of mice occurred during the light phase of the light-dark cycle unless stated otherwise. Behavioural procedures started one week after arrival when mice were approximately 5 weeks of age. At the end of any procedure, mice were promptly returned to their home cages.

#### 4.3.2 Predator Stimuli

Naïve male Long-Evans rats (N = 2) were used as nonlethal predator stimuli towards mice as part of Expt. 9 described below. When received, rats were approximately 6 weeks old and

weighed between 150-200-g. They were housed singly in individually ventilated cages in a separate housing room from mice on a *reverse* 12-h light-dark cycle (lights off at 7:00AM) under standard laboratory conditions with *ad libitum* access to food and water. Each day until used as predator stimuli, rats were handled for several minutes and their daily food intake was measured and recorded. Handling of rats and food intake measurements happened at the same time everyday during the dark phase of the reverse light-dark cycle under overhead red lights to minimize circadian rhythm disruptions. Three days before the rats were used in predator exposures, *ad libitum* access to food was removed and rats were food restricted to 80-85% of their average daily intake based on four days of baseline measurements. Food restriction and reverse light cycle procedures were used to increase predator activity on the day of exposure events to prey (i.e., mice), removing the need for pharmacological stimulants as used elsewhere (Campos et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2004). Immediately following predator exposure sessions *ad libitum* access to food was restored.

# 4.3.3 Drug Preparation and Delivery

Close to the time of use (~ 1-h prior), RAPA (LC Laboratories, Woburn, MA, US) was dissolved in ethanol (5% of total volume), then in a stock solution of 5% Tween 80 and 5% PEG 400 in distilled water using a vortex mixer (MaxiMix, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, US). Vehicle (VEH) was prepared identically to RAPA but with the drug omitted. Mice that received VEH acted as controls. RAPA (40 mg/kg) or VEH was delivered intraperitoneally (i.p.) to mice at a volume of 10 ml/kg according to their bodyweight on a scheduled drug treatment day. For experiments with a delayed drug injection following a behavioural procedure (see below for specific timetable of events), injections were performed in the mouse housing room rather than the specific behavioural procedure space. Further, for mice that received drug treatment in the dark phase of the light-dark cycle, injections were administered under overhead red lights to minimize circadian rhythm disruptions. The RAPA dosage of 40 mg/kg of body weight was selected based on evidence that it effectively disrupts memory without changing locomotor, anxiety, or nociceptive behaviour (Blundell et al., 2008).

#### 4.3.4 Behavioural Procedures

Mice were carted in their home cages to the anteroom of the specific behavioural procedure room to be used and left undisturbed for a minimum of 1 h before the start of any behavioural session. Mice from the same home cage were run simultaneously, but individually in separate conditioning chamber systems for electric foot shock (physically stressed)-induced contextual and cued associative fear learning and memory procedures. For the single experiment (Expt. 9) with a predator exposure (psychogenic stress) component, mice were run one-by-one for each procedural step related to predator exposure and associative predator context re-exposure recall testing. Behavioural study apparatuses were cleaned using a 40% ethanol solution and air-dried between each animals' usage for all procedures.

# 4.3.4.1 Electric Foot Shock Induced Contextual Fear Conditioning and Associative Memory Testing

Each basic conditioning system featured a chamber with a shockable floor (26 stainless steel parallel rods), a drop pan underneath the shockable floor, a camera mounted to a stainless-steel ceiling, a transparent Plexiglas front entrance wall, a transparent Plexiglass rear wall, and stainless-steel side panels equipped with a speaker on one side and a house light on the other (Context A). Sound attenuating isolation cubicles housed the chambers to complete each conditioning system (Habitest, Coulbourn Instruments, Holliston, MA, US). To condition mice to fear the chambers (the to be conditioned contextual stimuli), a single 338-s contextual fear training protocol was used (MacCallum & Blundell, 2020). For this training procedure, mice were individually placed into separate chambers and after 90-s subjected to four, 2-s, 0.7-mA electric foot shocks (unconditioned stimuli), with an average 50-s variable interval between shocks (Precision Animal Shocker, Coulbourn Instruments). Following the last foot shock, mice remained in the chambers for an additional 90-s before being removed.

The strength of the contextual fear memory was tested by returning mice to the original training environment (the conditioned stimulus), individually in separate chambers, for 240-s and measuring their conditioned emotional response over this period. The number of memory recall tests and the latency between training and recall tests or successive recall tests varied according to the specific experiment (see below for exact schedules). Importantly, no foot shocks were administered during any recall test apart from Expt. 6 (see below) which used a 1-s, 0.2 mA 'reminder shock' halfway through a re-exposure session. This level of electrical stimulation used

for the reminder shock is insufficient to fear condition naïve mice but can otherwise recover (reinstate) a conditioned fear response following extinction but not impaired reconsolidation (Baldi et al., 2004; Blundell et al., 2008; Cai et al., 2006).

Freezing is a species-specific response to a threat characterized by the absence of movement except for respiration. This behaviour was used as a measure of fear memory retention (conditioned emotional fear response) and scored throughout for all electric foot shock induced contextual fear recall tests and during the first and last 90-s of conditioning using automated software (FreezeFrame, Coulbourn Instruments) as a percentage of total time (s) for each.

# 4.3.4.2 Electric Foot Shock Induced Auditory Fear Conditioning and Associative Memory Testing

Auditory fear conditioning and memory retention tests were conducted in modified conditioning chambers. For auditory fear conditioning, chambers had the drop pans underneath the shockable floor filled with corncob bedding, the walls covered with white printer paper, and lemon extract solution wiped over the chamber surfaces and reapplied after each animals' usage (Context B). To condition mice to fear a tone in this setting, mice were placed individually into separate chambers and after 120-s subjected to two identical pairings of a 30-s, 80-dB tone (to be conditioned stimulus) co-terminating with a 2-s, 0.7-mA foot shock with the first and second pairings separated by a 60-s interval. Following the co-termination of the second tone-shock pairing, mice remained in the chambers for an additional 120-s before being removed for a total training time of 360-s (Mac Callum et al., 2014).

Auditory fear memory retention tests were conducted 48-h and 10-days after training in chambers again altered to best limit the influences of past experiences of mice within them. For both recall tests wooden platforms were placed over the shockable floors, brown cardboard inserts were used to cover the side walls, strips of different coloured electrical (insulating) tape were placed across the front and back walls, and vanilla extract was wiped over chamber surfaces and reapplied after each animals' usage (Context C). For each of the two identical 240-s recall tests, mice were individually placed into separate chambers and after 120-s the same auditory tone used during conditioning was played for the last 120-s of the retention test. No foot shocks were administered during any auditory fear recall test. Freezing behaviour during the first 120-s of recall was used as a measure of generalized fear, whereas, freezing elicited by the conditioned auditory tone during playback was used as a measure of cued fear memory strength. In addition, freezing response was measured for the 120-s period before the first tone was activated and the in the 120-s following the co-termination of the last tone-shock pairing during training. All freezing data for auditory-cued fear conditioning and memory probes were obtained using automated software (FreezeFrame, Coulbourn Instruments) as a percentage of total time (s) for each.

#### 4.3.4.3 Psychogenic Predator Exposure and Associative Contextual Memory Testing

Two identical predator exposure arenas were assembled with each arena consisting of a clear polycarbonate cage (47-cm x 26-cm x 20-cm) and a Plexiglass partition to divide the width of the cage into two equal compartments. The bottom half of each transparent Plexiglas divider was

perforated to allow for unobstructed olfactory, visual, and auditory stimuli of the opposite compartment. The floor of one compartment was-covered with corncob bedding (rat compartment), while the floor of the other compartment was-left bare (mouse compartment). To prevent animals from escaping during use, a piece of transparent perforated Plexiglass was placed on the top of the arena. Behaviour was recorded using a digital camcorder mounted to a miniature tripod facing the mouse compartment of the cage for predator exposures and arena reexposures. All predator stress procedures occurred in a different room from electric foot shockinduced associative learning and testing procedures.

Mice and rats were habituated to one of the identical arenas by placing each mouse or rat into their respective compartments without the presence of the other in the opposing compartment for 300-s once a day for five consecutive days. Despite cages being sterilized between each animals' usage, one arena was used exclusively for all five-days of habituations for mice, while the second identical cage was used exclusively for all habituation sessions for rats to minimize odour contamination between species. A day after the last habituation session, mice were placed into the compartment with no bedding, but instead of an unoccupied second compartment, there was a rat (the psychogenic unconditioned stimulus) in the opposite bedded compartment for the inescapable, but protected predator exposure event for 300-s. One week later, each mouse was returned to the predator exposure arena (conditioned context) without the rat for a single 300-s re-exposure session to test the associative memory strength of pairing an ecologically relevant psychogenic stressor with a specific context (see Expt. 9 below for further details of experimental timeline). Recorded video from each mouse's rat exposure and context re-exposure were scored using automated software (EthoVision XT, Noldus, Wageningen, GE, NL) for total

88

time (s) immobile (used as a proxy for freezing behaviour, set at a threshold of 5% change in pixels of the subject independent of their spatial displacement as per Pham et al., 2009).

## 4.3.5 Experiments

Please see Figures for schematics of experimental timelines.

Experiment 1. Mice were re-exposed to the conditioning chambers two days after contextual fear training (Day 3). Three hours after memory retrieval, mice received a single i.p. injection of VEH (n = 14) or RAPA (n = 14). Post-retrieval context memory was then tested two days after the initial re-exposure (four days after conditioning, Day 5).

Experiment 2. The same procedure was repeated from experiment 1, but VEH (n = 14) and RAPA (n = 14) treated mice were tested for reconsolidated memory seven days instead of at two days post-retrieval (Day 10).

Experiment 3. Two days after contextual fear training (Day 3), mice were re-exposed to the conditioning chambers, then injected with either VEH (n = 13) or RAPA (n = 14) 12 h later. Post-retrieval memory was tested two days following re-exposure (Day 5).

Experiment 4. This experiment was identical to experiment 3, but VEH (n = 14) and RAPA (n = 14) treated mice were tested for reconsolidated memory seven days instead of two days post-retrieval (Day 10).

Experiment 5. Starting one day after contextual fear training, mice were re-exposed to the conditioning chambers once a day for three consecutive days and received an injection of VEH (n = 15) or RAPA (n = 15) immediately following each re-exposure (Days 2-4). Memory for the fear learning context was assessed for recall across these three days, then probed one (Day 5) and eight days (Day 12) after the last re-exposure and drug treatment.

Experiment 6. The experiment described above was repeated, but with an extra re-exposure session that included a "reminder shock" interposed into the experimental timeline 4-h after the last re-exposure and drug treatment (VEH, n = 15; RAPA, n = 15). Like the previous experiment, recall tests were carried out one (Day 5) and eight days (Day 12) after the last re-exposure and drug treatment.

Experiment 7. Two days after contextual fear conditioning, mice were re-exposed to the training context, then treated with VEH (n = 15) or RAPA (n = 15) immediately thereafter (Day 3). Post-retrieval contextual fear memory was assessed seven days later in the same learning environment (Day 10). Four days later, mice received auditory (cued) fear training (Day 14). Memory to the fear conditioned tone was then tested two (Day 16) and ten days (Day 24) after auditory fear conditioning.

Experiment 8. Immediately after contextual fear conditioning (Day 1), mice were treated with VEH (n = 15) or RAPA (n = 15) and were tested for contextual fear recall seven days later (Day 8). Four days after contextual fear recall, mice were conditioned to fear an auditory tone (Day
12). Memory to the fear conditioned tone was then tested two (Day 14) and ten days (Day 22) after auditory fear conditioning.

Experiment 9. VEH (n = 15) or RAPA (n = 16) was administered to mice immediately following predator exposure (Day 1). Mice were then evaluated seven days later for contextual fear memory to the psychogenic stress event (Day 8). Four days after context re-exposure, mice were conditioned to fear an auditory tone (Day 12). Memory to the fear conditioned tone was then tested two (Day 14) and ten days (Day 22) after auditory fear conditioning.

## 4.3.6 Statistics

Independent t-tests were used to evaluate differences for certain events prior to drug manipulation where appropriate (e.g., first re-exposure to the conditioning context) and when only a single recall test followed drug treatment (Huynh et al., 2014). Mixed analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests with drug group, experimental day, and procedural phases (i.e., the time period before tone activation and the time period during tone activation) as main factors were used to evaluate freezing behaviour in experiments with multiple recall events following drug treatment. Mixed ANOVA tests were also used to assess foot shock induced changes in freezing during training sessions to ensure there were no learning differences between groups (pre-learning (90-s period before the first foot shock for contextual fear conditioning or the 120-s period before the first tone was played during auditory fear conditioning) and post-learning (90-s or 120-s period after the last foot shock for contextual or auditory fear conditioning, respectively). Where appropriate, Bonferroni post hoc contrasts or *a priori* t-tests were used for follow-up between or

within group comparisons. Data organization and statistical analyzes were made using SPSS (IMB, Armonk, NY, US) and Excel (Microsoft, Redmond, WA, US), while figures were made using Prism (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, US). Group data is reported as mean  $\pm$  standard error, with significance taken at p < 0.05.

## 4.4 Results

For all experiments using a foot-shock context conditioning protocol, as expected, naïve mice froze significantly more in the 90-s period following the last foot shock compared to the 90-s preceding the first foot shock during conditioning, indicating acquisition of contextual fear learning had taken place (data not shown for mixed ANOVA tests, but all experiments found a significant main effect of time, p < .05). Moreover, since all mice were naïve to the conditioning chambers and had not yet received pharmacological treatment, as anticipated, there were no between-subjects differences found in freezing behaviour during either of these periods (first 90s and last 90-s) of the contextual fear conditioning procedure [data not shown, all p > .05 for main effect of treatment]. Likewise, for all reconsolidation experiments, expectedly there were no differences in freezing between groups when mice were first re-exposed to the chambers they received contextual fear conditioning in since no drug manipulation had yet occurred (see results below for more details; all t-tests, p > .05).

4.4.1 Systemic rapamycin 3-h or 12-h post-retrieval impairs the reconsolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory



## Figure 4.1 RAPA

administered three hours after reactivation attenuates the reconsolidation and persistence of shockinduced contextual fear memory. (A) Timeline of Expt. 1 and 2. Both experiments were identical, except the post-reactivation memory probe was on Day 5 for Expt. 1 and Day 10 for Expt. 2. Mice that received RAPA three hours post-reactivation froze significantly less than their VEH counterparts when

probed for subsequent memory retention two (B) or seven (C) days after reactivation. Data represented as mean and  $\pm$ SEM. Statistical significance denoted by \* (p < 0.05). CFC: Contextual Fear Conditioning, VEH: Vehicle, RAPA: Rapamycin.



controls when probed for retention two days after reactivation but this was not significantly different. (C) In contrast, when deferring the memory probe by a week after reactivation, RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less than their VEH-treated counterparts did. Data represented as mean and  $\pm$ SEM. Statistical significance denoted by \* (p < 0.05). CFC: Contextual Fear Conditioning, VEH: Vehicle, RAPA: Rapamycin.

In our first set of experiments (Expt. 1-4), we examined whether RAPA administered several hours after retrieval would interfere with the reconsolidation and persistence of a fear memory (Fig. 4.1A & 4.2A). When injected 3-h post-reactivation, RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less than their VEH counterparts when probed for fear memory retention two (Day 5) (t (26) = 2.074, p = .048; Expt. 1, Fig. 4.1B) or seven days later (Day 10) (t (26) = 2.513, p = .019; Expt. 2, Fig. 4.1C). When injected 12-h post-reactivation, RAPA and VEH treated mice did not differ when tested for retention two days after reactivation (Day 5) (although a possible trend appeared, t (25) = 1.884, p = .071; Expt. 3, Fig 4.2B) but differed when tested seven days later (Day 10) (t (26) = 2.972, p = .006, Expt. 4, Fig. 4.2C).

# 4.4.2 Two consecutive days of post-retrieval rapamycin treatment maximizes memory impairment through disrupted reconsolidation

We next sought to determine whether we could maximize fear memory impairment in mice by repeating the procedure of administering RAPA immediately after reactivation for three consecutive days (Expt. 5, Fig 4.3A). Expectedly, mice randomized to either RAPA or VEH treatment groups froze comparably during the first reactivation session prior to receiving any treatment on Day 2 (data not shown, p > .05). A mixed ANOVA of the freezing data for all other reactivation sessions after the first drug treatment on Day 2 (i.e., reactivation two (Day 3) and three (Day 4), each paired with drug treatment) and the recall tests 24-h (Day 5) and eight days (Day 12) after the last drug treatment revealed a significant main effect of drug treatment [F (1, 28) = 11.149, p = .002] and main effect of day [F (3, 84) = 21.101, p < .001], but no interaction

effect of day X drug treatment [F (3, 84) = .648, p = .587]. RAPA-treated mice showed significantly reduced freezing behaviour during the second reactivation session compared to the first reactivation session immediately prior to the mice receiving their first drug treatment (RAPA, Day 2 vs. Day 3; t (14) = 5.344, p < .001). Bonferroni corrected paired sample t-tests indicated significantly further reduced freezing in RAPA-treated mice from the second reactivation session-drug treatment to the third reactivation recall session (Day 3 vs. Day 4; p = .003), but with no additional significant reductions yielded from the third reactivation-treatment (Day 4 vs Day 5; p = 1.00) or across the two recall tests (Day 5 vs. Day 12; p = .066; Fig. 4.3B). VEH treated mice showed a trend of diminished freezing over time but none of the repeated within group contrasts were significantly different (all p > .05). Between group comparisons (using Bonferroni corrections) after the first reactivation session and first drug treatment revealed that RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less than their VEH counterparts during the second (Day 3; p = .036) and third (Day 4; p = 0.016) reactivation sessions, and eight days after the last drug treatment (Day 12; p = .024) but not 24-h after the last treatment (Day 5; p = .116; Fig. 4.3B).



**Figure 4.3** Additional RAPA-paired reactivation sessions further diminishes the associative strength of a shockinduced contextual fear memory. (A) Timeline for Expt. 5. (B) Two postreactivation treatments were sufficient to maximize the reduction in freezing within the RAPA treatment group

(Reactivation 1 v. 2 and Reactivation 2 v. 3). Moreover, following the first reactivation and drug treatment on Day 2, RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less than VEH-treated mice on Day 3 (Reactivation + Treatment 2), Day 4 (Reactivation + Treatment 3), and Day 12 (Probe, seven days after the last reactivation and drug treatment). Data represented as mean and  $\pm$ SEM. Statistical significance denoted by \* (p < 0.05). CFC: Contextual Fear Conditioning, VEH: Vehicle, RAPA: Rapamycin.

While we demonstrated in the previous experiment that consecutive days of reactivation paired with RAPA could further diminish subsequent post-reactivation memory, we wanted to know whether this effect was due to augmented extinction or reconsolidation interference. To try to tease this a part, we repeated the previous experiment but interposed a 0.2 mA, 1-s "reminder shock" 4-h after the last context re-exposure and drug treatment into the experimental timeline (Expt. 6, Fig. 4.4A). A mixed ANOVA of the freezing data for all reactivation and recall sessions after the first drug treatment (i.e., reactivation two (Day 3) and three (Day 4), each paired with drug treatment, the 'reminder shock' re-exposure session (Day 4'), and the recall tests 24-h (Day 5) and eight days (Day 12) after the last drug treatment) revealed a significant main effect of drug treatment [F (1, 28) = 16.076, p = .001] and day [F (4, 112) = 2.953, p < .001.023], but no interaction effect of day X drug treatment [F (4, 112) = 1.235, p = .300]. Like the previous experiment, RAPA treatment immediately after the first and second reactivation significantly reduced subsequent post-reactivation conditioned responding (RAPA, Bonferroni corrected: reactivation 1 vs. 2 (Day 2 vs. 3); p = .001; 2 vs. 3 (Day 3 vs. 4); p = .04; Fig. 4B). There were also no significant changes from the third reactivation-RAPA pairing to the recall test 24-h later (Day 4 vs. 5) or between the recall tests one week apart (Day 5 vs. 12; all p > .05) despite the addition of the 'reminder shock' after the last RAPA treatment. Freezing from VEHtreated mice did not significantly change over time from session to session and remained very stable across the two recall sessions after receiving the 'reminder shock' (all p > .05). Moreover, RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less than VEH mice at all recall sessions following the first reactivation and drug treatment (Bonferroni corrected; reactivation two (Day 3), p = .032; reactivation three (Day 4), p < .001; recall test one (Day 5), p = .028; and recall test two (Day 12), p = .020; Fig. 4.4B).



(reactivation) "reminder shock" session four hours after the last reactivation and drug treatment. (B) Two post-reactivation treatments were again sufficient to maximize the reduction in freezing within the RAPA treatment group alone (Reactivation 1 v. 2 and Reactivation 2 v. 3). Following the first post-reactivation drug treatment on Day 2, RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less than VEH-treated mice during each of the next two reactivation sessions (Days 3 and 4), during the "reminder shock" session (Day 4'), and during each recall probe (Day 5 and 12) despite the addition of the "reminder shock" session. Data represented as mean and  $\pm$ SEM. Statistical

significance denoted by \* (p < 0.05). CFC: Contextual Fear Conditioning, VEH: Vehicle, RAPA: Rapamycin.

4.4.3 Post-reactivation and post-conditioning rapamycin treatment attenuates subsequent recall but does not impair the ability to learn a new Pavlovian association and protects against generalized fear

We then turned our focus to examining whether RAPA-impaired reconsolidation for a specific memory interferes with the ability to learn and recall a new associative memory (Expt. 7, Fig. 4.5A). We found that RAPA-treated mice showed significantly reduced freezing compared to VEH controls when probed for fear memory recall to Context A on Day 10 (t (28) = 3.505, p = .002; Fig. 4.5B). Differences in freezing behaviour were punctuated further during auditory fear conditioning in Context B on Day 14 (Mixed ANOVA: main effect of treatment, F(1, 28) =9.402, p = .005; main effect of time (1, 28) = 146.042, p < .001; but no interaction effect, F (1, (28) = 2.848, p = .103). Indeed, each group demonstrating learning by freezing significantly more in the 120 s period following the last tone-shock paring compared to freezing during the equal period of time preceding when the first tone was played (Bonferroni post hoc tests: RAPA, p < .001; VEH, p < .001; Fig. 4.5C). However, RAPA-treated mice still froze significantly less than their VEH counterparts did during either of these time periods (Bonferroni post hoc tests: first 120 sec of training, p = .022; last 120 s of training, p = .024; Fig. 4.5C). Freezing behaviour was also significantly different during auditory fear recall tests in Context C on Day 16 and 24 (Mixed ANOVA: main effect of treatment, F (1, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3, 28) = 19.053, p < .001; main effect of time (3(84) = 41.061, p < .001; and an interaction effect of treatment x time F (3, 84) = 10.853, p < .001;

Fig. 4.5D). Specifically, RAPA-treated mice demonstrated standard recall for an auditory fear memory procedure by freezing significantly more during the second-half of each recall test when the conditioning tone was replayed (last 120 s) compared to the first-half (first 120 s) when no auditory stimuli were activated (Bonferroni post hoc tests: both p < .001; Day 16 & 24, respectively). VEH-treated mice, however, only showed this pattern during the second recall test on Day 24 (p = .028), and not during the first recall test on Day 16 where freezing was comparably high during their first encounter with Context C and when they first re-encountered the conditioning tone (p = .884). Between subjects contrasts of both auditory recall sessions revealed that RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less than VEH mice during the first halves (no auditory stimuli) of both recall sessions and the second half (conditioning auditory cue replayed) of the first recall test but not the second test (Bonferroni post hoc tests: Day 16, first 120 s, p > .001, last 120 s, p = .044; Day 24, first 120 s, p = .016, last 120 s, p = 1.00; Fig. 4.5D).



Figure 4.5 RAPA-impaired reconsolidation does not affect the ability to subsequently learn and recall a new fear association but does confer protection against fear generalization to new contexts. (A) Timeline for Expt. 7. (B) Mice that received RAPA treatment immediately after CFC reactivation for Context A on Day 3 froze significantly less than VEH-treated mice when probed for post-reactivation CFC memory to Context A on Day 10. (C) In Context B on Day 14, both groups of mice demonstrated AFC acquisition, but RAPAtreated mice still froze significantly less than VEH-treated mice during both the 120 s pre tone and post tone periods of the AFC session. (D) During AFC recall probes in Context C on Days 16 and 24, RAPAtreated mice froze very little to the context in general but did freeze when the

conditioning tone replayed. In contrast, VEH-treated mice froze highly both to the new context and the conditioning tone on Day 16, then behaved in a similar manner to RAPA-treated mice during the second recall test on Day 24. Regardless, RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less

than VEH-treated mice during both the first (no tone) and second (tone) halves of the first recall probe (Day 16) and during the first half of the second the probe (Day 24). Data represented as mean and  $\pm$ SEM. Statistical significance denoted by \* (p < 0.05). AFC: Auditory Fear Conditioning, CFC: Contextual Fear Conditioning, VEH: Vehicle, RAPA: Rapamycin.

Since mTORC1 also contributes to the memory consolidation (Gafford et al., 2011; Jobim et al., 2012a, b; Mac Callum et al., 2014; Parsons et al., 2006b), we were curious to test whether RAPA-induced impairment of fear memory consolidation for one specific context would also protect mice against fear generalization to new contexts without interfering with the ability to learn and remember a new aversive association (Expt. 8, Fig. 4.6A). An independent t-test of freezing data from the context recall test on Day 8 revealed that mice treated with RAPA immediately after training froze significantly less than VEH-treated mice when returned to Context A (t (28) = 2.467, p = .020). When we introduced the mice to Context B for auditory fear training four days later on Day 12, RAPA-treated mice first showed reduced freezing compared to VEH-treated mice, but overall we found no differences between groups, with both VEH and RAPA-treated mice demonstrating increased freezing after the final tone-shock pairing (Mixed ANOVA: main effect of time, F (1, 28) = 133.713, p < .001, but no main effect of treatment, F (1, 28) = 2.688, p = .112 or interaction effect, F (1, 28) = 3.826, p = .061; Fig. 4.6B). A mixed ANOVA of the auditory fear recall tests in Context C on Day 14 and 22, however, revealed significant differences between groups (main effect of treatment, F(1, 28) =15.331, p < .001; main effect of time, F (3, 84) = 10.803, p < .001; but no interaction effect, F (3, 84) = 2.274, p = .086). Although both groups froze comparably during the second half of each test when the conditioning tone was replayed (Bonferroni post hoc tests: p > .05, for both Day 14 and 22, respectively), RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less during the first half of each test, prior to the auditory stimuli being activated (Bonferroni post hoc tests: Day 14, p = .032; Day 22, p > .001, Fig. 4.6C).

Based on the results of Expt. 8, we were interested in whether a similar pattern of findings would follow if we used a psychogenic stressor instead of a physical stressor during contextual fear conditioning (Expt. 9, Fig 4.6A). We found no differences between groups during predator exposure, as both sets of mice demonstrated high levels of immobility (freezing) within the protected half of the arena (data not shown, all p > .05). During re-exposure to the conditioning arena seven days later (Day 8) there were again no differences in immobility between groups (t (28) = .148, p = .884). However, when mice were subjected to auditory fear conditioning in Context B on Day 12, a mixed ANOVA of freezing data revealed a significant main effect of treatment (F (1, 28) = 11.858, p = .002) and a significant main effect of time (F (1, 28) = 92.299, p = <.001), but no interaction effect (F (1, 28) = 1.670, p = .207). Both groups froze significantly more during the time period following the last tone-shock pairing compared to freezing during the time period immediately prior to the to-be-conditioned tone being played (Bonferroni post hoc tests: both p < .05 for VEH and RAPA, respectively). RAPA-treated mice, however, froze significantly less during both of these two time periods than VEH-treated mice (Bonferroni post-hocs: pre-tone, p = .038; post last tone-shock pairing, p = .024; Fig. 4.6D). Auditory fear recall probes on Day 14 and 22 in Context C also revealed significant differences in freezing behaviour (mixed ANOVA: main effect of treatment, F (1, 28) = 5.756, p = .023, main effect of time, F (3, 84) = 69.867, p = < .001, while an interaction effect approached significance, F (3, 84) = 2.703, p = .051). Each group froze significantly more during the time

the tone was replayed than when it was off for each probe in Context C (all p < .05 for both VEH and RAPA). Likewise, both groups of mice demonstrated similar levels of conditioned responding when the tone was replayed in the second half of each recall probe (Bonferroni post hoc tests: all p > .05 for both Day 14 and 22). Nevertheless, RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less than VEH mice in the first half of each probe before the conditioned tone was activated (Day 14, p = .04; Day 22, p = .048; Fig. 4.6E).



**Figure 4.6** Post-conditioning RAPA treatment does not interfere with the capacity to subsequently learn and recall a new fear association and protects against fear generalization to new contexts. (A) Timeline of Expt. 8 and 9. Expt. 8 used a physical, foot-shock, stressor,

whereas, Expt. 9, used a psychogenic, predator-exposure, stress during contextual fear conditioning, immediately prior to drug treatment. (B) Impaired CFC consolidation to the shockassociated Context A by RAPA did not alter AFC acquisition in Context B on Day 12. (C) Both RAPA and VEH-treated mice froze comparably to the AFC tone replay during probes in Context C on Days 14 and 22, but prior to the tone being activated RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less than their VEH counterparts. (D) Post-predator stress RAPA-treatment did not alter immobility (freezing) to Context A upon re-exposure but it did decrease freezing in the period immediately before and after AFC in Context B on Day 12 compared to VEH-treated mice, although both groups demonstrated AFC acquisition. (E) Both groups of predator-stressed mice showed similar levels of freezing to the conditioning tone during AFC memory probes in Context C on Days 14 and 22, but RAPA-treated mice froze significantly less when the AFC tone was not turned on. Data represented as mean and  $\pm$ SEM. Statistical significance denoted by \* (p < 0.05). AFC: Auditory Fear Conditioning, CFC: Contextual Fear Conditioning, VEH: Vehicle, RAPA: Rapamycin.

#### 4.5 Discussion

We investigated basic mTORC1-dependent fear memory processes to better understand the therapeutic potential of rapamycin (RAPA). We demonstrate that RAPA injected three or 12 hours after contextual fear retrieval diminishes memory persistence. RAPA acts via blocking reconsolidation as repeated reactivation with RAPA impairs recall with or without a reminder shock. Further, while RAPA impairs the consolidation or reconsolidation of a specific memory it does not interfere with the ability to learn a new fear association. Moreover, RAPA-treated mice

show an absence of fear generalization to new contexts. Overall, our results suggest that RAPA has persistent effects on reconsolidated fear memory, does not alter the formation of new memories, and reduces generalized fear to novel contexts.

Several studies have established a time-limited role for *de novo* protein synthesis, and in particular mTORC1 translational control of protein synthesis, for reconsolidation to occur (Jobim et al., 2012a b; Nader et al., 2000; Yan et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2021). In these studies, RAPA or anisomycin delivered immediately after reactivation, but not 6 h later, impaired recall the next day. Interestingly, recent reports have shown anisomycin injected ~12 hours, but not at 5 or 24 hours, post-reactivation for a contextual fear memory impairs subsequent recall when tested seven days but not two days after retrieval (Nakayama et al., 2013; Nakayama et al., 2016). The effects of delayed protein-synthesis inhibition implies an additional time-window of susceptibility after the initial reactivation window, which appears to contribute to the persistence of a reconsolidated memory. Indeed, this interpretation aligns with our findings as we showed RAPA given three or 12 hours after reactivation impaired memory persistence (at 7 days) but only RAPA given three hours post-reactivation (not 12 hours) impaired reconsolidation (at 2 days).

Overall, our current and past work indicates contextual fear memory reconsolidation and persistence is vulnerable to RAPA at three time points post-reactivation (Blundell et al., 2008). First, immediately after reactivation, second, 3 h post-reactivation, and lastly, 12 h postreactivation. Although our results imply the possibility of discrete, recurrent RAPA-sensitive events that contribute to the reconsolidation and persistence of memory, the time points we used to inject RAPA are far from exhaustive and limit our interpretations. It is possible that RAPAsensitivity immediately after and 3-h post-reactivation to contextual fear reconsolidation and persistence is unitary between these time points and part of the initial time window of vulnerability before re-stabilization as we did not test any intermediary time points between 0 and 3 h post-reactivation. Likewise, we did not test any intermediary points between the 3 and 12 h injections unlike Nakayama et al. (2013), which indicated at the very least a break point between periods of post-reactivation susceptibility to anisomycin on subsequent memory recall. Nonetheless, our temporal information on the susceptibility to RAPA provides some initial insights into how mTORC1-signalling might be contributing to the reconsolidation and persistence of reactivated memory. Moreover, therapeutically, our data imply that if RAPA treatment has to be delayed post-reactivation, there is still the prospect of the drug contributing long-lasting impairments to the trauma-associated memory.

We also assessed whether additional pairings of context re-exposure with RAPA would further impair fear memory retention. Consistent with our earlier work (Blundell et al., 2008), we demonstrated that memory recall was significantly diminished in RAPA-treated mice compared to VEH-treated mice when probed eight days after the last of several reactivation-drug treatment pairings. Moreover, a key reason for conducting these experiments was to determine if there were any additive effects of repeating the reactivation and drug treatment procedure *within* the RAPA group alone. We found two consecutive days of reactivation, each followed by systemic RAPA treatment (i.e., reactivation 1 v. 2 and reactivation 2 v. 3), maximized the impairment incurred to the associative strength of the contextual fear memory. While a third RAPA treatment did not provide any further significant reductions to conditioned responding, the

effects of three consecutive treatments remained consistent post-treatment and deterred any rebound in fear responding (reinstatement) via the reminder-shock. Importantly, this insensitivity to the reminder-shock is consistent with our earlier work with just a single reactivation and RAPA treatment (Blundell et al., 2008), and posits that under these circumstances post-reactivation mTORC1 inhibition is weakening reconsolidation rather than enhancing fear memory extinction. Therapeutically this would be advantageous, as this implies that the return or relapse of the emotional fear response is unlikely, which would not necessarily occur under altered extinction.

We would be remiss, however, if we neglected to discuss the support for mTORC1 signalling in fear extinction processes (de Carvalho Myskiw et al., 2014; Girgenti et al., 2016; Huynh et al., 2018; Moya et al., 2020; Penha Farias et al., 2019; Radiske et al., 2021; Rosa et al., 2023; Song et al., 2018). In these studies, RAPA administration around the time of re-exposure to a conditioned stimulus or context increased subsequent retention of the conditioned response. Ostensibly, these studies parallel reconsolidation experiments but with opposite expected behavioural outcomes from RAPA treatment (i.e., impaired extinction). However, in general, most of these studies used much longer re-exposures to the conditioned stimulus or context during reactivation; which is conducive for activating extinction instead of reconsolidation (Inaba et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2006; Lunardi et al., 2018; Pedreira & Maldonado, 2003; Suzuki et al., 2004). Nevertheless, these reconsolidation and extinction studies highlight the dynamic role of mTORC1 in two opposing memory processes elicited by retrieval but also underscores the need to understand the parameters that are the most auspicious for RAPA to influence these processes.

Taking this into consideration, another important boundary condition between reconsolidation and extinction worth mentioning is the interval between acquisition and first retrieval. Reactivated, recent memories, following a short interval between acquisition and first retrieval, such as the intervals we used in our first seven experiments (24-48-h), are receptive to engaging reconsolidation processes. With longer latencies, memories become more remote, less likely to reconsolidate, and more likely to extinguish, but paradoxically, can be destabilized with longer reminder durations (Frankland et al., 2006; Inda et al., 2011; Ishikawa et al., 2016; Suzuki et al., 2004). As such, it will be important for future studies to investigate if our findings are replicable using much longer intervals between acquisition and retrieval (e.g., 3 or 8 weeks). Likewise, although the context re-exposure duration (240-s) we used was sufficient for RAPA to interfere with reconsolidation, it will be interesting to find out if this holds true for remote memories or whether longer re-exposure durations are required. Studying remote memories will also be therapeutically relevant for PTSD, since traumatic memories are enduring, cues and contexts associated with the trauma are actively avoided, there are pervasive delays in making initial treatment contact, and early interventions are often not readily available (Goldberg et al., 2019; Kida, 2019; Tsai & Gräff, 2014; Wang et al., 2005).

In our final three experiments, we found that a single systemic injection of RAPA after contextual fear conditioning or reactivation does not subsequently interfere with the ability to learn and recall a new auditory-shock association. In contrast to learning new associations, two previous studies have shown relearning or retraining of the same associations after initial RAPAinduced impairment of consolidation (Bekinschtein et al., 2007b; Tischmeyer et al., 2002). Levin et al. (2017) reported that RAPA-impaired reconsolidation for a shock-associated memory did not affect subsequent object recognition memory and enhanced object location memory. However, in that experiment those tasks focused on short-term, working memory changes, whereas our work focused on changes to new Pavlovian learning and long-term memory expression. We also found RAPA treatment protected against fear generalization to the new environments where auditory fear conditioning and recall took place. Levin et al. (2017) similarly showed in the same experiment mentioned above that post-reactivation RAPA normalized shock-induced freezing enhancement to a novel open field environment. Together, these works and ours, augurs well for potential clinical use of RAPA, as it indicates no permanent learning or memory impairments and a potential reduction in fear overgeneralization, which occurs in many trauma and anxiety-related disorders such as PTSD (Cooper et al., 2022; Morey et al., 2015). An important caveat worth mentioning about our findings, however, is we only used male mice subjects. This limitation will need to be addressed for our work to have broader applicability, especially considering there are sex and gender based differences in PTSD (APA, 2022; Careaga et al., 2016; Kar, 2011; Maren & Holmes, 2016).

Despite our consolidation experiments having similar findings for auditory fear and fear generalization, we did not discover any changes in freezing (immobility) of RAPA-treated mice returned to the predator exposure context seven days after training and drug treatment unlike what we found for shock-conditioned mice. It is possible that our predator exposure procedure is not amenable to inducing conditioned immobility but perhaps other behaviours related to predator defense. Indeed, this interpretation has credence as Philbert and colleagues (2015) showed increased locomotor activity and escape attempts in mice re-exposed to the context where they experienced the mouse defense test battery, which is a very systematic and sequenced

111

exposure to a rat to test mouse defensive repertoire (Blanchard et al., 2003). Homiack et al. (2017) similarly reported increased hyperactivity and decreased freezing in rats re-exposed to a context where they previously experienced a predator odor. To address this, future experiments by us using this paradigm will need to include a context only exposure control group and include a wider ethogram of behaviours beyond just immobility to screen for contextual conditioning associability. Nevertheless, we view this work as important first steps in establishing an associative psychogenic, predator, stress model that can be used to investigate not just consolidation but also reconsolidation of conditioned responding as this been long overlooked in predator stress models.

In conclusion, our findings demonstrate that contextual fear memory reconsolidation and persistence is susceptible to RAPA injected systemically at 3-h post-reactivation, whereas RAPA delivered 12 h after reactivation impairs the persistence of the post-reactivated memory. Moreover, we show that two consecutive days of reactivation paired with immediate RAPA treatment maximizes memory impairment likely through disrupted reconsolidation. Lastly, we found that RAPA-impaired consolidation and reconsolidation does not interferes with the ability to further learn and remember a new fear association, but provides protection against fear generalization to new contexts. Collectively, our reconsolidation findings provide preclinical evidence of RAPA as a putative treatment enhancer to combat PTSD-like re-experiencing.

#### **Chapter 5: Thesis Conclusions**

In this dissertation, I focused on further elucidating the contribution of mTOR (predominately mTORC1) to fear memory consolidation, reconsolidation, and persistence in rodents, relating how these mTOR-dependent memory processes might be contributing to PTSD-like symptoms, and determining if pharmacological inhibition of mTORC1 with RAPA is effective at disrupting PTSD-like symptoms.

### **5.1 Overview of Findings**

**Chapter 2.** I found that RAPA administered immediately after foot-shock contextual fear conditioning impairs the consolidation and persistence of the associative contextual fear memory in mice without interfering with the short-term expression of the memory. When I delayed RAPA treatment by three-hours post-conditioning, the consolidation and persistence of the contextual fear memory suffered in mice, whereas delaying treatment by 12-hours post-conditioning did not alter consolidation or persistence of the memory. In a dose-response experiment, I demonstrated that the dual mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 dose-dependently impairs the consolidation and persistence of the context foot-shock memory similar to RAPA. In contrast, when I targeted S6K1, often used as a readout of mTORC1 activity, with the S6K1 inhibitor PF-4708671, this only revealed a slight diminishment in the strength of the fear memory in mice over time.

**Chapter 3**. Complementing an earlier study that found RAPA impairs the consolidation of associative and non-associative fear memories in rats following a brief unprotected exposure to a

cat (Fifield et al., 2013); my immunohistochemistry work revealed an increase in mTORC1 activity in brain areas important to memory and elicited predator responses (i.e., the hippocampus and periaqueductal grey) of rats shortly after this type of predator stress. Additionally, I piloted a wholly psychogenic mouse-rat exposure paradigm to determine if it could elicit conditioned responses in mice following predator stress, as hitherto this, the Rat Exposure Test was only used to assay innate mouse defensive behaviours during and immediately after said exposures. The brief protected exposure to a rat induced conditioned associative fear responding from mice, with the negative valence of some of these behaviours weakened from post-exposure RAPA treatment.

**Chapter 4**. By delaying RAPA treatment three- and 12-hours post-reactivation of a context footshock memory in mice, I discovered that this resulted in impaired memory persistence, with a diminishing effect against memory reconsolidation as the time between the reactivation and RAPA administration increased. When I subjected mice to three consecutive days of memory retrieval paired immediately thereafter with RAPA, this resulted in maximal impairment of reconsolidation after two consecutive days of reactivation and treatment, with the third reactivation and treatment not providing any additional significant changes to freezing. Moreover, this effect from multiple reactivation and RAPA treatments was resistant to reinstatement from a subthreshold 'reminder' shock. Lastly, my research revealed that postconditioning (via a mice exposed to a rat or foot-shock) and post-retrieval (via foot-shock to mice) RAPA treatment does not result in any permanent impairments in the ability to learn and recall a new foot-shock induced auditory fear memory, while also conferring protection against fear generalization to new contexts.

114

# 5.2 Consolidation, Reconsolidation, (and) Persistence, and Time-Dependent Effects of Rapamycin

My findings from delaying drug treatment following conditioning and reactivation add to a growing body of evidence supporting the postulation that delayed molecular events long after learning or recall largely contribute to the longevity of an engram (Bekinschtein et al., 2007a; Bekinschtein et al., 2010; Bourtchouladze et al., 1998; Freeman et al., 1995; Grechsch & Matthies, 1980; Igaz, et al., 2002; Katche et al., 2016; Krawczyk et al., 2016; Mac Callum et al., 2014; Martinez-Moreno et al., 2011; Nakayama et al., 2013; Nakayama et al., 2016; Ou et al., 2009; Pena et al., 2014; Pereira et al., 2019; Quevedo et al., 1999; Rossato et al., 2007; Trifilieff, et al., 2006; Wanisch et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2013). As such, it might be tempting to suggest that my findings and those by others demonstrating the effects of delayed pharmacological or other manipulations are evidence against the notion of single restricted time-limited windows of vulnerability immediately around the time of learning and reactivation to interfere with consolidation and reconsolidation, respectively. However, I argue rather, that these results are complimentary insofar as they provide a plausible link between initial memory formation and restabilization with the persistence of a memory through recurrent consolidation- and reconsolidation-like events.

In studies that have shown a limited time-window of susceptibility to pharmacological manipulations (i.e., a lack of effect from delayed treatment) against memory consolidation and reconsolidation, they typically only tested for memory changes 24 to 48-hours post-training or reactivation (Jobim et al., 2012a, b; Nader et al., 2000; Yan et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2021). Conversely, my work, like the other studies that have shown protracted timepoints of

susceptibility to interference, distinguished between changes to consolidation and reconsolidation versus changes to persistence by testing separate cohorts of rodents at 24 to 48hours and seven-days post-training or reactivation, respectively. Doing this allows for the establishment of events that are likely acting on consolidation and reconsolidation in the nearterm of a newly established or recently reactivated long-term memory (~24 to 48-hours), while highlighting those events that appear to only be essential for the long-term maintenance of a memory trace (~ a week). It should be noted, however, that although such protracted molecular events following learning or reactivation appear to have a strong proclivity towards influencing memory persistence (and vice versa for earlier events towards consolidation and reconsolidation), this is not a steadfast rule. Targeting these later (or earlier) timepoints does not necessarily guarantee, assuming a drug effect, which memory process will be affected. For instance, some drugs administered close to the time of reactivation have been shown to not affect initial reconsolidation but only persistence (Da Silva et al., 2013; Huynh et al., 2013), whereas delayed drug administration has been shown to diminish memory at much earlier recall tests than would be expected if only acting on persistence (Barrientos et al., 2002; Mac Callum et al., 2014; Nazari et al., 2023). Regardless of these exceptions, overall, testing recall in one cohort in the days immediately after post-training or reactivation and another cohort at more distant time point offers a simple but effective way to analyze the effects of drugs and concomitantly the molecular pathways potentially underlying memory consolidation, reconsolidation, and persistence.

My results from administering RAPA immediately after and three-hours post-training and postreactivation, respectively, were similar, with subsequent recall to the foot-shock associated context stunted in all these experiments. As I moved to the later 12-hour RAPA treatment delay, the effects to recall became more disparate between the consolidation (Chapter 2) and reconsolidation experiments (Chapter 4). The systemic injections of RAPA to mice 12-hours post-conditioning had no effect on consolidation or persistence, whereas this delayed treatment following reactivation had a partial effect on reconsolidation while impairing persistence of the reconsolidated contextual (or post-reactivated) fear memory. Nevertheless, this split between post-conditioning and post-reactivation temporal RAPA-sensitivity was not entirely unexpected. While many of the same molecular mechanisms are required for consolidation and reconsolidation in the immediate aftermath of learning and reactivation, it is important to remember that reconsolidation is not a full recapitulation of consolidation and vice versa (Hall et al., 2001; Lee et al., 2004; Parsons et al., 2006a; von Hertzen & Giese, 2005). It is, therefore, not unreasonable to expect such consolidation- and reconsolidation-events to not necessarily match up temporally or perhaps occur at all for certain phases. Moreover, RAPA has been shown to have differential effects based on the type of memory (e.g., cued versus context), mnemonics of a particular memory (e.g., cue and contextual freezing versus cued and contextual fear potentiated startle), and the specific brain loci being targeted (Gafford et al., 2011; Glover et al., 2010; Mac Callum et al., 2014; Parsons et al., 2006b).

In terms of brain loci, it will be fruitful to replicate my experiments using cannulated injections to determine which brain structures germane to consolidation, reconsolidation, and persistence are RAPA-sensitive at these identified points of susceptibility from systemic injections (e.g., amygdala, hippocampus, prefrontal cortex). To help corroborate my findings and to better guide which brain areas to cannulate it will also be important to conduct immunostaining work (e.g., western blot, immunohistochemistry) to determine the areas that show changes in

117

phosphorylated mTORC1 or for activation of its downstream effector SK61 at these later timepoints of systemic RAPA-sensitivity post-conditioning and post-reactivation (three and/or 12-hours). Moreover, as the timepoints I chose to investigate are largely motivated from the work done by the Hiroshi Nomura Lab (reconsolidation) and Jorge H. Medina and the late Ivan Izquierdo's shared research group (consolidation) using the global protein synthesis inhibitor anisomycin, they are relatively limited in scope (Bekinschtein et al., 2007a; Bekinschtein et al., 2010; Nakayama et al., 2013; Nakayama et al., 2016). Performing such immunostaining work will, therefore, also effectuate the exploration of changes to mTOR activity at different timepoints following learning and reactivation, which could potentially reveal other points of vulnerability to RAPA.

# 5.3 Effects of Rat-Induced Psychogenic Predator Stress in Mice

The adapted Rat Exposure Test apparatus I used to investigate long-lasting changes to mouse behaviour in Chapters 3 and 4 did not include the adjacent mouse home chamber and interconnecting tunnel between the home chamber and the mouse side of the exposure chamber like the original version of the apparatus created by Caroline and the late Bob Blanchard's lab. Instead, I used a simplified version of the apparatus with only the partitioned exposure chamber, with one side for a prey mouse and the other for the predator rat. My version also differed from the original version of the arena in that I used a perforated Plexiglas separator that ran lengthwise instead of a wire mesh barrier widthwise (see Campos et al., 2013 for a schematic of the original version of the exposure chamber). In the original Rat Exposure Test work by Yang et al. (2004), they used the complete apparatus to assay a repertoire of spatiotemporal and ethological relevant predator-induced mouse defensive behaviours, including defensive burying, risk assessment, freezing, and avoidance of the rat-predator stimulus. I only measured freezing behaviour during exposure and re-exposure to the arena. One last difference between my work and the Blanchard's is the rats used by the Blanchard lab during exposures were amphetamine treated to maintain movement of these predators, while the rats I used were calorie-restricted to ostensibly increase activity and motivation during exposures to prey.

I was unable to replicate my finding from Chapter 3 in Chapter 4 showing decreased freezing in mice returned to the predator exposure context following post-conditioning RAPA treatment. As such, I am not opposed to revisiting these experiments using the original configuration used by the Blanchards to study the effects of RAPA to freezing under this scenario. Utilizing this configuration would also allow for the use of an expanded ethogram to evaluate whether other non-freezing predator-elicited behaviours in this paradigm are amenable to associative conditioning. Likewise, it would be important to compare the effects of caloric-restricted versus amphetamine treated predator rats, as there are no direct or indirect comparisons on whether one is more effective at eliciting innate prey defensive behaviours, entraining conditioned responding in prey, or what the variance in movement and other behaviours of these predators are throughout the course of running exposures. While it is important to report these null effects when they occur to overcome the 'file-drawer problem/ positive publication bias", it is unlikely any of these details would have necessarily corrected the inconsistencies in Chapter 3 and 4. Addressing these points will, however, improve the robustness and ethological relevance of this paradigm at examining PTSD. Moreover, with the exception of a few predator scent studies (Arluk et al., 2022; Aykac et al., 2020; Oliver et al., 2016; Robinson et al., 2019), fully characterizing the associability of this live psychogenic predator exposure model will provide an

excellent opportunity to examine the underlying mechanisms of fear reconsolidation from this mode of stress instead of with the typical foot-shock methods.

### 5.4 Foot-Shock and Predator Exposure Stress Fear Models of PTSD

For this dissertation, I largely conducted experiments using contextual electric foot-shock fear conditioning procedures to investigate the contribution of mTOR to memory and changes to freezing (or PTSD-like re-experiencing) in rodents from the application of RAPA. In fear conditioning and PTSD literature, the words electric foot-shock are typically omitted. Instead, just contextual fear conditioning (or CFC) is used to refer to these learning and memory procedures and PTSD models. In this, the introductory chapter, and Chapter 4, however, I have deliberately included electric foot-shock in my descriptions of these procedures, as I place the predator stress models I utilized for a fraction of my experiments under the same larger umbrella of contextual fear conditioning. While electric foot-shock and predator stress models are often categorized as physical or psychogenic (or hybrid in the case of unprotected exposures), respectively, they are largely on the same side of the coin procedurally. That is, a specific context or environment is paired with exposure to an unconditioned stressor, which, depending on the parameters of the experiment (e.g., unconditioned stimulus duration, frequency, specific use and timing of non-contextual to be conditioned cues), will subsequently elicit an array of associative and non-associative fear behaviours that map onto certain PTSD-like symptom clusters (Flandreau & Toth, 2018; Siegmund & Wotjak, 2006, 2007; Török et al., 2019; Verbitsky et al., 2020).

Beyond these procedural similarities, predator stress models are not up to par with electric footshock conditioning in terms of reliability as a model to study the neurobiology of memory or PTSD. As described above in the previous section and in the proceeding chapters, the adapted Rat Exposure Test I used still is very much incipient and not fully characterized or optimized yet with regards to conditioning and capturing fear memory changes. Moreover, while the Rat Exposure Test controls for physical interaction between the prey, a mouse, and the predator, a rat, it, like the other predator stress paradigm I employed for my dissertation, exposing rats to a brief, non-lethal, but unprotected, cat encounter, and those used by others (e.g., predator scent, single prolonged stress), cannot control for the level of predator intensity. Likewise, the inability to control the intensity of the trauma is also endemic to all other non-foot-shock PTSD models, such as water submersion, restraint/immobilization, social defeat by a conspecific, and single prolonged stress without a predator component (Verbitsky et al., 2020).

Since electric foot-shock reliably induces long-lasting behavioural consequences in the vast majority of subjects, a common critique of this model is that it does not create individual variability or the ability to differentiate between vulnerable and resilient subjects. In contrast, predator stress and the other PTSD models are often characterized by significant inter-individual variability of subjects based on post-trauma behaviours (Flandreau & Toth, 2018; Török et al., 2019; Verbitsky et al., 2020). Subjects in these models are categorized as resilient or vulnerable through behavioural cutoff criteria or median splits following assessment of elevated plus maze and acoustic startle data, as these behaviours are partially representative of Cluster C (avoidance) and Cluster E (arousal) symptoms, respectively (Adamec et al., 2012; Cohen et al., 2006; Schwendt et al., 2018). Such responses to these stressors are thought to mimic human responses

121

to traumatic events, where many individuals are found to be resilient to traumatic stress, while others go on to develop PTSD. Nevertheless, while the ability to focus on and identify the extreme ends of stress responses might be useful in understanding neurobiological factors for adaptive and maladaptive responding, the inability to control the intensity of the trauma in these models should give pause to the veracity of these group classifications. It is unclear from these models whether the resilient and susceptible groups identified are indicative of variability in the ability to cope with the fallout from the stressor experienced or whether the uncontrollable intensity inherent in these stressors confers different post-trauma behaviour. All models, including foot-shock, however, would largely benefit from the development of pre-trauma behavioural screening to potentially identify resilient and susceptible groups to make more informed *a priori* predictions about responses to trauma and treatments before post-trauma behavioural testing. For instance, evidence indicates individuals with PTSD likely have preexisting deficits in cued spatial processing and navigating complex spatial environments prior to developing PTSD (Gilbertson et al., 2007; Marlatte et al., 2022; Smith et al., 2015). It might, therefore, be worthwhile to investigate for deficits in allocentric navigation strategies of rodents in the Morris Water Maze prior to trauma exposure as a potential predictor of susceptibility and resilience to the traumatic stress they will experience.

Unlike foot-shock stress, predator stress constitutes a real-life ethologically and ecologically relevant threat to a prey species akin to severe trauma a human might experience. Findings from predator stress PTSD models, however, can potentially be interpreted as mere artifacts from not just the artificial lab environment, but also the laboratory rodents used themselves. Through generations of domestication, laboratory rodents, although maintaining many of the behavioural,

anatomical, and physiological characteristics of their ancestors, are not necessarily the same as their wild counterparts. Artificial selection pressures have produced, to name a few examples, laboratory rodents that reach sexual maturity quicker, have larger litters, possess distinct molar morphology, explore less in unfamiliar spaces, show less interspecific aggression, have smaller brain areas related to wariness, and show reduced defensive behaviours compared to their wild cousins (Bárdos et al., 2024; Blanchard et al., 1986, 1998; Brown & Bronson, 1992; Himmler et al., 2013; Holmes et al., 2000; Koizumi et al., 2018; Savriama et al., 2022; Vogt et al., 2024). Moreover, there was traditionally a longstanding assumption that predator stress is ephemeral in wild animals with no long-lasting repercussions from non-lethal interactions with predators (Clinchy, et al., 2013; Matar et al., 2013). In other words, this premise postulated wild 'less cognitively complex' animals do not experience long-lasting stress-induced psychopathologies but rather just return to homeostasis following fleeing, fighting, or freezing from traumatic nonconsumptive predator encounters. This reasoning also underlies Standford University biologist Robert Sapolsky's popular mainstream book Why Zebras Don't Get Ulcers: A Guide to Stress, Stress-Related Diseases, and Coping. Ecological work over the last two decades, however, has challenged and disconfirmed this perspective, revealing that this assumption is likely not tenable.

Specifically, demographic experiments and observational studies have shown reduced number and survival of offspring in free-living birds and mammalian prey species in response to predator and predator cues (Reviewed in Zanette & Clinchy, 2020). Beyond population-based studies, experimental work from Liana Zanette's lab has highlighted the long-lasting physiological, neurohistological, and behavioural consequences of sustained psychological predator stress in wild animals (Epperly et al., 2021; Widén et al., 2022; Zanette et al., 2019). Through a

123

collaboration between my supervisor, Jacqueline Blundell, and the Sheriff & Zanette Labs, I got to participate in a one such study focused on the ecology of fear in wild, free-living, deer mice during my PhD program. This research involved broadcasting predator playbacks or nonpredator playbacks over loudspeakers for 20 days on a four day on /off cycle in four different trapping grids (two control grids, two stressed grids) on an island off the coast of British Columbia. Feeding trials were conducted on the last two days of playbacks, then after the twentieth day a subset of deer mice were captured and sacrificed for their blood and brains. Deer mice exposed to predator playbacks were found to forage less (higher giving up density), have higher stress hormone levels (plasma corticosterone), and exhibit alterations in hippocampal mTOR activity compared to controls in this field experiment (MacCallum et al., 2018).

This deer mice work provides a direct empirical link between mammalian predator stressinduced psychopathology models and the ecology of fear, which will be important for advancing interdisciplinary work in these fields and at the minimum improves our confidence that findings from lab animals and settings are externally valid. Fittingly, Hagit Cohen's lab recently published converging evidence supporting the argument that wild rodents are susceptible to predator stress induced psychopathology. But instead of conducting field experiments, they tested the effects of predator playbacks on three different types of captured wild rodent species in a laboratory set-up. Predator calls elicited a PTSD-like sequalae of behaviours and physiological changes in all these wild species tested paralleling results from lab rodents (Cohen et al., 2023).

Individually, no animal model of PTSD fully recapitulates PTSD as the disorder is highly heterogeneous with twenty possible symptoms across the four symptom clusters in the DSM-5

(Clusters B: re-experiencing, C: avoidance, D: negative changes in mood and cognition, and E: arousal and reactivity). Despite this large challenge, animal models capture important facets of the disorder by exposing rodents to a variety of stressors that precipitate PTSD-like symptoms as revealed through testing behavioural analogs for these symptom clusters (see Verbitsky et al., 2020 for a comprehensive list). Notably, no symptoms in PTSD or the behavioural analogs used to test for PTSD-like symptoms are unique to PTSD or PTSD models (Flandreau & Toth, 2018; Schöner et al., 2017; Török et al., 2019; Verbitsky et al., 2020). For instance, anhedonia is found in both PTSD and depression, while the sucrose preference test is used to measure anhedonia in both models of PTSD and depression. The considerable overlap in symptoms and the high level of comorbidity between PTSD, depression, and anxiety disorders, might make these disorders difficult to distinguish between or determine the validity of models designed to replicate these disorders. Under these circumstances, when distinguishing or evaluating models for goodness of fit to a particular disorder, it is therefore important to recognize the etiology or mechanism to induce such symptoms (Schöner et al., 2017). Yehuda and Anetelman (1993) proposed that for a PTSD model to be useful the stressor imposed needs to be brief and intense, whereas more chronic and mild stressors, such as learned helplessness protocols, are more appropriate at developing models of depression. With this in mind, the lab-based models I used would pass this criterion, but the deer mice field experiment I contributed to (described above) would fail as a model of PTSD as the predator playbacks were played on and off over a 20-day period. It will be interesting to determine if the acute effects of such playbacks in a similar field experiment would result in comparable or different sequalae of symptoms (findings) from the chronic exposure to predator playbacks since such chronic predator exposure might be more indicative of a depression-like phenotype and not PTSD.

125

Foot-shock lab models of PTSD studies often only focus on changes to associative freezing, whereas lab-based predator stress models largely focus on non-associative memory changes. Although foot-shock and predator stress are perhaps specifically better suited to accentuate associative and non-associative memory changes, respectively, expanding the test batteries for each will provide better science in general. Moreover, to model properly or more comprehensively, expanded test batteries should be utilized. For my foot-shock experiments, I predominantly just examined associative recall tests, which covers Cluster B, re-experiencing of the trauma, while also modelling exposure-like therapy, which allowed me to investigate if RAPA could enhance the exposure-like therapy process through impaired reconsolidation. Several of my experiments also highlighted changes to generalized anxiety-like behaviour, which replicates elements of Cluster C, avoidance (Flandreau & Toth, 2018; Verbitsky et al., 2020). This still leaves Cluster D and E outstanding from my foot-shock work. As such, it will be prudent for future work to determine if exposure-like therapy, pharmacological enhanced or not, has any beneficial effects to the other non-associative memory related symptom clusters. Unlike most predator models that focus on Clusters C-E, my paradigm specifically included returning mice to the context where they encountered a rat to mimic Cluster B. To me this is an important first step towards incorporating exposure-like therapy, which is strongly rooted in associative learning and memory, but often overlooked in predator-based fear models. By increasing this practice, it will likely bring predator stress models closer to parallel with the capabilities of footshock paradigms.
Overall, foot-shock and predator stress models replicate important features of PTSD and confer us the ability to test theories and study the neurobiology of fear learning and memory otherwise inaccessible to human research. Moreover, these paradigms and methods provide an avenue to investigate potential drugs alone or through pairing them with re-exposure to trauma related cues and contexts as I did with RAPA. Preclinical data from these studies will thereby inform important translational efforts at potentially pharmacologically enhancing exposure therapy through enhanced extinction or disrupted reconsolidation, creating expanded treatment options for PTSD and other stress-related psychopathologies.

## References

- Abel, T., & Lattal, K. M. (2001). Molecular mechanisms of memory acquisition, consolidation and retrieval. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 11(2):180–187.
- Acheson, D. T., Geyer, M. A., & Risbrough, V. B. (2014). Psychophysiology in the study of psychological trauma: Where are we and where do we need to be? *Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences*, 21, 157–183.
- Adamec, R. E. (1997). Transmitter systems involved in neural plasticity underlying increased anxiety and defense – Implications for understanding anxiety following traumatic stress. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 21(6), 755–765.
- Adamec, R. E. (1998). Evidence that N-methyl-D-aspartate-dependent limbic neural plasticity in the right hemisphere mediates pharmacological stressor (FG- 7142)-induced lasting increases in anxiety-like behavior: Study 3 The effects on amygdala efferent physiology of block of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors prior to injection of FG-7142 and its relationship to behavioral change. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 12(3), 227–238.
- Adamec, R. E. (2001). Does long term potentiation in periacqueductal gray (PAG) mediate lasting changes in rodent anxiety-like behavior (ALB) produced by predator stress? –
  Effects of low frequency stimulation (LFS) of PAG on place preference and changes in ALB produced by predator stress. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 120(2), 111–135.

- Adamec, R., Bartoszyk, G. D., & Burton, P. (2004). Effects of systemic injections of vilazodone, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor and serotonin 1A receptor agonist, on anxiety induced by predator stress in rats. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 504(1), 65–77.
- Adamec, R. E., Blundell, J., & Burton, P. (2005). Neural circuit changes mediating lasting brain and behavioral response to predator stress. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 29(8), 1225–1241.
- Adamec, R. E., Blundell, J., & Collins, A. (2001). Neural plasticity and stress induced changes in defense in the rat. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 25(7–8), 721–744.
- Adamec, R. E., Burton, P., Shallow, T., & Budgell, J. (1999). N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors mediate lasting increases in anxiety-like behavior produced by the stress of predator exposure – Implications for anxiety associated with post- traumatic stress disorder. *Physiology & Behavior*, 65(4), 723–737.
- Adamec, R., Head, D., Soreq, H., & Blundell, J. (2008). The role of the read-through variant of acetylcholinesterase in anxiogenic effects of predator stress in mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 189(1), 180–190.
- Adamec, R., Hebert, M., & Blundell, J. (2011). Long lasting effects of predator stress on pCREB expression in brain regions involved in fearful and anxious behavior. *Behavioral Brain Research*, 221(1), 118–133.

- Adamec, R., Hebert, M., Blundell, J., & Mervis, R. F. (2012). Dendritic morphology of amygdala and hippocampal neurons in more and less predator stress responsive rats and more and less spontaneously anxious handled controls. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 226(1), 133–146.
- Adamec, R., Kent, P., Anisman, H., Shallow, T., & Merali, Z. (1998). Neural plasticity, neuropeptides, and anxiety in animals – Implications for understanding and treating affective disorder following traumatic stress in humans. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 23(2), 301–318.
- Adamec, R. E., & Shallow, T. (1993). Lasting effects on rodent anxiety of a single exposure to a cat. *Physiology & Behavior*, 54(1), 101–109.
- Adamec, R. E., Shallow, T., & Budgell, J. (1997). Blockade of CCK-B but not CCK-A receptors before and after the stress of predator exposure prevents lasting increases in anxiety-like behavior: Implications for anxiety associated with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 111(2), 435–449.
- Adamec, R., Strasser, K., Blundell, J., Burton, P., & McKay, D. W. (2006). Protein synthesis and the mechanisms of lasting change in anxiety induced by severe stress. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 167(2), 270–286.

- Adamec, R., Toth, M., Haller, J., Halasz, J., & Blundell, J. (2012). A comparison of activation patterns of cells in selected prefrontal cortical and amygdala areas of rats which are more or less anxious in response to predator exposure or submersion stress. *Physiology & Behavior*, 105(3), 628–638.
- Adamec, R., Walling, S., & Burton, P. (2004). Long-lasting, selective, anxiogenic effects of feline predator stress in mice. *Physiology & Behavior*, 83(3), 401–410.
- Alberini, C. M. (2009). Transcription factors in long-term memory and synaptic plasticity. *Physiological Reviews*, 89(1), 121–145.
- Alberini, C. M., & LeDoux, J. E. (2013). Memory reconsolidation. *Current Biology*, 23(17), R746–R750.
- Amaral, D., & Lavenex, P. (2006). Hippocampal neuroanatomy. In P. Andersen, R. Morris, D.
  Amaral, T. Bliss, & J. O'Keefe (eds), *The Hippocampus Book* (pp. 37–115). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Amaral, V. C. S., Santos-Gomes, K., & Nunes-de-Souza, R. L. (2010). Increased corticosterone levels in mice subjected to the rat exposure test. *Hormones and Behavior*, 57(2), 128– 133.

- American Psychiatric Association (2022). Trauma- and Stressor-Related Disorders. In
   Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th ed., text rev.). Washington:
   American Psychiatric Press.
- Amorapanth, P., Nader, K., & LeDoux, J. E. (1999). Lesions of periaqueductal gray dissociateconditioned freezing from conditioned suppression behavior in rats. *Learning & Memory*, 6(5), 491–499.
- Andersen, P., Morris, R., Amaral, D. G., Bliss, T., & O'Keefe, J. (eds). (2006). The Hippocampus Book. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Angliker, N., & Ruegg, M. A. (2013). In vivo evidence for mTORC2-mediated actin cytoskeleton rearrangement in neurons. *Bioarchitecture*, 3(4): 113–118.
- Antion, M. D., Merhav, M., Hoeffer, C. A., Reis, G., Kozma, S.C., Thomas, G., Schuman, E. M., Rosenblum, K., & Klann, E. (2008). Removal of S6K1 and S6K2 leads to divergent alterations in learning, memory, and synaptic plasticity. *Learning & Memory*, 15(1), 29–38.
- Arluk, S., Matar, M. A., Carmi, L., Arbel, O., Zohar, J., Todder, D., & Cohen, H. (2022).
   MDMA treatment paired with a trauma-cue promotes adaptive stress responses in a translational model of PTSD in rats. *Translational Psychiatry*, 12(1), 181.

- Arriola Apelo, S. I., & Lamming, D. W. (2016). Rapamycin: an InhibiTOR of aging emerges from the soil of Easter Island. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences* and Medical Sciences, 71(7):841–849.
- Arriola Apelo, S. I., Neuman, J. C., Baar, E. L., Syed, F. A., Cummings, N. E., Brar, H. K., Pumper, C. P., Kimple, M. E., & Lamming, D. W. (2016). Alternative rapamycin treatment regimens mitigate the impact of rapamycin on glucose homeostasis and the immune system. *Aging Cell*, 15(1), 28–38.
- Aslam, N., Kubota, Y., Wells, D., & Shouval, H. Z. (2009). Translational switch for long-term maintenance of synaptic plasticity. *Molecular Systems Biology*, *5*, 284.
- Asnis, G. M., Kohn, S. R., Henderson, M., & Brown, N. L. (2004). SSRIs versus non-SSRIs in post-traumatic stress disorder: an update with recommendations. *Drugs*, 64(4), 383–404.
- Astill Wright, L., Horstmann, L., Holmes, E. A., & Bisson, J. I. (2021)
  Consolidation/reconsolidation therapies for the prevention and treatment of PTSD and reexperiencing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Translational Psychiatry*, 11(1), 453.
- Atkinson, R. C., & Shiffrin, R. M. (1968). Human memory: A proposed system and its control processes. *Psychology of Learning and Motivation*, 2, 89–195.

- Aykac, A., Şehirli, A. Ö., & Gören, M. Z. (2020). Evaluation of the effect of prazosin treatment on α-2c adrenoceptor and apoptosis protein levels in the predator scent-induced rat Model of post-traumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 70(7), 1120–1129.
- Babayan, A. H., Kramár, E. A., Barrett, R. M., Jafari, M., Häettig, J., Chen, L. Y., Rex, C. S., Lauterborn, J. C., Wood, M. A., Gall, C. M., & Lynch, G. (2012). Integrin dynamics produce a delayed stage of long-term potentiation and memory consolidation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(37), 12854–12861.
- Bailey, M. R., & Balsam, P. D. (2013). Memory reconsolidation: Time to change your mind. *Current Biology*, 23(6), R243–R245.
- Baker, D.G., Lerman, I., Espejo, E.P. et al. (2015). Treatments for Post-traumatic Stress
   Disorder: Pharmaceutical and Electrophysiologic Considerations. *Current Treatment Options in Psychiatry*, 2, 73–85.
- Baldi, E., Lorenzini, C. A., & Bucherelli, C. (2004). Footshock intensity and generalization in contextual and auditory-cued fear conditioning in the rat. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 81(3), 162–166.
- Bali, A., & Jaggi, A. S. (2015). Electric foot shock stress: a useful tool in neuropsychiatric studies. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 26(6), 655–677.

- Bandler, R., Carrive, P., & Depaulis, A. (1991). Emerging principles of organization of the midbrain periaqueductal gray matter. In A. Depaulis, & R. Bandler (eds), *The Midbrain Periaqueductal Gray Matter: Functional, Anatomical, and Neurochemical* Organization (pp. 1–8). Boston, MA: Springer.
- Banko, J. L., & Klann, E. (2008). Cap-dependent translation initiation and memory. Progress in Brain Research, 169:59–80.
- Bárdos, B., Török, H. K., & Nagy, I. (2024). Comparison of the exploratory behaviour of wild and laboratory mouse species. *Behavioural Processes*, 217, 105031.
- Barrientos, R. M., Higgins, E. A., Sprunger, D. B., Watkins, L. R., Rudy, J. W., & Maier, S. F. (2002). Memory for context is impaired by a post context exposure injection of interleukin-1 beta into dorsal hippocampus. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 134(1-2), 291–298.
- Basu, B., Dean, E., Puglisi, M., Greystoke, A., Ong, M., Burke, W., Cavallin, M., Bigley, G.,
  Womack, C., Harrington, E. A., Green, S., Oelmann, E., de Bono, J. S., Ranson, M., &
  Banerji, U. (2015). First-in-Human Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Study of the
  Dual m-TORC 1/2 Inhibitor AZD2014. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 21(15):3412–3419.

- Beckers, T., Hermans, D., Lange, I., Luyten, L., Scheveneels, S., & Vervliet, B. (2023).
   Understanding clinical fear and anxiety through the lens of human fear conditioning.
   *Nature Reviews Psychology*, 2(4), 233–245.
- Bekinschtein, P., Cammarota, M., Igaz, L. M., Bevilaqua, L. R., Izquierdo, I., & Medina, J. H.
  (2007a). Persistence of long-term memory storage requires a late protein synthesis- and
  BDNF- dependent phase in the hippocampus. *Neuron*, 53(2):261–277.
- Bekinschtein, P., Katche, C., Slipczuk, L. N., Igaz, L. M., Cammarota, M., Izquierdo, I., & Medina, J. H. (2007b). mTOR signaling in the hippocampus is necessary for memory formation. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 87(2):303–307.
- Bekinschtein, P., Cammarota, M., Katche, C., Slipczuk, L., Rossato, J. I., Goldin, A., Izquierdo,
  I., & Medina, J. H. (2008). BDNF is essential to promote persistence of long-term
  memory storage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(7):2711–2716.
- Bekinschtein, P., Katche, C., Slipczuk, L., Gonzalez, C., Dorman, G., Cammarota, M., Izquierdo,
  I., & Medina, J. H. (2010). Persistence of long-term memory storage: new insights into its molecular signatures in the hippocampus and related structures. *Neurotox Research*, 18(3–4):377–385.

- Belsher, B. E., Beech, E., Evatt, D., Smolenski, D. J., Shea, M. T., Otto, J. L., Rosen, C. S., &
  Schnurr, P. P. (2019). Present-centered therapy (PCT) for post-traumatic stress disorder
  (PTSD) in adults. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2019(11), CD012898.
- Benavides-Serrato, A., Lee, J., Holmes, B., Landon, K. A., Bashir, T., Jung, M. E., Lichtenstein,
  A., & Gera, J. (2017). Specific blockade of rictor-mTOR association inhibits mTORC2 activity and is cytotoxic in glioblastoma. *PLoS One*, 12(4):e0176599.
- Berger, W., Mendlowicz, M. V., Marques-Portella, C., Kinrys, G., Fontenelle, L. F., Marmar, C.
   R., & Figueira, I. (2009). Pharmacologic alternatives to antidepressants in posttraumatic stress disorder: a systematic review. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 33(2), 169–180.
- Berry, R. J., & Bronson, F. H. (1992). Life history and bioeconomy of the house mouse. Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, 67(4), 519–550.
- Bhattacharya, A., Kaphzan, H., Alvarez-Dieppa, A. C., Murphy, J. P., Pierre, P., & Klann, E. (2012). Genetic removal of p70 S6 kinase 1 corrects molecular, synaptic, and behavioral phenotypes in fragile X syndrome mice. *Neuron*, 76(2):325–337.
- Blair, H. T., Schafe, G. E., Bauer, E. P., Rodrigues, S. M., & LeDoux, J. E. (2001). Synaptic plasticity in the lateral amygdala: A cellular hypothesis of fear conditioning. *Learning & Memory*, 8(5), 229–242.

- Blanchard, D. C., & Blanchard, R. J. (1988). Ethoexperimental approaches to the biology of emotion. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 39(1), 43–68.
- Blanchard, R. J., Flannelly, K. J., & Blanchard, D. C. (1986). Defensive behavior of laboratory and wild Rattus norvegicus. *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, 100(2), 101–107.
- Blanchard, D. C., Griebel, G., & Blanchard, R. J. (2003). The Mouse Defense Test Battery: pharmacological and behavioral assays for anxiety and panic. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 463(1-3), 97–116.
- Blanchard, R. J., Hebert, M. A., Ferrari, P. F., Palanza, P., Figueira, R., Blanchard, D. C., & Parmigiani, S. (1998). Defensive behaviors in wild and laboratory (Swiss) mice: the mouse defense test battery. *Physiology & Behavior*, 65(2), 201–209.
- Bliss, T. V., & Lømo, T. (1973). Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *The Journal of Physiology*, 232(2), 331–356.
- Bliss, T. V., & Collingridge, G. L. (1993). A synaptic model of memory: Long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Nature*, 361(6407), 31.

- Blundell, J., & Adamec, R. (2006). Elevated pCREB in the PAG after exposure to the elevated plus maze in rats previously exposed to a cat. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 175(2), 285– 295.
- Blundell, J., Adamec, R., & Burton, P. (2005). Role of NMDA receptors in the syndrome of behavioral changes produced by predator stress. *Physiology & Behavior*, 86(1–2), 233– 243.
- Blundell, J., Kouser, M., & Powell, C. M. (2008). Systemic inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin inhibits fear memory reconsolidation. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 90(1):28–35.
- Bockaert, J., & Marin, P. (2015). mTOR in brain physiology and pathologies. *Physiological Reviews*, 95(4), 1157–1187.
- Bolles, R. C. (1975). Theory of Motivation (2nd edn). New York: HarperCollins Publishers.
- Borelli, K. G., Albrechet-Souza, L., Fedoce, A. G., Fabri, D. S., Resstel, L. B., & Brandao, M. L. (2013). Conditioned fear is modulated by CRF mechanisms in the periaqueductal gray columns. *Hormones and Behavior*, 63(5), 791–799.

- Böttiger, Y., Säwe, J., Brattström, C., Tollemar, J., Burke, J. T., Häss, G., & Zimmerman, J. J.
  (2001). Pharmacokinetic interaction between single oral doses of diltiazem and sirolimus in healthy volunteers. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 69(1):32–40.
- Bourtchouladze, R., Abel, T., Berman, N., Gordon, R., Lapidus, K., & Kandel, E. R. (1998).
   Different training procedures recruit either one or two critical periods for contextual memory consolidation, each of which requires protein synthesis and PKA. *Learning & Memory*, 5(4–5):365–374.
- Bouton, M. E. (2007). *Learning and Behavior: A Contemporary Synthesis*. Sunderland: Sinauer Associates.
- Bradley, R., Greene, J., Russ, E., Dutra, L., & Westen, D. (2005). A multidimensional metaanalysis of psychotherapy for PTSD. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 162(2), 214– 227.
- Bryant, R. A., Felmingham, K. L., Kemp, A. H., Barton, M., Peduto, A. S., Rennie, C., ... & Williams, L. M. (2005). Neural networks of information processing in posttraumatic stress disorder: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Biological Psychiatry*, 58(2), 111–118.

- Byrne, J.H. (2012). Learning and memory: Basic mechanisms. In L. R. Squire, D. Berg, F. E. Bloom, S. du Lac, A. Ghosh, & N. C. Spitzer (eds), *Fundamental Neuroscience* (4th edn) (pp. 1009–1028). Amsterdam: Academic Press.
- Cai, W. H., Blundell, J., Han, J., Greene, R. W., & Powell, C. M. (2006). Post-reactivation glucocorticoids impair recall of established fear memory. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26:9560–9566.
- Campos, K. F. C., Amaral, V. C. S., Rico, J. L., Miguel, T. T., & Nunes-de-Souza, R. L. (2013).
   Ethopharmacological evaluation of the rat exposure test: A prey–predator interaction test.
   *Behavioural Brain Research*, 240, 160–170.
- Canteras, N. S., & Goto, M. (1999). Fos-like immunoreactivity in the periaqueductal gray of rats exposed to a natural predator. *Neuroreport*, 10(2), 413–418.
- Careaga, M. B. L., Girardi, C. E. N., & Suchecki, D. (2016). Understanding posttraumatic stress disorder through fear conditioning, extinction and reconsolidation. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 71, 48–57.
- Carew, T. J. & Kandel, E. R. (1973). Acquisition and retention of long-term habituation in Aplysia: Correlation of behavioral and cellular processes. *Science*, 182(4117), 1158– 1160.

- Choo, A. Y., Yoon, S. O., Kim, S. G., Roux, P. P., & Blenis, J. (2008). Rapamycin differentially inhibits S6Ks and 4E-BP1 to mediate cell-type-specific repression of mRNA translation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(45):17414–17419.
- Clinchy, M., Sheriff, M. J., Zanette, L. Y. (2013). Predator-induced stress and the ecology of fear. *Functional Ecology*, 27:56–65.
- Cohen, H., Matar, M. A., Richter-Levin, G. A. L., & Zohar, J. (2006). The contribution of an animal model toward uncovering biological risk factors for PTSD. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1071(1), 335–350.
- Cohen, H., Zohar, J., Gidron, Y., Matar, M. A., Belkind, D., Loewenthal, U., Kozlovsky, N., & Kaplan, Z. (2006). Blunted HPA axis response to stress influences susceptibility to posttraumatic stress response in rats. *Biological Psychiatry*, 59(12), 1208–1218.
- Cooper, S. E., van Dis, E. A. M., Hagenaars, M. A., Krypotos, A. M., Nemeroff, C. B., Lissek, S., Engelhard, I. M., & Dunsmoor, J. E. (2022). A meta-analysis of conditioned fear generalization in anxiety-related disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 47(9), 1652– 1661.
- Cosmides, L. & Tooby, J. (2000). Evolutionary psychology and the emotions. In M. Lewis & J.M. Haviland-Jones (eds), *Handbook of Emotions* (2nd edn) (pp. 91– 115). New York:Guilford Press.

- Curzon, P., Rustay, N. R., & Browman, K. E. (2009). Cued and contextual fear conditioning for rodents. In: Buccafusco JJ (ed), *Methods of Behavior Analysis in Neuroscience* (2nd edn).
   Boca Raton:Taylor & Francis Group.
- Cusack, K., Jonas, D. E., Forneris, C. A., Wines, C., Sonis, J., Middleton, J. C., Feltner, C., Brownley, K. A., Olmsted, K. R., Greenblatt, A., Weil, A., & Gaynes, B. N. (2016).
  Psychological treatments for adults with posttraumatic stress disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 43, 128–141.
- Dash, P. K., Orsi, S. A., & Moore, A. N. (2006). Spatial memory formation and memoryenhancing effect of glucose involves activation of the tuberous sclerosis complexmammalian target of rapamycin pathway. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(31):8048– 8056.
- Da Silva, W. C., Cardoso, G., Bonini, J. S., Benetti, F., & Izquierdo, I. (2013). Memory reconsolidation and its maintenance depend on L-voltage-dependent calcium channels and CaMKII functions regulating protein turnover in the hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(16), 6566–6570.
- Davis, H. P., & Squire, L. R. (1984). Protein synthesis and memory: a review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 96(3):518–559.

- Davis, M. (1970). Effects of interstimulus interval length and variability on startle-response habituation in the rat. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, 72(2), 177.
- Davis, M. (1972). Differential retention of sensitization and habituation of the startle response in the rat. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, 78(2), 260–267.
- Davis, M., Antoniadis, E. A., Amaral, D. G., & Winslow, J. T. (2008). Acoustic startle reflex in rhesus monkeys: A review. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 19, 171–185.
- de Almeida, L. P., Ramos, P. L., Pandossio, J. E., Landeira-Fernandez, J., Zangrossi, H., & Nogueira, R. L. (2006). Prior electrical stimulation of dorsal periaqueductal grey matter or deep layers of the superior colliculus sensitizes rats to anxiety-like behaviors in the elevated T-maze test. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 170(2), 175–181.
- Debiec, J., LeDoux, J. E., & Nader, K. (2002). Cellular and systems reconsolidation in the hippocampus. *Neuron*, 36(3), 527–538.
- Desgranges, B., Lévy, F., & Ferreira, G. (2008). Anisomycin infusion in amygdala impairs consolidation of odor aversion memory. *Brain Research*, 1236:166–175.
- Deslauriers, J., Toth, M., Der-Avakian, A., and Risbrough, V. B. (2017). Current status of animal models of PTSD: Behavioral and biological phenotypes, and future challenges in improving translation. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83(10), 895.

- Di Scala, G., Mana, M. J., Jacobs, W. J., & Phillips, A. G. (1987). Evidence of Pavlovian conditioned fear following electrical stimulation of the periaqueductal grey in the rat. *Physiology & Behavior*, 40(1), 55–63.
- Drion, C. M., Borm, L. E., Kooijman, L., Aronica, E., Wadman, W. J., Hartog, A. F., van Vliet,
  E. A., & Gorter, J. A. (2016). Effects of rapamycin and curcumin treatment on the
  development of epilepsy after electrically induced status epilepticus in rats. *Epilepsia*, 57(5):688–697.
- Dudai, Y. (1996). Consolidation: Fragility on the road to the engram. Neuron, 17(3), 367–370.
- Dudai, Y. (2004). The neurobiology of consolidations, or, how stable is the engram? *Annual Review of Psychology*, 55, 51–86.
- Dudek, S. M., & Bear, M. F. (1992). Homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of hippocampus and effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor blockade. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 89(10), 4363–4367.
- Dunlop, B. W., Mansson, E., & Gerardi, M. (2012). Pharmacological innovations for posttraumatic stress disorder and medication- enhanced psychotherapy. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 18(35), 5645–5658.

- Duvarci, S., Nader, K., & LeDoux, J. E. (2005). Activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase- mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in the amygdala is required for memory reconsolidation of auditory fear conditioning. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(1), 283–289.
- Epperly, H. K., Clinchy, M., Zanette, L. Y., & McCleery, R. A. (2021). Fear of large carnivores is tied to ungulate habitat use: evidence from a bifactorial experiment. *Scientific Reports*, 11, 12979
- Etkin, A., & Wager, T. D. (2007). Functional neuroimaging of anxiety: A meta-analysis of emotional processing in PTSD, social anxiety disorder, and specific phobia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 164(10), 1476–1488.
- Fanselow, M. S. (1991). The midbrain periaqueductal gray as a coordinator of action in response to fear and anxiety. In A. Depaulis & R. Bandler (eds), *The Midbrain Periaqueductal Gray Matter: Functional, Anatomical, and Neurochemical Organization* (pp. 151–173).
  Boston, MA: Springer.
- Fanselow, M. S., & Sterlace, S. R. (2014). Pavlovian fear conditioning: Function, cause, and treatment. In F. K. McSweeney & E. S. Murphy (Eds.), *The Wiley Blackwell Handbook* of Operant and Classical Conditioning (pp. 117–141). Wiley Blackwell.

- Feldman, M. E., Apsel, B., Uotila, A., Loewith, R., Knight, Z. A., Ruggero, D., & Shokat, K. M. (2009). Active-site inhibitors of mTOR target rapamycin-resistant outputs of mTORC1 and mTORC2. *PLoS Biology*, 7(2):e38.
- Fifield, K., Hebert, M., Angel, R., Adamec, R., & Blundell, J. (2013). Inhibition of mTOR kinase via rapamycin blocks persistent predator stress-induced hyperarousal. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 256, 457–463.
- Fifield, K., Hebert, M., Williams, K., Linehan, V., Whiteman, J. D., Mac Callum, P., & Blundell, J. (2015). Time-dependent effects of rapamycin on consolidation of predator stressinduced hyperarousal. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 286, 104–111.
- Flandreau, E. I., & Toth, M. (2018). Animal models of PTSD: A critical review. *Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences*, 38, 47–68.
- Flexner, L. B., Flexner, J. B., & Roberts, R. B. (1967). Memory in mice analyzed with antibiotics. Antibiotics are useful to study stages of memory and to indicate molecular events which sustain memory. *Science*, 155(3768):1377–1383.
- Foster, J. A., & Burman, M. A. (2010). Evidence for hippocampus-dependent contextual learning at postnatal day 17 in the rat. *Learning & Memory*, 17(5), 259–266.

- Frankland, P. W., Ding, H. K., Takahashi, E., Suzuki, A., Kida, S., & Silva, A. J. (2006).
  Stability of recent and remote contextual fear memory. *Learning & Memory*, 13(4), 451–457.
- Frankland, P. W., & Josselyn, S. A. (2016). Neuroscience: In search of the memory molecule. *Nature*, 535(7610), 41.
- Freeman, F. M., Rose, S. P., & Scholey, A. B. (1995). Two time windows of Anisomycininduced amnesia for passive avoidance training in the day-old chick. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 63(3):291–295.
- Furuya-da-Cunha, E. M., Souza, R. R., & Canto-de-Souza, A. (2016). Rat exposure in mice with neuropathic pain induces fear and antinociception that is not reversed by 5-HT2C receptor activation in the dorsal periaqueductal gray. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 307, 250–257.
- Gafford, G. M., Parsons, R. G., & Helmstetter, F. J. (2011). Consolidation and reconsolidation of contextual fear memory requires mammalian target of rapamycin-dependent translation in the dorsal hippocampus. *Neuroscience*, 182:98–104.
- Gallistel, C. R. (2003). Conditioning from an information processing perspective. *Behavioural Processes*, 62(1), 89–101.

- Gamache, K., Pitman, R. K., & Nader, K. (2012). Preclinical evaluation of reconsolidation blockade by clonidine as a potential novel treatment for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(13), 2789–2796.
- Gilbertson, M. W., Williston, S. K., Paulus, L. A., Lasko, N. B., Gurvits, T. V., Shenton, M. E., Pitman, R. K., & Orr, S. P. (2007). Configural cue performance in identical twins discordant for posttraumatic stress disorder: theoretical implications for the role of hippocampal function *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(5), 513–520.
- Girgenti, M. J., Ghosal, S., LoPresto, D., Taylor, J. R., & Duman, R. S. (2017). Ketamine accelerates fear extinction via mTORC1 signaling. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 100, 1–8.
- Glover, E. M., Ressler, K. J., & Davis, M. (2010). Differing effects of systemically administered rapamycin on consolidation and reconsolidation of context vs. cued fear memories. *Learning & Memory*, 17(11):577–581.
- Goldberg, S. B., Simpson, T. L., Lehavot, K., Katon, J. G., Chen, J. A., Glass, J. E., Schnurr, P. P., Sayer, N. A., & Fortney, J. C. (2019). Mental health treatment delay: A comparison among civilians and veterans of different service eras. *Psychiatric Services*, 70(5), 358–366.
- Goldstein, R. B., Smith, S. M., Chou, S. P., Saha, T. D., Jung, J., Zhang, H., ... & Grant, B. F. (2016). The epidemiology of DSM-5 posttraumatic stress disorder in the United States:

Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions-III. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 51(8), 1137–1148.

- Goshen, I., Brodsky, M., Prakash, R., Wallace, J., Gradinaru, V., Ramakrishnan, C., & Deisseroth, K. (2011). Dynamics of retrieval strategies for remote memories. *Cell*, 147(3), 678–689.
- Goswami, S., Rodríguez-Sierra, O., Cascardi, M., & Paré, D. (2013). Animal models of posttraumatic stress disorder: Face validity. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 7, 89.
- Graber, T. E., McCamphill, P. K., & Sossin, W. S. (2013). A recollection of mTOR signaling in learning and memory. *Learning & Memory*, 20(10), 518–530.
- Grecksch, G., & Matthies, H. (1980). Two sensitive periods for the amnesic effect of anisomycin. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior*, 12(5):663–5.
- Green, B. (2013). Post-traumatic stress disorder: New directions in pharmacotherapy. *Advances in Psychiatric Treatment*, 19(3), 181-190.
- Guichard, S. M., Curwen, J., Bihani, T., D'Cruz, C. M., Yates, J. W., Grondine, M., Howard, Z.,
  Davies, B. R., Bigley, G., Klinowska, T., Pike, K. G., Pass, M., Chresta, C. M., Polanska,
  U. M., McEwen, R., Delpuech, O., Green, S., & Cosulich, S. C. (2015). AZD2014, an
  inhibitor of mTORC1 and mTORC2, is highly effective in ER+ breast cancer when

administered using intermittent or continuous schedules. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 14(11):2508–2518.

- Haissaguerre, M., Saucisse, N., & Cota, D. (2014). Influence of mTOR in energy and metabolic homeostasis. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 397(1), 67–77.
- Hall, J., Thomas, K. L., & Everitt, B. J. (2001). Cellular imaging of zif268 expression in the hippocampus and amygdala during contextual and cued fear memory retrieval: selective activation of hippocampal CA1 neurons during the recall of contextual memories. The *Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(6), 2186–2193.
- Hauger, R. L., Olivares-Reyes, J. A., Dautzenberg, F. M., Lohr, J. B., Braun, S., & Oakley, R. H. (2012). Molecular and cell signaling targets for PTSD pathophysiology and pharmacotherapy. *Neuropharmacology*, 62(2), 705–714.
- Hay, N., & Sonenberg, N. (2004). Upstream and downstream of mTOR. *Genes & Development*, 18(16), 1926–1945.
- Hebb, D. O. (1949/1965). The Organization of Behavior: A Neuropsychological Theory. New York: Wiley.

- Helmstetter, F. J., Parsons, R. G., & Gafford, G. M. (2008). Macromolecular synthesis, distributed synaptic plasticity, and fear conditioning. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 89(3), 324–337.
- Hernandez, P. J., & Abel, T. (2008). The role of protein synthesis in memory consolidation: progress amid decades of debate. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 89(3):293–311.
- Hernandez-Rabaza, V., Hontecillas-Prieto, L., Velázquez-Sánchez, C., Ferragud, A., Perez-Villaba, A., Arcusa, A., ... & Canales, J. J. (2008). The hippocampal dentate gyrus is essential for generating contextual memories of fear and drug-induced reward. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 90(3), 553–559.
- Himmler, B. T., Stryjek, R., Modlinska, K., Derksen, S. M., Pisula, W., & Pellis, S. M. (2013).
  How domestication modulates play behavior: a comparative analysis between wild rats and a laboratory strain of Rattus norvegicus. *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, 127(4), 453–464.
- Hoeffer, C. A., & Klann, E. (2010). mTOR signaling: At the crossroads of plasticity, memory and disease. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 33(2), 67–75.
- Hoeffer, C. A., Tang, W., Wong, H., Santillan, A., Patterson, R. J., Martinez, L. A., Tejada-Simon, M. V., Paylor, R., Hamilton, S. L., & Klann, E. (2008). Removal of FKBP12

enhances mTOR-raptor interactions, LTP, memory, and perseverative/repetitive behavior. *Neuron*, 60(5):832–845.

- Hoffman, A. N., Lorson, N. G., Sanabria, F., Olive, M. F., & Conrad, C. D. (2014). Chronic stress disrupts fear extinction and enhances amygdala and hippocampal Fos expression in an animal model of post-traumatic stress disorder. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 112, 139–147.
- Holmes, A., Parmigiani, S., Ferrari, P. F., Palanza, P., & Rodgers, R. J. (2000). Behavioral profile of wild mice in the elevated plus-maze test for anxiety. *Physiology & Behavior*, 71(5), 509–516.
- Homiack, D., O'Cinneide, E., Hajmurad, S., Barrileaux, B., Stanley, M., Kreutz, M. R., & Schrader, L. A. (2017). Predator odor evokes sex-independent stress responses in male and female Wistar rats and reduces phosphorylation of cyclic-adenosine monophosphate response element binding protein in the male, but not the female hippocampus. *Hippocampus*, 27(9), 1016–1029.
- Honcharik, N., Fryer, J., & Yatscoff, R. 1992). Pharmacokinetics of rapamycin: single-dose studies in the rabbit. *Therapeutic Drug Monitoring*, 14(6):475–478.
- Hoskins, M. D., Sinnerton, R., Nakamura, A., Underwood, J. F. G., Slater, A., Lewis, C., Roberts, N. P., Bisson, J. I., Lee, M., & Clarke, L. (2021). Pharmacological-assisted

Psychotherapy for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 12(1), 1853379.

- Huang, W., Zhu, P. J., Zhang, S., Zhou, H., Stoica, L., Galiano, M., Krnjević, K., Roman, G., & Costa-Mattioli, M. (2013). mTORC2 controls actin polymerization required for consolidation of long-term memory. *Nature Neuroscience*, 16(4):441–448.
- Huynh, T. N., Santini, E., & Klann, E. (2014). Requirement of mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 downstream effectors in cued fear memory reconsolidation and its persistence. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(27):9034–9039.
- Huynh, T. N., Santini, E., Mojica, E., Fink, A. E., Hall, B. S., Fetcho, R. N., Grosenick, L.,
  Deisseroth, K., LeDoux, J. E., Liston, C., & Klann, E. (2018). Activation of a novel p70
  S6 kinase 1-dependent intracellular cascade in the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala is
  required for the acquisition of extinction memory. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23(6):1394–
  1401.
- Igaz, L. M., Vianna, M. R., Medina, J. H., & Izquierdo, I. (2002). Two time periods of hippocampal mRNA synthesis are required for memory consolidation of fear-motivated learning. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(15), 6781–6789.
- Inaba, H., Tsukagoshi, A., & Kida, S. (2015). PARP-1 activity is required for the reconsolidation and extinction of contextual fear memory. *Molecular Brain*, 8(1), 63.

- Ishikawa, R., Fukushima, H., Frankland, P. W., & Kida, S. (2016). Hippocampal neurogenesis enhancers promote forgetting of remote fear memory after hippocampal reactivation by retrieval. *eLife*, 5, e17464.
- Izquierdo, I., Bevilaqua, L. R., Rossato, J. I., Bonini, J. S., Medina, J. H., & Cammarota, M. (2006). Different molecular cascades in different sites of the brain control memory consolidation. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 29(9):496–505.
- Izquierdo, I., Furini, C. R., & Myskiw, J. C. (2016). Fear Memory. *Physiological Reviews*, 96(2), 695–750.
- Izquierdo, I., & McGaugh, J. L. (2000). Behavioural pharmacology and its contribution to the molecular basis of memory consolidation. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, 11(7–8):517–534.
- James, M. H., Quinn, R. K., Ong, L. K., Levi, E. M., Smith, D. W., Dickson, P. W., & Dayas, C. V. (2016). Rapamycin reduces motivated responding for cocaine and alters GluA1 expression in the ventral but not dorsal striatum. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 784:147–154.
- Jobim, P. F., Pedroso, T. R., Christoff, R. R., Werenicz, A., Maurmann, N., Reolon, G. K., & Roesler, R. (2012a). Inhibition of mTOR by rapamycin in the amygdala or hippocampus

impairs formation and reconsolidation of inhibitory avoidance memory. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 97(1):105–112.

- Jobim, P. F., Pedroso, T. R., Werenicz, A., Christoff, R. R., Maurmann, N., Reolon, G. K., Schröder, N., & Roesler, R. (2012b). Impairment of object recognition memory by rapamycin inhibition of mTOR in the amygdala or hippocampus around the time of learning or reactivation. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 228(1):151–158.
- Jones, A. T., Yang, J., Narov, K., Henske, E. P., Sampson, J. R., & Shen, M. H. (2019). Allosteric and ATP-competitive inhibitors of mTOR effectively suppress tumor progression-associated epithelial-mesenchymal transition in the kidneys of Tsc2+/- mice. *Neoplasia*, 21(8):731–739.
- Jürgens, U. (1991). Neurochemical study of PAG control of vocal behavior. In A. Depaulis & R. Bandler (eds), *The Midbrain Periaqueductal Gray Matter: Functional, Anatomical, and Neurochemical Organization* (pp. 11–21). Boston, MA: Springer.
- Kahn, J., Hayman, T. J., Jamal, M., Rath, B. H., Kramp, T., Camphausen, K., & Tofilon, P. J. (2014). The mTORC1/mTORC2 inhibitor AZD2014 enhances the radiosensitivity of glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Neuro-Oncology*, 16(1):29–37.
- Kandel, E. R., Dudai, Y., & Mayford, M. R. (2014). The molecular and systems biology of memory. *Cell*, 157(1), 163–186.

- Kandel, E. R. (2001). The molecular biology of memory storage: A dialogue between genes and synapses. *Science*, 294(5544), 1030–1038.
- Kar N. (2011). Cognitive behavioral therapy for the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder: a review. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 7, 167–181.
- Katche, C., Tomaiuolo, M., Dorman, G., Medina, J. H., & Viola, H. (2016). Novelty during a late postacquisition time window attenuates the persistence of fear memory. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 35220.
- Kelleher, R. J., 3rd, Govindarajan, A., Jung, H. Y., Kang, H., & Tonegawa, S. (2004).
   Translational control by MAPK signaling in long-term synaptic plasticity and memory. *Cell*, 116(3):467–479.
- Kessler, R. C., & Wang, P. S. (2008). The descriptive epidemiology of commonly occurring mental disorders in the United States. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 29, 115–129.
- Kheirbek, M. A., Drew, L. J., Burghardt, N. S., Costantini, D. O., Tannenholz, L., Ahmari, S. E.,
  ... & Hen, R. (2013). Differential control of learning and anxiety along the dorsoventral axis of the dentate gyrus. *Neuron*, 77(5), 955–968.
- Kida S. (2019). Reconsolidation/destabilization, extinction and forgetting of fear memory as therapeutic targets for PTSD. *Psychopharmacology*, 236(1), 49–57.

- Kim, J. J., & Fanselow, M. S. (1992). Modality-specific retrograde amnesia of fear. Science, 256(5057), 675.
- Kim, E. J., Horovitz, O., Pellman, B. A., Tan, L. M., Li, Q., Richter-Levin, G., & Kim, J. J. (2013). Dorsal periaqueductal gray-amygdala pathway conveys both innate and learned fear responses in rats. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(36), 14795–14800.
- Klann, E., & Sweatt, J. D. (2008). Altered protein synthesis is a trigger for long-term memory formation. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 89(3), 247–259.
- Koizumi, R., Kiyokawa, Y., Mikami, K., Ishii, A., Tanaka, K. D., Tanikawa, T., & Takeuchi, Y. (2018). Structural differences in the brain between wild and laboratory rats (Rattus norvegicus): Potential contribution to wariness. *The Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 80(7), 1054–1060.
- Kozlovsky, N., Kaplan, Z., Zohar, J., Matar, M. A., Shimon, H., & Cohen, H. (2008). Protein synthesis inhibition before or after stress exposure results in divergent endocrine and BDNF responses disassociated from behavioral responses. *Depression and Anxiety*, 25(5), 24–34.

- Kraus, M., Schicknick, H., Wetzel, W., Ohl, F., Staak, S., & Tischmeyer, W. (2002). Memory consolidation for the discrimination of frequency-modulated tones in mongolian gerbils is sensitive to protein-synthesis inhibitors applied to the auditory cortex. *Learning & Memory*, 9(5), 293–303.
- Krawczyk, M. C., Navarro, N., Blake, M. G., Romano, A., Feld, M., & Boccia, M. M. (2016).
   Reconsolidation-induced memory persistence: Participation of late phase hippocampal
   ERK activation. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 133, 79–88.
- Lamming, D. W. (2016) Inhibition of the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR)-rapamycin and beyond. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 6(5):10.1101.
- Lana, D., Di Russo, J., Mello, T., Wenk, G. L., & Giovannini, M. G. (2017). Rapamycin inhibits mTOR/p70S6K activation in CA3 region of the hippocampus of the rat and impairs long term memory. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 137:15–26.
- Lancaster, C. L., Teeters, J. B., Gros, D. F., & Back, S. E. (2016). Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: Overview of Evidence-Based Assessment and Treatment. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 5(11), 105
- Lattal, K. M., & Abel, T. (2004). Behavioral impairments caused by injections of the protein synthesis inhibitor anisomycin after contextual retrieval reverse with time. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 101(13):4667–4672.

- Lau, H. L., Timbers, T. A., Mahmoud, R., & Rankin, C. H. (2013). Genetic dissection of memory for associative and non-associative learning in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 12(2), 210–223.
- Lau, C., Whiteman, J. D., & Blundell, J. J. (2015). Endogenous glucocorticoids in traumatic memory extinction: Implications for PTSD. In C. R. Martin, V. R. Preedy, & V. B. Patel (eds), *The Comprehensive Guide to PTSD* (pp. 943–960). Cham: Springer International.
- Lay, B. P. P., Westbrook, R. F., Glanzman, D. L., & Holmes, N. M. (2018). Commonalities and differences in the substrates underlying consolidation of first- and second-order conditioned fear. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 38(8): 1926–1941.
- Leaton, R. N., & Supple, W. F. (1986). Cerebellar vermis: Essential for long-term habituation of the acoustic startle response. *Science*, 232(4749), 513–515.
- LeDoux, J. E. (1995). Emotion: Clues from the brain. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 46(1), 209–235.
- LeDoux, J. (2003). The emotional brain, fear, and the amygdala. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 23(4–5), 727–738.

LeDoux, J. (2012). Rethinking the emotional brain. Neuron, 73(4), 653–676.

- Lee, J. L., Everitt, B. J., & Thomas, K. L. (2004). Independent cellular processes for hippocampal memory consolidation and reconsolidation. *Science*, 304(5672), 839–843.
- Lee, J. L., Milton, A. L., & Everitt, B. J. (2006). Reconsolidation and extinction of conditioned fear: inhibition and potentiation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(39), 10051–10056.
- Levin, N., Kritman, M., Maroun, M., & Akirav, I. (2017). Differential roles of the infralimbic and prelimbic areas of the prefrontal cortex in reconsolidation of a traumatic memory. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 27 (9), 900-912.
- Li, J., Kim, S. G., & Blenis, J. (2014). Rapamycin: One drug, many effects. *Cell Metabolism*, 19(3), 373–379.
- Lissek, S., & van Meurs, B. (2015). Learning models of PTSD: Theoretical accounts and psychobiological evidence. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 98(3), 594–605.
- Lunardi, P., Sachser, R. M., Sierra, R. O., Pedraza, L. K., Medina, C., de la Fuente, V., Romano, A., Quillfeldt, J. A., & de Oliveira Alvares, L. (2018). Effects of hippocampal LIMK inhibition on memory acquisition, consolidation, retrieval, reconsolidation, and extinction. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 55(2), 958–967.

- Lurie, I., & Levine, S. Z. (2010). Meta-analysis of dropout rates in SSRIs versus placebo in randomized clinical trials of PTSD. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 198(2), 116–124.
- MacCallum, P. E., & Blundell, J. (2020). The mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin and the mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 impair the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory. *Psychopharmacology*, 237(9), 2795–2808.
- Mac Callum, P. E., Hebert, M., Adamec, R. E., & Blundell, J. (2014). Systemic inhibition of mTOR kinase via rapamycin disrupts consolidation and reconsolidation of auditory fear memory. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 112:176–185.
- MacCallum, P., Zanette, L. Y., Sheriff, M. J., Clinchy, M., & Blundell, J. (2018, January 28 -February 2). Measuring fear in free-living wild animals [Poster Presentation]. *Gordon Research Conference: Predator-Prey Interactions*, Ventura, California, United States.
- Mahan, A. L., & Ressler, K. J. (2012). Fear conditioning, synaptic plasticity and the amygdala: implications for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 35(1), 24–35.
- Malenka, R. C., & Bear, M. F. (2004). LTP and LTD: An embarrassment of riches. *Neuron*, 44(1), 5–21.
- Marchetta, E., Mancini, G. F., Morena, M., & Campolongo, P. (2023). Enhancing Psychological Interventions for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) Treatment with Memory Influencing Drugs. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 21(3), 687–707.
- Maren, S. (2001). Neurobiology of Pavlovian fear conditioning. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 24(1), 897–931.
- Maren, S., & Holmes, A. (2016). Stress and Fear Extinction. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 41(1), 58–79.
- Marlatte, H., Beaton, D., Adler-Luzon, S., Abo-Ahmad, L., & Gilboa, A. (2022). Scene construction and spatial processing in post-traumatic stress disorder. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 16, 888358.
- Martin, A., Naunton, M., Kosari, S., Peterson, G., Thomas, J., & Christenson, J. K. (2021).
  Treatment Guidelines for PTSD: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 10(18), 4175.
- Martínez-Moreno, A., Rodríguez-Durán, L. F., & Escobar, M. L. (2011). Late protein synthesisdependent phases in CTA long-term memory: BDNF Requirement. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 5:61.

- Matar, M. A., Zohar, J., & Cohen, H. (2013). Translationally relevant modeling of PTSD in rodents. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 354(1), 127–139.
- Mayford, M., Siegelbaum, S. A., & Kandel, E. R. (2012). Synapses and memory storage. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 4(6), a005751.
- McGaugh, J. L. (1966). Time-dependent processes in memory storage. *Science*, 153(3742), 1351–1358.
- McGaugh J. L. (2000). Memory-a century of consolidation. Science, 287(5451):248-251.
- McGaugh, J. L., & Herz, M.J. (1972). Memory Consolidation. San Francisco, CA: Albion.
- McGaugh, J. L., & Izquierdo, I. (2000). The contribution of pharmacology to research on the mechanisms of memory formation. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 21(6), 208–210.
- Meiri, N., & Rosenblum, K. (1998). Lateral ventricle injection of the protein synthesis inhibitor
  Anisomycin impairs long-term memory in a spatial memory task. *Brain Research*, 789(1):48–55.
- Meister, L., Dietrich, A. C., Stefanovic, M., Bavato, F., Rosi-Andersen, A., Rohde, J.,Offenhammer, B., Seifritz, E., Schäfer, I., Ehring, T., Barth, J., & Kleim, B. (2023).Pharmacological memory modulation to augment trauma-focused psychotherapy for

PTSD: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials. *Translational Psychiatry*, 13(1), 207.

- Milekic, M. H., Pollonini, G., & Alberini, C. M. (2007). Temporal requirement of C/EBPbeta in the amygdala following reactivation but not acquisition of inhibitory avoidance. *Learning* & *Memory*, 14(7):504–511.
- Monfils, M. H., Cowansage, K. K., & LeDoux, J. E. (2007). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor: Linking fear learning to memory consolidation. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 72(2), 235– 237.
- Morey, R. A., Dunsmoor, J. E., Haswell, C. C., Brown, V. M., Vora, A., Weiner, J., Stjepanovic,
  D., Wagner, H. R., 3rd, VA Mid-Atlantic MIRECC Workgroup, & LaBar, K. S. (2015).
  Fear learning circuitry is biased toward generalization of fear associations in
  posttraumatic stress disorder. *Translational Psychiatry*, 5(12), e700.
- Morgan, M. A., Romanski, L. M., & LeDoux, J. E. (1993). Extinction of emotional learning: Contribution of medial prefrontal cortex. *Neuroscience Letters*, 163(1), 109–113.
- Moya, N. A., Tanner, M. K., Smith, A. M., Balolia, A., Davis, J. K. P., Bonar, K., Jaime, J.,
  Hubert, T., Silva, J., Whitworth, W., Loetz, E. C., Bland, S. T., & Greenwood, B. N.
  (2020). Acute exercise enhances fear extinction through a mechanism involving central mTOR signaling. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 176, 107328.

- Müller G. E. & Pilzecker, A. (1900). Experimentelle Beiträge zur Lehre vom Gedächtnis. Zeitschrift für Psychologie. Ergänzungsband, 1, 1–300.
- Murray, E. R., & Cameron, A. J. M. (2017). Towards specific inhibition of mTORC2. *Aging*, 9(12):2461–2462.
- Murray, K. E., Keifer, O. P., Ressler, K. J., Norrholm, S. D., & Jovanovic, T. (2014).
  Neurobiology and treatment of PTSD. In D. S. Charney, P. Sklar, J. D. Buxbaum, & E. J.
  Nestler (eds), *Neurobiology of Mental Illness* (4th edn) (pp. 662–672). New York:
  Oxford University Press.
- Myskiw, J. C., Rossato, J. I., Bevilaqua, L. R., Medina, J. H., Izquierdo, I., & Cammarota, M. (2008). On the participation of mTOR in recognition memory. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 89(3):338–351.
- Nader, K. (2003) Memory traces unbound. Trends in Neurosciences, 26, 65-72.
- Nader, K., & Hardt, O. (2009). A single standard for memory: The case for reconsolidation. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10(3), 224–234.
- Nader, K., Schafe, G. E., & Le Doux, J. E. (2000). Fear memories require protein synthesis in the amygdala for reconsolidation after retrieval. *Nature*, 406(6797), 722–726.

- Nakayama, D., Hashikawa-Yamasaki, Y., Ikegaya, Y., Matsuki, N., & Nomura, H. (2016). Late Arc/Arg3.1 expression in the basolateral amygdala is essential for persistence of newly-acquired and reactivated contextual fear memories. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 21007.
- Nakayama, D., Yamasaki, Y., Matsuki, N., & Nomura, H. (2013). Post-retrieval late process contributes to persistence of reactivated fear memory. *Learning & Memory*, 20(6), 307–310.
- Nazari, M., Rashidy-Pour, A., Ali Vafaei, A., & Raise-Abdullahi, P. (2023). Systemic corticosterone administration impairs the late fear memory reconsolidation via basolateral amygdala glucocorticoid receptors: Dependence on the time window and memory age. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 203, 107797.
- Neasta, J., Barak, S., Hamida, S. B., & Ron, D. (2014). mTOR complex 1: a key player in neuroadaptations induced by drugs of abuse. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 130(2):172– 184.
- Nicoll, R. A., & Roche, K. W. (2013). Long-term potentiation: Peeling the onion. *Neuropharmacology*, 74, 18–22.
- Öhman, A., & Mineka, S. (2001). Fears, phobias, and preparedness: Toward an evolved module of fear and fear learning. *Psychological Review*, 108(3), 483.

- Oliver, C. F., Kabitzke, P., Serrano, P., Egan, L. J., Barr, G. A., Shair, H. N., & Wiedenmayer, C. (2016). Repeated recall and PKMζ maintain fear memories in juvenile rats. *Learning & Memory*, 23(12), 710–713.
- Orr, S. P., Metzger, L. J., & Pitman, R. K. (2002). Psychophysiology of post-traumatic stress disorder. *The Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 25(2), 271–293.
- Ou, L. C., Yeh, S. H., & Gean, P. W. (2010). Late expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the amygdala is required for persistence of fear memory. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 93(3), 372–382.
- Panja, D., & Bramham, C. R. (2014). BDNF mechanisms in late LTP formation: A synthesis and breakdown. *Neuropharmacology*, 76, 664–676.

Panksepp, J. (1998). Affective Neuroscience. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Parsons, R. G., Gafford, G. M., Baruch, D. E., Riedner, B. A., & Helmstetter, F. J. (2006a). Long-term stability of fear memory depends on the synthesis of protein but not mRNA in the amygdala. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(7), 1853–1859.
- Parsons, R. G., Gafford, G. M., & Helmstetter, F. J. (2006b). Translational control via the mammalian target of rapamycin pathway is critical for the formation and stability of

long-term fear memory in amygdala neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(50):12977–12983.

- Pearce, J. M., & Bouton, M. E. (2001). Theories of associative learning in animals. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52(1), 111–139.
- Pearce, L. R., Alton, G. R., Richter, D. T., Kath, J. C., Lingardo, L., Chapman, J., Hwang, C., & Alessi, D. R. (2010). Characterization of PF-4708671, a novel and highly specific inhibitor of p70 ribosomal S6 kinase (S6K1). *Biochemical Journal*, 431(2):245–255.
- Pedreira, M. E., & Maldonado, H. (2003). Protein synthesis subserves reconsolidation or extinction depending on reminder duration. *Neuron*, 38(6), 863–869.
- Pedroso, T. R., Jobim, P. F., Carvalho, L. M., Christoff, R. R., Maurmann, N., Reolon, G. K., Werenicz, A., & Roesler, R. (2013). Inhibition of protein synthesis or mTOR in the basolateral amygdala blocks retrieval-induced memory strengthening. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 120(11), 1525–1531.
- Pena, R. R., Pereira-Caixeta, A. R., Moraes, M. F., & Pereira, G. S. (2014). Anisomycin administered in the olfactory bulb and dorsal hippo- campus impaired social recognition memory consolidation in different time-points. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 109:151–157.

- Penha Farias, C., Guerino Furini, C. R., Godfried Nachtigall, E., Kielbovicz Behling, J. A., Silva de Assis Brasil, E., Bühler, L., Izquierdo, I., & de Carvalho Myskiw, J. (2019). Extinction learning with social support depends on protein synthesis in prefrontal cortex but not hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(5), 1765–1769.
- Pereira, L. M., de Castro, C. M., Guerra, L. T. L., Queiroz, T. M., Marques, J. T., & Pereira, G. S. (2019). Hippocampus and prefrontal cortex modulation of contextual fear memory is dissociated by inhibiting de Novo transcription during late consolidation. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 56(8), 5507–5519.
- Pham, J., Cabrera, S. M., Sanchis-Segura, C., & Wood, M. A. (2009). Automated scoring of fear-related behavior using EthoVision software. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 178(2), 323–326.
- Philbert, J., Belzung, C., & Griebel, G. (2015). Long-lasting memory abnormalities following exposure to the mouse defense test battery: An animal model of PTSD. *Physiology & Behavior*, 146, 67–72.
- Phillips, R. G., & LeDoux, J. E. (1992). Differential contribution of amygdala and hippocampus to cued and contextual fear conditioning. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 106(2), 274.
- Pike, K. G., Malagu, K., Hummersone, M. G., Menear, K. A., Duggan, H. M., Gomez, S., Martin, N. M., Ruston, L., Pass, S. L., & Pass, M. (2013). Optimization of potent and

selective dual mTORC1 and mTORC2 inhibitors: the discovery of AZD8055 and AZD2014. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 23(5), 1212–1216.

- Pilz, P. K., & Schnitzler, H. U. (1996). Habituation and sensitization of the acoustic startle response in rats: Amplitude, threshold, and latency measures. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 66(1), 67–79.
- Pitman, R. K. (1997). Overview of biological themes in PTSD. *Annals of the New York Academy* of Sciences, 821, 1–9.
- Pitman, R. K., Orr, S. P., & Shalev, A. Y. (1993). Once bitten, twice shy: Beyond the conditioning model of PTSD. *Biological Psychiatry*, 33(3), 145–146.
- Pole, N. (2007). The psychophysiology of posttraumatic stress disorder: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 133(5), 725.
- Powles, T., Wheater, M., Din, O., Geldart, T., Boleti, E., Stockdale, A., Sundar, S., Robinson,
  A., Ahmed, I., Wimalasingham, A., Burke, W., Sarker, S. J., Hussain, S., & Ralph, C.
  (2016). A randomised phase 2 study of AZD2014 versus everolimus in patients with
  VEGF-refractory metastatic clear cell renal cancer. *European Urology*, 69(3):450–456.
- Quevedo, J., Vianna, M. R., Roesler, R., de-Paris, F., Izquierdo, I., & Rose, S. P. (1999). Two time windows of anisomycin-induced amnesia for inhibitory avoidance training in rats:

protection from amnesia by pretraining but not pre-exposure to the task apparatus. *Learning & Memory*, 6(6):600–607.

- Radiske, A., Gonzalez, M. C., Nôga, D. A., Rossato, J. I., Bevilaqua, L. R. M., & Cammarota, M. (2021). GluN2B and GluN2A-containing NMDAR are differentially involved in extinction memory destabilization and restabilization during reconsolidation. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 186.
- Rasmusson, A. M., Vythilingam, M., & Morgan, C. A. (2003). The neuroendocrinology of posttraumatic stress disorder: New directions. *CNS Spectrums*, 8(9), 651–667.
- Reul, J. M. H. M., & Nutt, D. J. (2008). Glutamate and cortisol A critical confluence in PTSD? Journal of Psychopharmacology, 22(5), 469–472.
- Rescorla, R.A. (1988). Pavlovian conditioning: It's not what you think it is. *American Psychologist*, 43(3), 151–160.
- Robinson, S., Christ, C. C., Cahill, M. M., Aldrich, S. J., & Taylor-Yeremeeva, E. (2019). Voluntary exercise or systemic propranolol ameliorates stress-related maladaptive behaviors in female rats. *Physiology & Behavior*, 198, 120–133.
- Rodrigues, S. M., Schafe, G. E., & LeDoux, J. E. (2004). Molecular mechanisms underlying emotional learning and memory in the lateral amygdala. *Neuron*, 44(1), 75–91.

- Rodriguez-Ortiz, C.J., & Bermúdez-Rattoni, F. (2007). Memory reconsolidation or updating consolidation? In: Bermudez-Rattoni F (ed) *Neural Plasticity and Memory: From Genes to Brain Imaging*. Boca Raton: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Rogan, M. T., Stäubli, U. V., & LeDoux, J. E. (1997). Fear conditioning induces associative long-term potentiation in the amygdala. *Nature*, 390(6660), 604–607.
- Rosa, J., de Carvalho Myskiw, J., Fiorenza, N. G., Furini, C. R. G., Sapiras, G. G., & Izquierdo,
  I. (2023). Hippocampal cholinergic receptors and the mTOR participation in fearmotivated inhibitory avoidance extinction memory. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 437, 114129.
- Rossato, J. I., Bevilaqua, L. R., Myskiw, J. C., Medina, J. H., Izquierdo, I., & Cammarota, M. (2007). On the role of hippocampal protein synthesis in the consolidation and reconsolidation of object recognition memory. *Learning & Memory*, 14(1):36–46.
- Rudy, J.W. (2014). *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory* (2nd edn). Sunderland: Sinauer Associates.
- Ryan, T. J., Roy, D. S., Pignatelli, M., Arons, A., & Tonegawa, S. (2015). Memory. Engram cells retain memory under retrograde amnesia. *Science*, 348(6238):1007–1013.

- Sabatini D. M. (2017). Twenty-five years of mTOR: uncovering the link from nutrients to growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(45):11818–11825.
- Sanders, M. J., Wiltgen, B. J., & Fanselow, M. S. (2003). The place of the hippocampus in fear conditioning. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 463(1-3), 217–223.
- Sarbassov, D. D., Ali, S. M., Sengupta, S., Sheen, J. H., Hsu, P. P., Bagley, A. F., Markhard, A. L., & Sabatini, D. M. (2006). Prolonged rapamycin treatment inhibits mTORC2 assembly and Akt/PKB. *Molecular Cell*, 22(2):159–168.
- Saxe, M. D., Battaglia, F., Wang, J. W., Malleret, G., David, D. J., Monckton, J. E., ... & Hen, R. (2006). Ablation of hippocampal neurogenesis impairs contextual fear conditioning and synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(46), 17501–17506.
- Saxton RA, & Sabatini DM (2017) mTOR signaling in growth, metabolism, and disease. *Cell*, 169(2):361–371.
- Savriama, Y., Romestaing, C., Clair, A., Averty, L., Ulmann, J., Ledevin, R., & Renaud, S. (2022). Wild versus lab house mice: Effects of age, diet, and genetics on molar geometry and topography. *Journal of Anatomy*, 240(1), 66–83.

- Schöner, J., Heinz, A., Endres, M., Gertz, K., & Kronenberg, G. (2017). Post-traumatic stress disorder and beyond: an overview of rodent stress models. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 21(10), 2248–2256.
- Schottenbauer MA, Glass CR, Arnkoff DB, Tendick V, Gray SH. (2008). Nonresponse and dropout rates in outcome studies on PTSD: Review and methodological considerations. *Psychiatry*, 71(2):134–168.
- Schwendt, M., Shallcross, J., Hadad, N. A., Namba, M. D., Hiller, H., Wu, L., Krause, E. G., & Knackstedt, L. A. (2018). A novel rat model of comorbid PTSD and addiction reveals intersections between stress susceptibility and enhanced cocaine seeking with a role for mGlu5 receptors. *Translational Psychiatry*, 8(1), 209.
- Sengupta, S., Peterson, T. R., & Sabatini, D. M. (2010). Regulation of the mTOR complex 1 pathway by nutrients, growth factors, and stress. *Molecular Cell*, 40(2):310–322.
- Siegmund, A., & Wotjak, C. T. (2006). Toward an animal model of posttraumatic stress disorder. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1071, 324–334.
- Siegmund, A., & Wotjak, C. T. (2007). A mouse model of posttraumatic stress disorder that distinguishes between conditioned and sensitised fear. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 41(10), 848–860.

- Singewald, N., Schmuckermair, C., Whittle, N., Holmes, A., & Ressler, K. J. (2015). Pharmacology of cognitive enhancers for exposure-based therapy of fear, anxiety and trauma-related disorders. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 149, 150–190.
- Skolnick, P. & Paul, S.M. (1983). New concepts in the neurobiology of anxiety. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 44, 12–19.
- Slipczuk, L., Bekinschtein, P., Katche, C., Cammarota, M., Izquierdo, I., & Medina, J. H. (2009) BDNF activates mTOR to regulate GluR1 expression required for memory formation. *PLoS One*, 4(6):e6007.
- Smith, K. V., Burgess, N., Brewin, C. R., & King, J. A. (2015). Impaired allocentric spatial processing in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 119, 69–76.
- Smock, T.K. (1999). *Physiological Psychology: A Neuroscience Approach*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Song, Z., Chen, H., Xu, W., Wu, S., & Zhu, G. (2018). Basolateral amygdala calpain is required for extinction of contextual fear-memory. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 155, 180–188.

Sossin W. S. (2008). Molecular memory traces. Progress in Brain Research, 169:3–25.

Squire, L.R. (1987). Memory and Brain. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Squire, L. R., & Bayley, P. J. (2007). The neuroscience of remote memory. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 17(2), 185–196.
- Squire, L.R. & Kandel, E.R. (2008). *Memory: From Mind to Molecules* (2nd edn). London: Macmillan.
- Steckler, T., & Risbrough, V. (2012). Pharmacological treatment of PTSD established and new approaches. *Neuropharmacology*, 62(2), 617–627.
- Steenkamp, M. M., Litz, B. T., Hoge, C. W., & Marmar, C. R. (2015). Psychotherapy for military-related PTSD: A review of randomized clinical trials. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 314(5), 489–500.
- Stein, D. J., Ipser, J. C., & Seedat, S. (2006). Pharmacotherapy for post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2006(1), CD002795.
- Stoica, L., Zhu, P. J., Huang, W., Zhou, H., Kozma, S. C., & Costa-Mattioli, M. (2011).
  Selective pharmacogenetic inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin complex I (mTORC1) blocks long-term synaptic plasticity and memory storage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(9):3791–3796.

- Stojek, M. M., McSweeney, L. B., & Rauch, S. A. M. (2018). Neuroscience informed prolonged exposure practice: Increasing efficiency and efficacy through mechanisms. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12, 281.
- Sui, L., Wang, J., & Li, B. M. (2008). Role of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase-akt- mammalian target of the rapamycin signaling pathway in long-term potentiation and trace fear conditioning memory in rat medial pre- frontal cortex. *Learning & Memory*, 15(10):762– 776.
- Sullivan, G. M., & Neria, Y. (2009). Pharmacotherapy in post-traumatic stress disorder: evidence from randomized controlled trials. *Current Opinion in Investigational Drugs*, 10(1), 35–45.
- Sun, T., Liu, Z., Liu, M., Guo, Y., Sun, H., Zhao, J., Lan, Z., Lian, B., & Zhang, J. (2019).
   Hippocampus-specific rictor knockdown inhibited 17beta- estradiol induced neuronal plasticity and spatial memory improvement in ovariectomized mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 364:50–61.
- Supko, J. G., & Malspeis, L. (1994). Dose-dependent pharmacokinetics of rapamycin-28-N,Ndimethylglycinate in the mouse. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 33(4):325– 330.

- Surís, A., Smith, J., Powell, C., & North, C. S. (2013). Interfering with the reconsolidation of traumatic memory: sirolimus as a novel agent for treating veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry*, 25(1), 33–40.
- Suzuki, A., Josselyn, S. A., Frankland, P. W., Masushige, S., Silva, A. J., & Kida, S. (2004). Memory reconsolidation and extinction have distinct temporal and biochemical signatures. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(20), 4787–4795.

Sweatt, D.J. (2010). Mechanisms of Memory (2nd edn). Amsterdam: Academic Press.

- Teh, J. L. F., Cheng, P. F., Purwin, T. J., Nikbakht, N., Patel, P., Chervoneva, I., Ertel, A.,
  Fortina, P. M., Kleiber, I., HooKim, K., Davies, M. A., Kwong, L. N., Levesque, M. P.,
  Dummer, R., & Aplin, A. E. (2018). In vivo E2F reporting reveals efficacious schedules
  of MEK1/2-CDK4/6 targeting and mTOR-S6 resistance mechanisms. *Cancer Discovery*, 8(5):568–581.
- Thoreen, C. C., Kang, S. A., Chang, J. W., Liu, Q., Zhang, J., Gao, Y., Reichling, L. J., Sim, T., Sabatini, D. M., & Gray, N. S. (2009). An ATP-competitive mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor reveals rapamycin-resistant functions of mTORC1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(12):8023–8032.
- Timberlake, W. (1994). Behaviour systems, associationism, and Pavlovian conditioning. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 1(4), 405–420.

- Tishmeyer, W., Schicknick, H., Kraus, M., Seidenbecher, C. I., Staak, S., Scheich, H., & Gundelfinger, E. D. (2003). Rapamycin-sensitive signaling in long-term consolidation of auditory cortex-dependent memory. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 942–950.
- Török, B., Sipos, E., Pivac, N., & Zelena, D. (2019). Modelling posttraumatic stress disorders in animals. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 90, 117–133.
- Trifilieff, P., Herry, C., Vanhoutte, P., Caboche, J., Desmedt, A., Riedel, G., Mons, N., & Micheau, J. (2006). Foreground contextual fear memory consolidation requires two independent phases of hippocampal ERK/CREB activation. *Learning & Memory*, 13(3), 349–358.
- Tsai, L. H., & Gräff, J. (2014). On the resilience of remote traumatic memories against exposure therapy-mediated attenuation. *EMBO Reports*, 15(8), 853–861.
- Tulving, E. (2000). Memory: Introduction. In M. S. Gazzaniga (ed.), *The New Cognitive Neurosciences* (pp. 727–732). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Acute Stress Disorder: Clinician Summary. (2018). *Focus*, 16(4), 430–448.
- Van Ameringen, M., Mancini, C., Patterson, B., & Boyle, M. H. (2008). Post-traumatic stress disorder in Canada. CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics, 14(3), 171–181.

- VanElzakker, M. B., Dahlgren, M. K., Davis, F. C., Dubois, S., & Shin, L. M. (2014). From Pavlov to PTSD: the extinction of conditioned fear in rodents, humans, and anxiety disorders. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 113, 3–18.
- Verbitsky, A., Dopfel, D., & Zhang, N. (2020). Rodent models of post-traumatic stress disorder: behavioral assessment. *Translational Psychiatry*, 10(1), 132.
- Vogt, C. C., Zipple, M. N., Sprockett, D. D., Miller, C. H., Hardy, S. X., Arthur, M. K.,
  Greenstein, A. M., Colvin, M. S., Michel, L. M., Moeller, A. H., & Sheehan, M. J.
  (2024). Female behavior drives the formation of distinct social structures in C57BL/6J
  versus wild-derived outbred mice in field enclosures. *BMC Biology*, 22(1), 35.
- von Hertzen, L. S., & Giese, K. P. (2005). Memory reconsolidation engages only a subset of immediate-early genes induced during consolidation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(8), 1935–1942.
- Wang, P. S., Berglund, P., Olfson, M., Pincus, H. A., Wells, K. B., & Kessler, R. C. (2005).
  Failure and delay in initial treatment contact after first onset of mental disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62(6), 603–613.
- Wanisch, K., Wotjak, C. T., & Engelmann, M. (2008). Long-lasting second stage of recognition memory consolidation in mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 186(2):191–196.

- Watkins, L. E., Sprang, K. R., & Rothbaum, B. O. (2018). Treating PTSD: A Review of evidence-based psychotherapy interventions. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12, 258.
- Watts, B. V., Schnurr, P. P., Mayo, L., Young-Xu, Y., Weeks, W. B., & Friedman, M. J. (2013). Meta-analysis of the efficacy of treatments for posttraumatic stress disorder. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 74(6), e541–e550.
- Werfel, T. A., Wang, S., Jackson, M. A., Kavanaugh, T. E., Joly, M. M., Lee, L. H., Hicks, D. J., Sanchez, V., Ericsson, P. G., Kilchrist, K. V., Dimobi, S. C., Sarett, S. M., Brantley-Sieders, D. M., Cook, R. S., & Duvall, C. L. (2018). Selective mTORC2 inhibitor therapeutically blocks breast cancer cell growth and survival. *Cancer Research*, 78(7):1845–1858.
- Wessa, M., & Flor, H. (2007). Failure of extinction of fear responses in post-traumatic stress disorder: Evidence from second-order conditioning. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 164(11), 1684–1692.
- Widén, A., Clinchy, M., Felton, A. M., Hofmeester, T. R., Kuijper, D. P. J., Singh, N. J., Widemo, F., Zanette, L. Y., & Cromsigt, J. P. G. M. (2022). Playbacks of predator vocalizations reduce crop damage by ungulates. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 328, 107853.

- Yan, Y., Zhang, L., Zhu, T., Deng, S., Ma, B., Lv, H., Shan, X., Cheng, H., Jiang, K., Zhang, T., Meng, B., Mei, B., Li, W. G., & Li, F. (2021). Reconsolidation of a post-ingestive nutrient memory requires mTOR in the central amygdala. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 26(7), 2820–2836.
- Yang, C., Liu, J. F., Chai, B. S., Fang, Q., Chai, N., Zhao, L. Y., Xue, Y. X., Luo, Y. X., Jian, M., Han, Y., Shi, H. S., Lu, L., Wu, P., & Wang, J. S. (2013). Stress within a restricted time window selectively affects the persistence of long-term memory. *PloS One*, 8(3), e59075.
- Yang, H., Rudge, D. G., Koos, J. D., Vaidialingam, B., Yang, H. J., & Pavletich, N. P. (2013). mTOR kinase structure, mechanism and regulation by the rapamycin-binding domain. *Nature*, 497(7448), 217–223.
- Yang, M., Augustsson, H., Markham, C. M., Hubbard, D. T., Webster, D., Wall, P. M., ... & Blanchard, D. C. (2004). The rat exposure test: A model of mouse defensive behaviors. *Physiology & Behavior*, 81(3), 465–473.
- Yehuda, R. (2009). Status of glucocorticoid alterations in post-traumatic stress disorder. *Annals* of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1179(1), 56–69.
- Yehuda, R., & Antelman, S. M. (1993). Criteria for rationally evaluating animal models of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 33(7), 479–486.

- Yu, K., Toral-Barza, L., Shi, C., Zhang, W. G., Lucas, J., Shor, B., Kim, J., Verheijen, J., Curran, K., Malwitz, D. J., Cole, D. C., Ellingboe, J., Ayral-Kaloustian, S., Mansour, T. S., Gibbons, J. J., Abraham, R. T., Nowak, P., & Zask, A. (2009). Biochemical, cellular, and in vivo activity of novel ATP-competitive and selective inhibitors of the mammalian target of rapamycin. *Cancer Research*, 69(15):6232–6240.
- Zanette, L. Y. & Clinchy, M. (2020). Ecology and neurobiology of fear in free-living wildlife. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 51, 297–318.
- Zanette, L. Y., Hobbs, E. C., Witterick, L. E., MacDougall-Shackleton, S. A., & Clinchy, M. (2019). Predator-induced fear causes PTSD-like changes in the brains and behaviour of wild animals. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 11474.
- Zhang, F., Huang, S., Bu, H., Zhou, Y., Chen, L., Kang, Z., Chen, L., Yan, H., Yang, C., Yan, J., Jian, X., & Luo, Y. (2021). Disrupting Reconsolidation by Systemic Inhibition of mTOR Kinase via Rapamycin Reduces Cocaine-Seeking Behavior. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 12, 652865.
- Zhao, B., Sun, J., Zhang, X., Mo, H., Niu, Y., Li, Q., Wang, L., & Zhong, Y. (2019). Long-term memory is formed immediately without the need for protein synthesis-dependent consolidation in drosophila. *Nature Communications*, 10(1):4550.

- Zhong, H., Fazenbaker, C., Breen, S., Chen, C., Huang, J., Morehouse, C., Yao, Y., &
  Hollingsworth, R. E. (2014). MEDI-573, alone or in combination with mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitors, targets the insulin- like growth factor pathway in sarcomas. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 13(11): 2662–2673.
- Zhou, Y., Sun, L., Wang, Y., Wu, L., Sun, Z., Zhang, F., & Liu, W. (2020). Developments of prolonged exposure in treatment effect of post-traumatic stress disorder and controlling dropout rate: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 27(4), 449–462.

## Appendix

## **Springer Agreement (Chapter 2)**

SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jan 21, 2024

This Agreement between Mr. Phillip MacCallum ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number: 5703680498277

License Date: Jan 07, 2024

Licensed Content Publisher: Springer Nature

Licensed Content Publication: Psychopharmacology

Licensed Content Title: The mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin and the mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 impair the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory

Licensed Content Author: Phillip E. MacCallum et al.

Licensed Content Date: Jun 29, 2020

Type of Use: Thesis/Dissertation

Requestor Type: Non-commercial (non-profit)

Format: Print and electronic

Portion: Full article/chapter

Will you be translating? No

Circulation/distribution: 1-29

Author of this Spring Nature content: Yes

Title of new work: The mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin and the mTORC1/2 inhibitor AZD2014 impair the consolidation and persistence of contextual fear memory

Institution Name: Memorial University of Newfoundland

Expected Presentation Date: May 2024 Requestor Location: St. John's, NL, Canada

Total: 0.00 CAD

Terms and Conditions

## **Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH Terms and Conditions**

The following terms and conditions ("Terms and Conditions") together with the terms specified in your [RightsLink] constitute the License ("License") between you as Licensee and Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH as Licensor. By clicking 'accept' and completing the transaction for your use of the material ("Licensed Material"), you confirm your acceptance of and obligation to be bound by these Terms and Conditions.

## 1. Grant and Scope of License

1.1. The Licensor grants you a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable, non- sublicensable, revocable, world-wide License to reproduce, distribute, communicate to the public, make available, broadcast, electronically transmit or create derivative works using the Licensed Material for the purpose(s) specified in your RightsLink Licence Details only. Licenses are granted for the specific use requested in the order and for no other use, subject to these Terms and Conditions. You acknowledge and agree that the rights granted to you under this License do not include the right to modify, edit, translate, include in collective works, or create derivative works of the Licensed Material in whole or in part unless expressly stated in your RightsLink

Licence Details. You may use the Licensed Material only as permitted under this Agreement and will not reproduce, distribute, display, perform, or otherwise use or exploit any Licensed Material in any way, in whole or in part, except as expressly permitted by this License.

1.2. You may only use the Licensed Content in the manner and to the extent permitted by these Terms and Conditions, by your RightsLink Licence Details and by any applicable laws.

1.3. A separate license may be required for any additional use of the

Licensed Material, e.g., where a license has been purchased for print use only, separate permission must be obtained for electronic re-use. Similarly, a License is only valid in the language selected and does not apply for editions in other languages unless additional translation rights have been granted separately in the License.

1.4. Any content within the Licensed Material that is owned by third parties is expressly excluded from the License.

1.5. Rights for additional reuses such as custom editions, computer/mobile applications, film or TV reuses and/or any other derivative rights requests require additional permission and may be subject to an additional fee. Please apply to journalpermissions@springernature.com or bookpermissions@springernature.com for these rights.

## 2. Reservation of Rights

Licensor reserves all rights not expressly granted to you under this License. You acknowledge and agree that nothing in this License limits or restricts Licensor's rights in or use of the Licensed Material in any way. Neither this License, nor any act, omission, or statement by Licensor or you, conveys any ownership right to you in any Licensed Material, or to any element or portion thereof. As between Licensor and you, Licensor owns and retains all right, title, and interest in and to the Licensed Material subject to the license granted in Section 1.1. Your permission to use the Licensed Material is expressly conditioned on you not impairing Licensor's or the applicable copyright owner's rights in the Licensed Material in any way.

### 3. Restrictions on Use

3.1. Minor editing privileges are allowed for adaptations for stylistic purposes or formatting purposes provided such alterations do not alter the original meaning or intention of the Licensed Material and the new figure(s) are still accurate and representative of the Licensed Material. Any other changes including but not limited to, cropping, adapting, and/or omitting material that affect the meaning, intention or moral rights of the author(s) are strictly prohibited.

3. 2. You must not use any Licensed Material as part of any design or trademark.

3.3. Licensed Material may be used in Open Access Publications (OAP), but any such reuse must include a clear acknowledgment of this permission visible at the same time as the figures/tables/illustration or abstract and which must indicate that the Licensed Material is not part of the governing OA license but has been reproduced with permission. This may be indicated according to any standard referencing system but must

include at a minimum 'Book/Journal title, Author, Journal Name (if applicable), Volume (if applicable), Publisher, Year, reproduced

# 4. STM Permission Guidelines

4.1. An alternative scope of license may apply to signatories of the STM Permissions Guidelines ("STM PG") as amended from time to time and made available at https://www.stm-assoc.org/intellectual- property/permissions/permissions-guidelines/.

4.2. For content reuse requests that qualify for permission under the STM PG, and which may be updated from time to time, the STM PG supersede the terms and conditions contained in this License.

4.3. If a License has been granted under the STM PG, but the STM PG no longer apply at the time of publication, further permission must be sought from the Rightsholder. Contact journalpermissions@springernature.com or bookpermissions@springernature.com for these rights.

# 5. Duration of License

5.1. Unless otherwise indicated on your License, a License is valid from the date of purchase ("License Date") until the end of the relevant period in the below table:

Reuse in a medical	Reuse up to distribution or time period indicated
communications project	in License
Reuse in a dissertation/thesis	Lifetime of thesis
Reuse in a journal/magazine	Lifetime of journal/magazine
Reuse in a book/textbook	Lifetime of edition
Reuse on a website	1 year unless otherwise specified in the License
Reuse in a presentation/slide kit/poster	Lifetime of presentation/slide kit/poster. Note: publication whether electronic or in print of presentation/slide kit/poster may require further permission.
Reuse in conference proceedings	Lifetime of conference proceedings
Reuse in an annual report	Lifetime of annual report
Reuse in training/CME materials	Reuse up to distribution or time period indicated in License
Reuse in newsmedia	Lifetime of newsmedia

Reuse in	Reuse up to distribution and/or time period
coursepack/classro	om indicated in license
materials	

## 6. Acknowledgement

6.1. The Licensor's permission must be acknowledged next to the Licensed Material in print. In electronic form, this acknowledgement must be visible at the same time as the figures/tables/illustrations or abstract and must be hyperlinked to the journal/book's homepage.

6.2. Acknowledgement may be provided according to any standard referencing system and at a minimum should include "Author, Article/Book Title, Journal name/Book imprint, volume, page number, year, Springer Nature".

## 7. Reuse in a dissertation or thesis

7.1. Where 'reuse in a dissertation/thesis' has been selected, the following terms apply: Print rights of the Version of Record are provided for; electronic rights for use only on institutional repository as defined by the Sherpa guideline (www.sherpa.ac.uk/romeo/) and only up to what is required by the awarding institution.

7.2. For theses published under an ISBN or ISSN, separate permission is required. Please contact journalpermissions@springernature.com or bookpermissions@springernature.com for these rights.

7.3. Authors must properly cite the published manuscript in their thesis according to current citation standards and include the following acknowledgement: 'Reproduced with permission from Springer Nature'.

### 8. License Fee

You must pay the fee set forth in the License Agreement (the "License Fees"). All amounts payable by you under this License are exclusive of any sales, use, withholding, value added or similar taxes, government fees or levies or other assessments. Collection and/or remittance of such taxes to the relevant tax authority shall be the responsibility of the party who has the legal obligation to do so.

### 9. Warranty

9.1. The Licensor warrants that it has, to the best of its knowledge, the rights to license reuse of the Licensed Material. You are solely responsible for

ensuring that the material you wish to license is original to the Licensor and does not carry the copyright of another entity or third party (as credited in the published version). If the credit line on any part of the Licensed Material indicates that it was reprinted or adapted with permission from another source, then you should seek additional permission from that source to reuse the material.

9.2. EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS WARRANTY STATED HEREIN AND TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, LICENSOR PROVIDES THE LICENSED MATERIAL "AS IS" AND MAKES NO OTHER REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY. LICENSOR EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY LIABILITY FOR ANY CLAIM ARISING FROM OR OUT OF THE CONTENT, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY ERRORS, INACCURACIES, OMISSIONS, OR DEFECTS CONTAINED THEREIN, AND ANY IMPLIED OR EXPRESS WARRANTY AS TO MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. IN NO EVENT SHALL LICENSOR BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, PUNITIVE, OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE LICENSED MATERIAL **REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH** OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE

(INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION APPLIES NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN

#### 10. Termination and Cancellation

10.1. The License and all rights granted hereunder will continue until the end of the applicable period shown in Clause 5.1 above. Thereafter, this license will be terminated and all rights granted hereunder will cease.

10.2. Licensor reserves the right to terminate the License in the event that payment is not received in full or if you breach the terms of this License.

# 11. General

11.1. The License and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be construed, interpreted and determined in accordance with the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany without reference to the stipulations of the CISG (United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods) or to Germany's choice-of-law principle.

11.2. The parties acknowledge and agree that any controversies and disputes arising out of this License shall be decided exclusively by the courts of or having jurisdiction for Heidelberg, Germany, as far as legally permissible.

11.3. This License is solely for Licensor's and Licensee's benefit. It is not for the benefit of any other person or entity.

Questions? For questions on Copyright Clearance Center accounts or website issues please

contact springernaturesupport@copyright.com or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-

978-646-2777. For questions on Springer Nature licensing please visit

https://www.springernature.com/gp/partners/rights-permissions-third-party-distribution

## **Taylor & Francis Group Agreement (Chapter 3)**

Phillip MacCallum Memorial University of Newfoundland

22 January 2024 Description: Dissertation or Thesis Permission

Thank you for your request for permission to reproduce Taylor & Francis book content. I am pleased to confirm that permission is granted subject to the terms and conditions outlined below:

Title: 9780815375722 | Handbook of Posttraumatic Stress | Edn. 1 | Hardback | Origin US

Material requested: Chapter 14 pp.373-402

**Territory:World** 

**Rights: Anthology & Quotation** 

Language:English Format:Online

Academic Institution: Memorial University of Newfoundland

Name of Course of Study: Psychology

Title of Dissertation or Thesis: Unknown

### **Terms & Conditions**

- 1. Permission is non-transferable and granted on a one-time, non-exclusive basis.
- 2. Permission is for non-exclusive, English language rights, and covers academic, non-commercial use in printed or electronic format only. Any further use (including, but not limited to any publication, storage, distribution, transmission or reproduction) that is not directly related to the fulfilment of the specific academic requirements that are the subject of this request shall require a separate application for permission.
- 3. Permission extends only to material owned or controlled by Taylor & Francis. Please check the credits in our title for material in which the copyright is not owned or controlled by us. If another source is acknowledged then you must apply to the owner of the copyright for permission to use this material.

4. Each copy containing our material must bear the following credit line, including full details of the figure/page numbers where relevant, the title, edition, author(s) or editor(s), year of publication and imprint (e.g., Routledge, Psychology Press or CRC Press):

From: Title, Edition by Author(s)/Editor(s), Copyright (insert © Year) by Imprint. Reproduced by permission of Taylor & Francis Group

5. Except as permitted in law, Taylor & Francis Group reserves all rights not specifically granted under this permission.

If you require further clarification please do not hesitate to contact us.

Best regards, T&F Book Permissions Taylor & Francis Group

e-mail: bookpermissions@tandf.co.uk

## **Elsevier Agreement (Chapter 4)**

#### **Elsevier Publishing Agreement**

Jan 5, 2024

Evaluating the effects of single, multiple, and delayed systemic rapamycin injections to contextual fear reconsolidation: Implications for the neurobiology of memory and the treatment of PTSD-like re- experiencing

Corresponding author: Dr Jacqueline Blundell E-mail address: jblundell@mun.ca Journal: Behavioural Brain Research Article number: 114855 Our reference: BBR\_114855 PII: S0166-4328(24)00011-1

#### **Your Status**

- I am one author signing on behalf of all co-authors of the manuscript
- I am signing on behalf of the corresponding author.
- Name/Job title/Company: Phillip MacCallum, Grant Facilitation Assistant, Memorial University of Newfoundland
- E-mail address: pmaccallum@mun.ca

### **License of Publishing Rights**

I hereby grant to Elsevier B.V. an exclusive publishing and distribution license in the manuscript identified above and any tables, illustrations or other material submitted for publication as part of the manuscript (the "Article") in print, electronic and all other media (whether now known or later developed), in any form, in all languages, throughout the world, for the full term of copyright, and the right to license others to do the same, effective when the Article is accepted for publication. This license includes the right to enforce the rights granted hereunder against third parties.

#### **Supplemental Materials**

"Supplemental Materials" shall mean materials published as a supplemental part of the Article, including but not limited to graphical, illustrative, video and audio material.

With respect to any Supplemental Materials that I submit, Elsevier B.V. shall have a perpetual worldwide non-exclusive right and license to publish, extract, reformat, adapt, build upon, index, redistribute, link to and otherwise use all or any part of the Supplemental Materials, in all forms and media (whether now known or later developed) and permit others to do so. The publisher shall apply the same end user license to the Supplemental Materials as to the Article where it publishes the Supplemental Materials with the Article in the journal on its online platforms on an Open Access basis.

## **Research Data**

"Research Data" shall mean the result of observations or experimentation that validate research findings and that are published separate to the Article, which can include but are not limited to raw data, processed data, software, algorithms, protocols, and methods.

With respect to any Research Data that I wish to make accessible on a site or through a service of Elsevier B.V., Elsevier B.V. shall have a perpetual worldwide, non-exclusive right and license to publish, extract, reformat, adapt, build upon, index, redistribute, link to and otherwise use all or any part of the Research Data in all forms and media (whether now known or later developed), and to permit others to do so. Where I have selected a specific end user license under which the Research Data is to be made available on a site or through a service, the publisher shall apply that end user license to the Research Data on that site or service.

## **Scholarly Communication Rights**

I understand that I retain the copyright in the Article and that no rights in patents, trademarks or other intellectual property rights are transferred to Elsevier B.V.. As the author of the Article, I understand that I shall have: (i) the same rights to reuse the Article as those allowed to third party users of the Article under the CC BY-NC License, as well as (ii) the right to use the Article in a subsequent compilation of my works or to extend the Article to book length form, to include the Article in a thesis or dissertation, or otherwise to use or re-use portions or excerpts in other works, for both commercial and non-commercial purposes. Except for such uses, I understand that the license of publishing rights I have granted to Elsevier B.V. gives Elsevier B.V. the exclusive right to make or sub-license commercial use.

## **User Rights**

The publisher will apply the Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial Works 4.0 International License (CC-BY-NC) to the Article where it publishes the Article in the journal on its online platforms on an Open Access basis. For further information on open access, see http://www.elsevier.com/about/open-access/open-access-options.

The CC-BY-NC license allows users to copy and distribute the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes and provided the user

gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <a href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0">http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0</a>.

#### **Reservation of Rights**

Articles may sometimes be accepted for publication but later rejected in the publication process, even in some cases after public posting in "Articles in Press" form, in which case all rights will revert to the author. See https://www.elsevier.com/about/our- business/policies/article-withdrawal.

#### **Revisions and Addenda**

I understand that no revisions, additional terms or addenda to this License Agreement can be accepted without Elsevier B.V.'s express written consent. I understand that this License Agreement supersedes any previous agreements I have entered into with Elsevier B.V. in relation to the Article from the date hereof.

### **Copyright Notice**

The publisher shall publish and distribute the Article with the appropriate copyright notice.

#### Author Representations/Ethics and Disclosure/Sanctions

I affirm the Author Representations noted below, and confirm that I have reviewed and complied with the relevant Instructions to Authors, Ethics in Publishing policy, Declarations of Interest disclosure and information for authors from countries affected by sanctions. Please note that some journals may require that all co-authors sign and submit Declarations of Interest disclosure forms. I am also aware of the publisher's policies with respect to retractions and withdrawal (https://www.elsevier.com/about/ourbusiness/policies/article-withdrawal).

For further information see the publishing ethics page at https://www.elsevier.com/about/our-business/policies/publishing-ethics and the journal home page. For further information on sanctions, see https://www.elsevier.com/about/our-business/policies/trade- sanctions

#### Author representations

- The Article I have submitted to the journal for review is original, has been written by the stated authors and has not been previously published.
- The Article was not submitted for review to another journal while under

review by this journal and will not be submitted to any other journal.

• The Article and the Supplemental Materials do not infringe any copyright, violate any other intellectual property, privacy or other rights of any person or entity, or contain any libellous or other unlawful matter.

• I have obtained written permission from copyright owners for any excerpts from copyrighted works that are included and have credited the sources in the Article or the Supplemental Materials.

• Except as expressly set out in this License Agreement, the Article is not subject to any prior rights or licenses.

• If I and/or any of my co-authors reside in Russia, Belarus, Iran, Cuba, or Syria, the Article has been prepared in a personal, academic or research capacity and not as an official representative or otherwise on behalf of the relevant government or institution.

• If I am using any personal details or images of patients, research subjects or other individuals, I have obtained all consents required by applicable law and complied with the publisher's policies relating to the use of such images or personal information. See https://www.elsevier.com/about/our-business/policies/patient-consent for further information.

• Any software contained in the Supplemental Materials is free from viruses, contaminants or worms.

• If the Article or any of the Supplemental Materials were prepared jointly with other authors, I have informed the co- author(s) of the terms of this License Agreement and that I am signing on their behalf as their agent, and I am authorized to do so.

### **Governing Law and Jurisdiction**

This License Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the country or state of Elsevier B.V. ("the Governing State"), without regard to conflict of law principles, and the parties irrevocably consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Governing State.

For information on the publisher's copyright and access policies, please see http://www.elsevier.com/copyright.